
 

 

 

If you would like help to understand this document please call Pat Jones, Principal scrutiny Officer in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

 
Agenda 

 
 
 
 
 

Housing Panel 
(Panel of the Scrutiny Committee) 
 
 
 

Date: Tuesday 3 September 2013 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Place: St Aldate's Room, Town Hall 

 
For any further information please contact:  

Pat Jones, Principal Scrutiny Officer 

Telephone:  01865 252191 

Email: phjones@oxford.gov.uk 

 
 
 



 

 

HOW TO OBTAIN AGENDA 

 

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no 
longer produce paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum internal and 
Council member requirement. Paper copies may be looked at the Town Hall 
Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library 

 

A copy of the agenda may be:- 

- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Downloaded from our website 

- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk 

- Sent to you in hard copy form upon payment of an annual subscription. 

 

 

 
 

Housing Panel (Panel of the Scrutiny Committee) 
 
Membership 
 
 
Chair Councillor Val Smith  
 
 Councillor Gill Sanders  

 Linda Hill Co-optee 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART ONE 
PUBLIC BUSINESS 

 
 
  Pages 

1 PANEL SCOPE AND WORK PROGRAMME 

 

1 - 4 

 Officer: Pat Jones, Principal Scrutiny Officer 
Tele: 01865252191 
Email: phjones@oxford.gov.uk 
  

 
This item outlines the scope set for the Panel by the Scrutiny Committee and 
presents the outline work programme for discussion and agreement.     

 

 

2 PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 

5 - 6 

 Officer: Pat Jones, Principal Scrutiny Officer 
Tele: 01865252191 
Email: phjones@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
The Scrutiny Committee agreed a small panel of members to review all 
currently reported performance measures and decide 2 sets for reporting to 
the Scrutiny Committee and the Housing Standing Panel.  The direction given 
to the panel of members was to choose measures for consideration that 
linked to Scrutiny’s lines of inquiry and areas of interest. 
 
The set reported here are those selected for the Housing Panel and cover the 
3 areas selected as priorities for Panel consideration: 
 

• Welfare Reform and the Housing Crisis. 

• Housing Supply. 

• Estate Regeneration. 
 
Performance is reported at the 1st. Quarter and the Panel is asked to: 
 

• Review the set for completeness  

• Make any comments on performance to the City Executive Board on 
the 11th. September via the Scrutiny Committee on the 5th. 
September.   

 

 

3 ALLOCATION SCHEME REVIEW 

 

7 - 120 

 Officer: Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Tele: 01865 252626 
Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 

 



 

The Panel have asked to pre-scrutinise this proposed decision.   
 
The Board Member will attend. 
 
This report presents the results of the review of the Allocations Scheme and 
proposals for a new Allocations Scheme. 
 
This scheme will be considered by the City Executive Board (CEB) on the 
11th. September and agreed at Council on the 30th. September.  Any 
recommendations from the Panel will go to CEB and Council via the Scrutiny 
Committee on the 5th. September.     
 
In response to the Panel’s line of inquiry a briefing note is included in the next 
agenda item outlining how the Council communicates, gives advice and takes 
feedback on allocation polices and practices.    

 

4 ALLOCATIONS POLICIES - HOW THE COUNCIL COMMUNICATES 

 

121 - 124 

 Officer: Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Tele: 01865 252626 
Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
The Scrutiny Committee has asked the Housing Panel to consider how 
Housing Services communicates, gives advice and takes feedback on its 
schemes and policies for allocating housing. 
 
The briefing note attached provides information to start that debate.  The 
Panel is asked to consider this information and the proposals for changes to 
the Allocations Scheme and decide how it wishes to pursue this issue further.      

 

 

5 LONG TERM AFFORDABLE HOUSING FOR HOMELESSNESS 

PREVENTION 

 

125 - 146 

 Officer: Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Tele: 01865 252626 
Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
The Panel have asked to pre-scrutinise this proposed decision.   
 
The Board Member will attend. 
 
This report outlines proposals for arrangements to procure properties for use 
in preventing homelessness.  The City Executive Board will consider this on 
the 11th. September and any recommendations from the Panel will go to that 
meeting via the Scrutiny Committee on the 5th. September.     

 

 

6 REVIEW OF THE HOUSING STRATEGY ACTION PLAN - 2012-2016 

 

147 - 172 

 Officer: Dave Scholes, Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Tele: 01865 252626 

 



 

Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 

 
The Panel have asked to pre-scrutinise this proposed decision.   
 
The Board Member will attend. 
 
The Council agreed a Housing Strategy for the period 2012 to 2016.  The 
Strategy includes a yearly review of the Action Plan that supports delivery of 
its objectives.  This report outlines that review for the coming year and will be 
considered by the City Executive Board on the 11th. September.  Any 
recommendations from the Panel will go to that meeting via the Scrutiny 
Committee on the 5th. September.  
 
The Panel should note that a refresh of the Housing Strategy overall is 
underway and it is planned to report outcomes to the City Executive Board in 
December and then on to Council in February 2014 for agreement.     

 

 

 



 

DECLARING INTERESTS 
 
General duty 
 
You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you. 
 
What is a disclosable pecuniary interest? 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licences for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website. 
 
Declaring an interest 
 
Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest. 
 
If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed. 
 
Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception 
 
Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
mater of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public. 
 
*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but also those of 
the member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 



 

 
 

                                                                                
 
To: Housing Standing Panel    
 
Date: 3rd. September 2013                 

 
Report of: Head of Law and Governance  
 
Title of Report: Panel Scope and Work Programme    
 

Summary and Recommendations 
 
Purpose of report: To confirm the Panel scope and discuss and agree the 
outline work programme. 
          
Scrutiny Lead Member: Councillor Smith   
  
The Panel is asked to: 
 

1. Confirm Councillor McCready’s membership of the Housing Standing 
Panel. 

2. To note the operating principles highlighted. 
3. To confirm the scope for the Panel set by the Scrutiny Committee.  
4. To agree the firm and provisional meeting dates. 
5. To explore now or at some other agreed time the 2 issues for debate 

yet to be scoped.  
 

 
 
Introduction 
 

1. At the July meeting of the Scrutiny Committee it was agreed to set a 
Housing Standing Panel.  The Lead Member and Chair of the Panel 
was agreed as Councillor Val Smith and she is to be joined by 
Councillor Gill Sanders.  In addition Councillor Sam Hollick had asked 
to join a Housing Panel should it be set and his membership was 
confirmed.   

 
2. Subsequently Councillor Stuart McCready has asked to join the Panel.  

Stuart has been a member of the Panel in previous years and would 
balance the membership in line with the “operating principles” agreed 
by the Scrutiny Committee.  The Panel is asked to confirm Councillor 
McCready’s membership. 

 
3. In July 2012 the Housing Panel appointed a tenant to be co-opted onto 

the Panel and sit as a non voting member to the end of April 2014.  
The tenant is Linda Hill and she joins the Panel for this year.   

 

Agenda Item 1

1



 
4. The following operating principles are of particular note for the Panel: 

 

• The Panel is set for the municipal year 2013/2014 only.  Further 
consideration will be a matter for the Scrutiny Committee set at the 
beginning of the next Municipal Year. 

• No substitutions are allowed. 

• No quorum number is set but the Chair is advised not to proceed 
unless at least half (2) of the City Council members are present. 

• Any change to the scope of the Panel is a matter for the Scrutiny 
Committee after representation from the Lead Member. 

• The Lead Member will always be a member of the Scrutiny 
Committee and will act as Chair. 

• No Vice Chair will be appointed.  Should the Lead Member not be 
present a Chair will be appointed by the Panel from those City 
Council members present.    

• All Standing Panel meetings will be held in public. 

• The Panel has the power to make its own recommendations to 
officers and decision makers providing that either they are seen first 
at a Scrutiny Committee meeting should one be available that fits 
within the reporting timeframe or if not they are circulated to all 
members of the Scrutiny Committee.      

 
Scope and Work Programme 
 

5. The Scrutiny Committee requires the Housing Standing Panel to 
consider all “Strategic Housing and Landlord issues” that appear in the 
programme.   

 
This currently includes: 

 

• Items called from the Forward Plan for pre decision scrutiny that 
relate to the scope of the Panel. 

• Allocation policies and how we communicate these, give advice and 
take feedback. 

• Decent Homes Standard – where we go next in investing in our 
stock. 

• Regeneration on estates – what are our ambitions and how do we 
deliver and engage communities.   

• To monitor a selected set of performance measures related to the 
following priorities: 

 
� Welfare reform and the housing crisis. 
� Housing supply.  
� Estate regeneration. 

 
6. In addition there is an ongoing review being run by Linda Hill and 

supported by Pat Jones looking at the Mutual Exchange Process.  This 
is expected to report in November.   

2



 
7. A number of meetings have been provided some of which are 

provisional to fit within the City Executive Board cycle.  This will give 
opportunities for any pre decision scrutiny that is required by the 
Scrutiny Committee or the Panel.  Below are the meeting dates and the 
items scheduled.  The Panel is asked to confirm these. 

 

Dates Agenda Items 

3rd. 
September 
6.00pm. 

1. Housing Strategy Action Plan. 
 

2. Long term affordable housing for homelessness 
prevention. 

   
3. Allocations review and changes to the Allocations 

Policy. 
 

4. Performance monitoring – Housing Measures – Qtr. 1. 
 

5. Allocation Policies and how we communicate, give 
advice and take account of feedback. 

 
6. Panel work programme. 

 

3rd. October 
6.00pm.  

Provisional 

4th.  
November at 
6.00pm. 

1. Performance monitoring – Housing Measures- Qtr. 2.  
 

2. Decent Homes standard – where next for investment in 
our stock.  

 
3. Outcome from review of the Mutual Exchange process. 

 
   

5th. December 
at 6.00pm. 
 

1. Housing Strategy refresh. 
 

15th. January 
2014 at 
6.00pm. 

Provisional 

7th. February 
at 6.00pm.  

1. Performance monitoring – Housing Measures – Qtr. 3. 
 

2. Regeneration on our estates – what are our ambitions 
and how do we deliver and engage communities. 

 

6th. March at 
6.00pm. 

Provisional 

3rd. April at 
6.00pm. 

Provisional 

 

3



8. Two of the issues appear in outline and the Panel is asked to explore in 
more detail these lines of inquiry.  They are: 

 

• Decent Homes Standard – where next for investment in our stock. 

• Regeneration on our estates – what are our ambitions and how do we 
deliver and engage communities.  

 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
Pat Jones, Principal Scrutiny Officer  
Law and Governance 
Tele: 01865 252191 
Email: phjones@oxford.gov.uk 
 

List of background papers: Scrutiny work programme 2013/2014 
Version number: 1 

4



mÉêÑçêã~åÅÉ pìãã~êó
dêÉÉå Z í~êÖÉí ãÉí eçìëáåÖ m~åÉä qêÉåÇë Åçãé~êÉ êÉä~íáîÉ éÉêÑçêã~åÅÉ ïáíÜ

^ãÄÉê Z ïáíÜáå íçäÉê~åÅÉ mêÇW éêÉîáçìë ãçåíÜ
oÉÇ Z çìíëáÇÉ íçäÉê~åÅÉ mêÉî vÉ~ê båÇW éêÉîáçìë j~êÅÜ

gìåJOMNP vÉ~ê çå vÉ~êW íÜÉ ë~ãÉ éÉêáçÇ Ñêçã íÜÉ éêÉîáçìë óÉ~ê

`çêé\ jÉ~ëìêÉ

oÉÑ aÉëÅêáéíáçå

lïåÉê oÉëìäí
OMNOLNP

i~íÉëí a~í~

q~êÖÉí oÉëìäí

vÉ~ê båÇ
q~êÖÉí
OMNPLNQ

qêÉåÇë

mêÇ mêÉî
vÉ~ê
båÇ

vÉ~ê çå
vÉ~ê

`çããÉåíë

eçìëáåÖ m~åÉä

e`MNQ e`MNQW kìãÄÉê çÑ åÉï
oçìÖÜ päÉÉéÉêë ëéÉåÇáåÖ ~
ëÉÅçåÇ åáÖÜí çå íÜÉ ëíêÉÉíë
Eëå~éëÜçí ÅçìåíF

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M
kìãÄÉê

Q
kìãÄÉê

M
kìãÄÉê

M M kç Åçìåí áå gìåÉK cáÖìêÉ áë
Ñçê j~ó ÅçìåíK

e`MNR e`MNRW `~éáí~ä áåîÉëíãÉåí
áå `çìåÅáä ÜçìëáåÖ

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

>NITMQ
IVOQ

>NIRTT
IROP

>NVIMRQ
IMMM

M M M jçêÉ ïçêâ çå ÑìíìêÉ éêçÑáäÉë
åÉÉÇÉÇ J ïáää ÄÉ ëÜçïå áå
gìäó êÉëìäíëK

e`MNS e`MNSW kìãÄÉê çÑ
~ÑÑçêÇ~ÄäÉ ÜçãÉë Ñçê êÉåí
ÇÉäáîÉêÉÇ

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M
kìãÄÉê

M
kìãÄÉê

Q
kìãÄÉê

M M

e`MNT e`MNTW qÉå~åí ë~íáëÑ~Åíáçå
ïáíÜ íÜÉáê Éëí~íÉë

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M B MB TR B M M qÜáë áë ~ åÉï ãÉ~ëìêÉ íÜ~í
Ü~ë åç ÉñáëíáåÖ Ç~í~K qÜÉ
pq^o ëìêîÉó êÉëìäíë ïáää ÄÉ
~î~áä~ÄäÉ ä~íÉê áå íÜÉ óÉ~êK

kfNRS kf NRSW qÜÉ åìãÄÉê çÑ
ÜçìëÉÜçäÇë áå lñÑçêÇ áå
íÉãéçê~êó ~ÅÅçããçÇ~íáçå

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

NOM
kìãÄÉê

NOM
kìãÄÉê

NOP
kìãÄÉê

NOM
kìãÄÉê

päáÖÜíäó çîÉê í~êÖÉíK
páÖåáÑáÅ~åí ÉñíÉêå~ä
ÅÜ~ääÉåÖÉëI Äìí éÉêÑçêã~åÅÉ
~Åêçëë ÜçãÉäÉëë éêÉîÉåíáçå
~åÇ ÜçìëáåÖ åÉÉÇë
ÑìåÅíáçåë êÉã~áåë ÖççÇK

m`MNU m`MNUW p~íáëÑ~Åíáçå ïáíÜ çìê
åÉáÖÜÄçìêÜççÇë

e~ãÉê~
mäìãÉ

UPKUB UTKMB UPKUB UVKMB p~íáëÑ~Åíáçå ïáíÜ çìê
åÉáÖÜÄçìêÜççÇë ~ë
ãÉ~ëìêÉÇ Äó íÜÉ táåíÉê
OMNO q~äâÄ~Åâ pìêîÉóI ï~ë
UPKUB Åçãé~êÉÇ íç ~ í~êÖÉí
çÑ UTBK tçêâ áë ìåÇÉêï~ó
íç ìåÇÉêëí~åÇ íÜÉ êÉ~ëçåë
Ñçê íÜÉëÉ êÉëìäíë ~åÇ ~
êÉéçêí ïáää ÄÉ ~î~áä~ÄäÉ
ëÜçêíäóK

`^MMN `^MMNW aÉäáîÉêáåÖ ~
éêçÖê~ããÉ çÑ åÉï ÜçãÉë
~í _~êíçå

g~åÉ
táåÑáÉäÇ

P
jáäÉëíçåÉ

P
jáäÉëíçåÉ

P
jáäÉëíçåÉ

P
jáäÉëíçåÉ

lå í~êÖÉíK

ckMOQ ckMOQW kìãÄÉê çÑ êÉíìêåÉÇ
pçÅá~ä eçìëáåÖ ÇïÉääáåÖë
íÜêçìÖÜ Åêáãáå~ä
éêçÅÉÉÇáåÖë

`~êçä
nì~áåíçå

M
kìãÄÉê

N
kìãÄÉê

M
kìãÄÉê

Q
kìãÄÉê

t~áíáåÖ Ñçê íÜÉ Ñáêëí ëìáí~ÄäÉ
Å~ëÉ Ñçê Åêáãáå~ä
éêçëÉÅìíáçåK

e`MMN e`MMNW qÜÉ B çÑ `çìåÅáä
íÉå~åíë ë~íáëÑáÉÇ ïáíÜ
ä~åÇäçêÇ ëÉêîáÅÉë

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

UTKMMB MKMMB MKMMB UQKMMB jÉ~ëìêÉÇ Äó ~ååì~ä ëìêîÉóK
oÉëìäíë ïáää ÄÉ ~î~áä~ÄäÉ
ä~íÉê áå íÜÉ óÉ~êK

e`MOM e`MOMW mÉêÅÉåí~ÖÉ çÑ
éêçéÉêíáÉë Ñ~áäáåÖ íç ãÉÉí
aÉÅÉåí eçãÉë ëí~åÇ~êÇ

g~ãÉë
`~êÇÉå

kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M B OB M B M M `~äÅìä~íÉÇ Ñêçã ÜáëíçêáÅ Ç~í~
ëÉí éÉåÇáåÖ êÉîáÉï Ñêçã
ìéÇ~íÉë Ñêçã ÄçíÜ ÇáêÉÅí
ëÉêîáÅÉë ~åÇ ëíçÅâ ÅçåÇáíáçå
ëìêîÉó éêçàÉÅí OMNPK

e`MOO e`MOOW mÉêÅÉåí~ÖÉ çÑ
íÉå~åíë ë~íáëÑáÉÇ íÜ~í l``
äáëíÉåë íç íÜÉáê îáÉïë ~åÇ
~Åíë çå íÜÉã

_áää dê~îÉë kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M B MB SP B M M jÉ~ëìêÉÇ Äó ~ååì~ä ëìêîÉóK
oÉëìäíë ïáää ÄÉ ~î~áä~ÄäÉ
ä~íÉê áå íÜÉ óÉ~êK

e`MOQ e`MOQW mÉêÅÉåí~ÖÉ çÑ
íÉå~åíë ë~íáëÑáÉÇ ïáíÜ Éëí~íÉ
ëÉêîáÅÉë

_áää dê~îÉë kçí
oÉÅçêÇÉÇ

M B MB TT B M M jÉ~ëìêÉÇ Äó ~ååì~ä ëìêîÉóK
oÉëìäíë ïáää ÄÉ ~î~áä~ÄäÉ
ä~íÉê áå íÜÉ óÉ~êK

imMNP imMNPW fåÅêÉ~ëÉ ë~íáëÑ~Åíáçå
ïáíÜ é~êâë

f~å _êççâÉ VNKMB VMKMB UNKMB VMKMB oÉëìäíë çÑ íÜÉ ïáåíÉê OMNO
í~äâÄ~Åâ ëÜçï íÜ~í
ë~íáëÑ~Åíáçå ïáíÜ é~êâë Ü~ë
ÇÉÅêÉ~ëÉÇ íç UNBK tÜáäëí
íÜáë áë ëíáää ÜáÖÜI ïÉ ~êÉ Ä~Åâ
íç OMMVLNM ÑáÖìêÉëK qÜÉ éççê
ëìããÉê ïÉ~íÜÉê ÅçìäÇ ÄÉ ~
Ñ~Åíçê Ñçê íÜÉ äçïÉê ëÅçêÉK

_sMSS~ _sMSS~W mÉêÅÉåí~ÖÉ êÉåí
ÅçääÉÅíÉÇ

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

VSKUPB VMKRNB VRKPQB VTKRMB

`^MOT `^MOTW mÉêÅÉåí~ÖÉ çÑ
íÉå~åíë ë~íáëÑáÉÇ ïáíÜ
ÜçìëáåÖ éêçàÉÅíë

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

PB M B MB TR B

N

Agenda Item 2

5



mÉêÑçêã~åÅÉ pìãã~êó
dêÉÉå Z í~êÖÉí ãÉí eçìëáåÖ m~åÉä qêÉåÇë Åçãé~êÉ êÉä~íáîÉ éÉêÑçêã~åÅÉ ïáíÜ

^ãÄÉê Z ïáíÜáå íçäÉê~åÅÉ mêÇW éêÉîáçìë ãçåíÜ
oÉÇ Z çìíëáÇÉ íçäÉê~åÅÉ mêÉî vÉ~ê båÇW éêÉîáçìë j~êÅÜ

gìåJOMNP vÉ~ê çå vÉ~êW íÜÉ ë~ãÉ éÉêáçÇ Ñêçã íÜÉ éêÉîáçìë óÉ~ê

`çêé\ jÉ~ëìêÉ

oÉÑ aÉëÅêáéíáçå

lïåÉê oÉëìäí
OMNOLNP

i~íÉëí a~í~

q~êÖÉí oÉëìäí

vÉ~ê båÇ
q~êÖÉí
OMNPLNQ

qêÉåÇë

mêÇ mêÉî
vÉ~ê
båÇ

vÉ~ê çå
vÉ~ê

`çããÉåíë

`pMMO `pMMOW qáãÉ íç éêçÅÉëë
ÅÜ~åÖÉë áå ÅáêÅìãëí~åÅÉë

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

NO a~óë NM a~óë NQ a~óë NM a~óë qÜÉ gìåÉ êÉëìäí çÑ NOKTO
Ç~óë ï~ë íÜÉ ÄÉëí ãçåíÜäó
êÉëìäí çÑ OMNPLNQ íç Ç~íÉ
~åÇ êÉÇìÅÉÇ íÜÉ óÉ~ê íç
Ç~íÉ êÉëìäí íç NQKOR Ç~óëK
aìêáåÖ íÜÉ ãçåíÜ QIUUM
ÅÜ~åÖÉ ÉîÉåíë ïÉêÉ
éêçÅÉëëÉÇ J íÜáë ï~ë íÜÉ
ÜáÖÜÉëí ãçåíÜäó íçí~ä áå íÜÉ
óÉ~ê íç Ç~íÉK fí áë ÉñéÉÅíÉÇ
íÜ~í áãéêçîÉÇ ïçêâ
éêçÅÉëëÉë ïáää êÉëìäí áå äçïÉê
~îÉê~ÖÉ éêçÅÉëëáåÖ íáãÉë áå
ÑìíìêÉ ãçåíÜëK

`pMMR `pMMRW qáãÉ íç éêçÅÉëë
åÉï ÄÉåÉÑáíë Åä~áãë

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

OSKSR
Ç~óë

NQKMM
Ç~óë

OQKTQ
Ç~óë

NQKMM
Ç~óë

qÜÉ gìåÉ êÉëìäí çÑ OMKSO
Ç~óë ï~ë íÜÉ ÄÉëí ãçåíÜäó
êÉëìäí çÑ OMNPLNQ íç Ç~íÉ
~åÇ êÉÇìÅÉÇ íÜÉ óÉ~ê íç
Ç~íÉ êÉëìäí íç OQKTQ Ç~óëK
aìêáåÖ íÜÉ ãçåíÜ QRV åÉï
~ééäáÅ~íáçåë ïÉêÉ
éêçÅÉëëÉÇK fí áë ÉñéÉÅíÉÇ
íÜ~í áãéêçîÉÇ ïçêâ
éêçÅÉëëÉë ïáää êÉëìäí áå äçïÉê
~îÉê~ÖÉ éêçÅÉëëáåÖ íáãÉë áå
ÑìíìêÉ ãçåíÜëK

`pMNM `pMNMW qçí~ä ÅìêêÉåí íÉå~åí
~êêÉ~êë

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

>NINPT
IUMRKMM

kçí pÉí >VUPISPS
KMM

kçí pÉí

`pMNN `pMNNW qçí~ä ÑçêãÉê íÉå~åí
~êêÉ~êë

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

>OORIQTN
KMM

kçí pÉí >OSSIPPO
KMM

kçí pÉí

`pMNP `pMNPW qçí~ä ~êêÉ~êë çÑ
íÉå~åíë çïáåÖ ãçêÉ íÜ~å T
ïÉÉâë êÉåí

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

>QRMIQNR
KMM

kçí pÉí >QMPIUOV
KOQ

kçí pÉí

`pMNQ `pMNQW kìãÄÉê çÑ kpmë
ëÉêîÉÇ çå íÉå~åíë áå ~êêÉ~êë
vqa

eÉäÉå
_áëÜçé

TSM
kpmë

kçí pÉí OQS
kpmë

kçí pÉí

e`MMP e`MMPW eçãÉäÉëë
^ÅÅÉéí~åÅÉë

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

NMQ
kìãÄÉê

PM
kìãÄÉê

OR
kìãÄÉê

NOM
kìãÄÉê

e`MMQ e`MMQW eçãÉäÉëëåÉëë
Å~ëÉë éêÉîÉåíÉÇ

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

SUN
kìãÄÉê

NPR
kìãÄÉê

OPP
kìãÄÉê

RQM
kìãÄÉê

_êÉ~âÇçïå çÑ íçí~äW

eçãÉÅÜçáÅÉ                     OV
ijadp
O
eçìëáåÖ kÉÉÇë J líÜÉê  NMM
qÉå~åÅó oÉä lÑÑ
QM
`^_                                    Q
pÜÉäíÉê                             RU

kfNRQ kfNRQW kÉí ~ÇÇáíáçå~ä ÜçãÉë
éêçîáÇÉÇ

jáÅÜ~Éä
`êçÑíçå
J_êáÖÖë

NVQ
kìãÄÉê

RQ
kìãÄÉê

NT
kìãÄÉê

OOM
kìãÄÉê

eçìëáåÖ ÅçãéäÉíáçåë êÉã~áå
äçïÉê íÜ~å íÜÉ í~êÖÉí ÑáÖìêÉI
êÉÑäÉÅíáåÖ íÜÉ å~íáçå~ä
ëáíì~íáçåI Äìí íÜÉêÉ ~êÉ ~
åìãÄÉê çÑ ëáíÉë éêçÖêÉëëáåÖ
íÜêçìÖÜ íÜÉ éä~ååáåÖ
éêçÅÉëëK  qÜÉ ê~íÉ çÑ
ÇÉäáîÉêó áë ÉñéÉÅíÉÇ íç
ëáÖåáÑáÅ~åíäó áãéêçîÉ çîÉê
íÜÉ ÅçìéäÉ çÑ óÉ~êëK

kf NRR kf NRR kìãÄÉê çÑ ~ÑÑçêÇ~ÄäÉ
ÜçãÉë ÇÉäáîÉêÉÇ EÖêçëëF

píÉéÜÉå
`ä~êâÉ

VQ
kìãÄÉê

M
kìãÄÉê

M
kìãÄÉê

Q
kìãÄÉê

O6



Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013 Final 1 

 
To:    City Executive Board   
 
Date:   11 September 2013  

 
Report of:  Head of Housing & Property 
 
Title of Report: Allocations Review & Changes to the Allocations 

Scheme  
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:   To receive approval for the proposed new 

Allocations Scheme 
          
Key decision?                       Yes 
 
Executive lead member:  Councillor Scott Seamons 
 
Policy Framework:           Meeting Housing Needs 
 
Recommendation(s):       (1) To note the proposed changes to the 
existingAllocations Scheme and 
responses to the consultation 
 
(2) To recommend the new Allocations 
Schemeis approved by Full Council 
 
(3) To give delegated authority to the Head of  
Housing & Propertyto introduce the new 
Allocations Scheme within 3months of  
finalapproval by FullCouncil to allow 
timetoimplement the changes 
 
(4) To agree to the Council leaving the 
OxfordshireSub-regional Choice-Based 
Lettings scheme 

 
Appendices to report 
 
Appendix 1 Housing Allocations Scheme Consultation Draft Report 

approved by CEB on 13/2/13 (showing a summary of the 
proposed changes) 

Appendix 2  Proposed new Allocations Scheme 
Appendix 3 Summary report on the responses received during the 

Allocations Review consultation 
Appendix 4 Equality Impact Assessment on the proposed changes 
Appendix 5 Risk Register 
 

 

Agenda Item 3

7



Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013 Final 2 

 
 
1. 

Introduction 
 
The Council is in the process of changing the Allocations Scheme.  This 
is the policy the Council uses to allocate social housing within Oxford to 
those in housing need.  All housing authorities must have an Allocation 
Scheme.  Housing authorities are required by s.166A(1) Housing Act 
1996 to have an allocation scheme for determining priorities, and for 
defining the procedures to be followed in allocating housing 
accommodation; and they must allocate in accordance with that scheme 
(s.166A(14)).  All aspects of the allocation process must be covered in 
the scheme, including the people by whom decisions are taken. 
 

2. A draft of the proposed Allocations Scheme and a reportdetailing the 
changes (see Appendix 1) was submitted to the CEB on 13/2/13 and 
approval was received to consult on the proposed changes.  The 
consultation took place between 3/4 and 19/5/13.  Registered Providers 
of Social Housing with stock in Oxford, every applicant on the housing 
register (over 4700), members of the public and other key stakeholders 
(including advice and support agencies and housing staff) were given the 
opportunity to comment on the proposed changes. 
 

3.  The overall response to the proposed changes has been generally 
positive, although some proposals are more popular than others and the 
responses received have been taken into consideration when drafting 
the final version of the proposed Allocations Scheme shown in Appendix 
2.  A report providing a summary of the responses received in the 
consultation is shown in Appendix 3.  The impact of the proposed 
changes to the Allocations Scheme on households in housing need has 
also been taken into consideration in the drafting of the new Allocations 
Scheme.  An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is 
shown in Appendix 4.  
 

4. The proposed Allocations Scheme has not been significantly altered to 
the version submitted to the CEB on 13/2/13 and includes most of the 
proposed changes listed in Appendix 1.  Although minor areas have 
been re-drafted to make the changes clearer.  The proposal to exclude 
adult students studying and living away from home part of the time 
where their main residence is still at the applicant’s home has been 
removed, following the consultation and impact analysis. The sections on 
when a housing applicant with rent arrears is likely to be excluded from 
qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register or unlikely to receive an 
offer have been made clearer. 
 

 
 
5. 

Level of Risk 
 
The new Allocations Scheme is considered to represent a low risk to the 
Council and has been represented as such in Appendix 5. The old 
Allocations Scheme is out of date and needs to be updated. The new 
Allocations Scheme has been re-drafted taking into account changes in 
legislation introduced by the Localism Act and Welfare Reform Act and 

8



Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013 Final 3 

the new Allocations Code of Guidance issued by the Department of 
Communities and Local Government. 
 

 
 
6. 

Climate Change/Environmental Impact 
 
The new Allocations Scheme will have a low impact on climate change 
and the environment. The Council will continue to seek to minimise the 
impact of the allocation of social housing in the future and the 
introduction of an on-line application form should help to reduce the 
amount of paperwork required to administer the housing register.  
 

 
 
7. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8. 
 

Equalities Impact 
 
The impact of the proposed changes has been considered in the 
Equality Impact Assessment shown in Appendix 4 and taken into 
consideration in the drafting of the new Allocations Scheme. The Council 
will continue to seek to ensure under the new scheme, that the allocation 
of social housing does not indirectly discriminate against or disadvantage 
housing applicants within BME groups and/or those with disabilities, by 
effective monitoring of those applying for housing and those allocated 
social housing by the Council.   
 
The Council will continue to provide advice and assistance to those on 
the housing register and monitor applicants in high housing need who 
are “not bidding”, to ensure they receive the support necessary to use 
the Choice-Based Lettings (CBL) scheme and receive a suitable offer of 
housing.   
 

 
 
9. 
 
 
 
 
10. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
11. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Financial Implications 
 
Social housing is a scarce resource.  The new Allocations Scheme 
continues to prioritise those in the most housing need for an allocation of 
social housing to make the best use of the limited number of properties 
becoming available each year.  
 
Procedures remain in place to assess the suitability of housing 
applicants for an offer of social housing with the aim of ensuring 
applicants are only normally offered social housing where the tenant is 
considered suitable for an offer and the property meets their housing 
requirements. To ensure any new tenants are able to comply with the 
terms of their tenancy including the payment of their rent and where 
adaptations are required to the property costs are kept to a minimum.  
 
The Allocations Scheme continues to award high priority to existing 
tenants in social housing seeking to downsize to a smaller property so 
the property they have left can be re-let to a family in housing 
need.Council tenants of working age, who are under-occupying a family 
property and have requested to move, will continue to be offered 
assistance with finding alternative housing and compensation through 
the Removal Expenses Mobility Scheme,including Council tenants 

9



Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013 Final 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13. 

affected by the “bedroom tax” where the tenant is taking reasonable 
steps to pay their rent.  The Allocations Scheme continues to allow some 
flexibility in making offers to housing applicants with rent arrears who are 
affected by the introduction of the “benefit cap” where the applicant is 
taking reasonable steps to pay their rent and is considered suitable for 
an offer of housing. 
 
The proposed changes to the size of properties applicants are eligible to 
apply for will help, to minimise the allocation of social housing to tenants 
who could be affected “bedroom tax” in the future, and fail to pay the 
shortfall in rent to the Council.  The changes are also consistent with the 
Council’s aim to prevent homelessness and reduce the number of 
households in temporary accommodation and the cost to the Council 
and take into account recommendations from an independent review of 
the service.  
 
The costs associated with the changes required following the 
introduction of the Allocations Scheme, including updates to the Housing 
Management Information System, Choice-Based Lettings system, new 
literature and staff training have been accounted for in the budget for 
2013/14. Changes will be undertaken by existing staff where possible to 
keep the costs to a minimum. 
 

 
 
14. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
15. 
 
 

Legal Implications 
 
The new Allocations Scheme has been drafted to take into account 
changes introduced since the drafting of the existing Allocations Scheme 
in July 2009.  This includes changes in legislation introduced by the 
Localism Act 2011 and Welfare Reform Act 2012, the “Allocation of 
accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England”2012 
issued by the department of the Communities and Local Government 
and the Council’s new Tenancy and Homeless Strategies.  
 
Advice has been taken from the Council’s legal team during the drafting 
of the new scheme and it is considered to comply with current legal 
requirements. Although all Allocations Schemes are open to legal 
challenge, it is considered unlikely at this time that any such challenge 
against the legality of the allocations scheme would be successful.  

 
 

Name and contact details of author: 
 
Tom Porter 
Allocations Manager 
Housing Needs 
Tel: 01865 252713   Email: tporter@oxford.gov.uk 
 
 

List of background papers:  None 
Version number:  Final  

10



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 1 
 

Appendix 1: Housing Allocations Scheme Consultation Draft Report approved 
by CEB on 13/2/13 (showing a summary of the proposed changes) 

 
To: City Executive Board   
 
Date:  13/2/13  

 
Report of: Stephen Clarke – Head of Housing  
 
Title of Report:  Housing Allocations Scheme Consultation Draft 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:   For the new Draft Allocations Scheme to be approved to 

go out to consultation 
          
Key decision?                   No 
 
Executive lead member:  Scott Seamons 
 
Policy Framework:           Meeting Housing Needs 
 
Recommendation(s):       To note the proposed changes to the existing  
                                           Allocations Scheme 
 
                                           To approve for the draft of proposed new  
                                           Allocations Scheme to go out to consultation 
 

 
Appendices to report – list here by Appendix number and description (already seen 
by the CEB on 13/2/13 – due to the size of this report already they have not been    
re-included)  
 
Appendix 1 Draft Allocations Scheme 
Appendix 2 Summary of Bands & Current Reasons 
Appendix 3 Mobility Levels 
Appendix 4 Risk Register 
 
  

11



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 2 
 

1. Introduction  
 
There is a high demand for social housing in Oxford and only a 
limited number of properties become available each year.  There are 
over 5700 applicants on the housing register and it is expected only 
550 properties will become available to let during 2011/12.  The 
Allocations Scheme is the policy the Council uses to allocate social 
housing within Oxford to those in housing need.  All housing 
authorities must have an allocation scheme.  Housing authorities are 
required by s.166A(1) Housing Act 1996 to have an allocation 
scheme for determining priorities, and for defining the procedures to 
be followed in allocating housing accommodation; and they must 
allocate in accordance with that scheme (s.166A(14)).  All aspects of 
the allocation process must be covered in the scheme, including the 
people by whom decisions are taken. When framing or modifying 
their scheme, authorities must have regard to their current tenancy 
and homelessness strategies (s.166A (12)).   
 

2. Why do we need to review the Allocations Scheme? 
 
The current Allocations Scheme came into effect in July 2009. 
The scheme is also being revised to take into account the Council’s 
new tenancy and homeless strategies and to balance local needs 
and aspirations with: 
 

· Recent changes introduced by the Localism Act and changes 
that are due to be introduced by the Welfare Reform Act during 
2013/14 (including the “bedroom tax”) 
 

· The new Allocations Code of Guidance issued by Communities & 
Local Government 

 

· Recommendations from the Chartered Institute of Housing 
following their review of the Housing Needs Service last year 
 

· The ending of the Oxfordshire Sub-Regional Partnership for 
allocating properties through Choice-Based Lettings (the local 
CBL scheme used by Oxford will continue to operate) 

 
Although the Allocations Scheme largely meets current legislation 
and recommendations set out in the Allocations Code of Guidance 
there are number of key areas that will need to be considered before 
revising the existing scheme.  
 

3. Qualification for Inclusion on the Housing Register  
 
The Council now has greater powers to decide who does and does 
not qualify for inclusion on the housing register (with some 
exclusions notably members/families of the armed forces).  The 
Code of Guidance also recommends that the Allocations Scheme 

12



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 3 
 

has some discretion put in it to accept individual applicants who are 
considered to have exceptional circumstances.  
 

4. Local connection – by residence, employment or close family 
members  
 
The Council currently maintains an open register – so applicants 
eligible for housing are able to apply to be included on the housing 
register in Oxford irrespective of where they live in UK and/or of their 
chances of being housed (apart from those excluded for serious 
anti-social behaviour).  However, when allocating properties 
preference is normally given to applicant’s with a local connection to 
Oxford through residence, work or family.  So in practice most 
applicant’s on the housing register, with no local connection, have 
little chance of ever receiving an offer of accommodation unless; 
they are an applicant living in the Oxfordshire Sub-Region applying 
for a property advertised sub-regionally through the Choice-Based 
Lettings scheme or are from elsewhere in the UK and are applying 
for a low demand sheltered property. 

 

5. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that in future the Council 
should be able to take into account whether an applicant has a local 
connection to Oxford when deciding whether they can qualify for 
inclusion on the Housing Register.  In most cases it is proposed that 
access to the housing register is restricted to those with a local 
connection with some exceptions; including members of the armed 
forces. 
 

6. Capital, savings & income 
 
Social housing is a scarce resource and applicants who are 
considered to have sufficient capital (including property), savings 
and/or income can be excluded from the housing register or given 
reduced priority because they have sufficient funds to resolve their 
own housing situation.  The current Allocations Scheme allows 
applicants to be included on the housing register, even if they own a 
property &/or have sufficient capital and savings and income to 
resolve their own housing situation.  However, they are normally 
placed in a low priority band and will be unlikely to shortlist for an 
offer of accommodation.  
 

7. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that in future the Council 
should be able to take into account Capital, Savings and Income 
when considering if an applicant should qualify for inclusion on the 
Housing Register and in some cases an applicant may be excluded 
(with some exceptions for complex or high needs cases unable 
resolve their own housing situation). 
 
 
 

13



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 4 
 

8. Rent arrears  
 
The current Allocations Scheme allows applicants with rent arrears 
to be included on the housing register but they will normally be 
overlooked for any offers of accommodation if they are a: 
 

· Former tenant who has been evicted by the Council or 
another Registered Social Provider of social housing until 
their arrears are        re-paid in full. 

· Current tenant of the Council or another Registered Social 
Provider with rent arrears outstanding covered by a court 
order 

· Current tenant with outstanding rent arrears that are in 
excess of £200 unless they have a re-payment arrangement 
in place to re-pay the arrears that has been kept to 
consistently by the tenant for at least 6 months.    

 

9. Exceptions can be made by the Allocations Manager in some   
cases – such as social housing tenants seeking to downsize from 
their current accommodation where the arrears will be cleared in full 
by any “compensation” payment they are entitled to, homeless 
applicants living in temporary accommodation where they are 
considered to be engaging with re-payment of the rent and “life and 
limb” cases where a tenant would be at risk if they were not moved 
from their current home.  
 

10. Applicants with rent arrears can also be given reduced priority too, 
although this currently rarely happens, because if they are already 
being overlooked for offers it makes little difference to their chances 
of being re-housed.  
 

11. The changes being brought in by the Localism Act mean the Council 
could be stricter on those in rent arrears & could also extend the 
criteria currently being used to include other property related debts 
owed to the Council such as lost deposits paid for by the Private 
Sector Team &/or re-charges owed to other landlords. However, we 
also need to be realistic about the vulnerable applicants in housing 
need on the housing register and leave enough flexibility to ensure 
that we are not being too strict or inflexible. 
 

12. The views of other Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 
that work together with the Council and form the Oxford Register for 
Affordable Housing (ORAH) partnership will need to be considered 
as part of the consultation, as each will have their own tenancy 
policy and approach to those with rent arrears.   
 

13. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that in future the Council 
should be able to take into account rent arrears when considering if 
an applicant should qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register 
(with some exceptions such as those with low level rent arrears, 

14



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 5 
 

tenants who have demonstrated that they can now pay their rent 
regularly and other for complex or high needs cases unable resolve 
their own housing situation where there is evidence appropriate 
support is in place to help them sustain their tenancy in the future). 
  

14. Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
 
Applicants guilty of ASB are currently overlooked for offers until they 
can demonstrate that they would be potentially suitable tenants and 
are also sometimes given reduced priority.  Historically due to strict 
legislation it has been very hard to exclude applicants from the 
housing register on the grounds of ASB but the rules have now been 
changed and this is no longer a problem.  
 

15. The Council and ORAH partners will need to consider what 
behaviour is considered sufficient to exclude an applicant from 
qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register.  However, it is 
proposed the following types of behaviour are taken into account: 
 

· Applicants who have been evicted from council, registered 
social provider or private rented property for, illegal subletting 
or antisocial behaviour in the last 5 years.  

· Breach of tenancy for behaviour which is a nuisance or 
annoyance to those in the locality of the dwelling; or 
conviction for using the dwelling for immoral or illegal 
purposes or committing an indictable offence in the dwelling 
house, or in the locality of it 

· Domestic violence causing a partner or other family member 
to leave the property 

· Deterioration of the dwelling house or furniture provided for 
use under the tenancy due to waste, neglect or fault 

· Tenancy induced by false statement 
 

16. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that in future the Council 
should be able to exclude an applicant from inclusion on the housing 
register where they, or a member of their household, have been 
responsible for ASB. With some exceptions such as where there is 
persuasive evidence behaviour has been amended and another 
tenancy has been successfully maintained for a reasonable period of 
time. 
 

17. Housing Need Priority Bands  
 
Applicants applying for housing are placed in a Housing Need 
Priority Band based on their current housing need.   
 
There are currently 5 housing need bands used to prioritise 
applicants for housing:  
 
Band 1 (very high housing need)  

15



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 6 
 

Band 2 (high housing need) 
Band 3 (significant housing need) 
Band 4 (moderate housing need) 
Band 5 (no or little housing need) 
 
There are around 5700 applicants on the housing register and the 
majority (around 3700) are in Band 5 and unlikely to receive an offer 
of accommodation in the foreseeable future unless their 
circumstances change and housing need increases.  To be placed in 
each Band an applicant must meet the Band criteria. If they do not 
meet the criteria for Bands 1 to 4 they are placed in Band 5.  A 
summary of the current criteria used for each priority Band is shown 
in Appendix 2.  To fall within Bands 1 to 4 an applicant must be in a 
“reasonable preference group” or an “additional preference group”. 
 

18. Reasonable preference groups 
 
The Council is required to give reasonable preference to the 
following categories of person who fall within “reasonable preference 
group”: 
 

· Those who are homeless within the meaning of Part 7 of the 
1996 Act (including those who are intentionally homeless and 
those not in priority need)  

· Those who are owed a duty by any housing authority under 
section 190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under 
section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 1985) or who are 
occupying accommodation secured by any housing authority 
under s.192(3)  

· Those in insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory conditions 

· Those who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, 
including grounds relating to a disability 

· Those who need to move to a particular locality in the district, 
where failure to meet that need would cause hardship to 
themselves or others 

 
These categories are not discrete, and applicants can fall under 
different categories. 
 

19. Additional preference groups 
 
The Council can take into account local circumstances and is also 
able to give “additional preference” to applicants who fall within a 
“reasonable preference group” and have urgent housing needs. For 
example to: 
 

· Those who need to move urgently because of life threatening 
illness or sudden disability 

· Families in severe overcrowding which poses a serious health 

16



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 7 
 

hazard 

· Those who are homeless and require urgent re-housing as a 
result of violence or threats of violence, including intimidated 
witnesses, and those escaping serious anti-social behaviour 
or domestic violence 
 

20. The Council’s Allocations Scheme must give “additional preference” 
to a person who falls into a reasonable preference group and is 
considered to have urgent housing needs where the person: 
 

· is serving in the regular forces and is suffering from a serious 
injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or 
partly) to the person’s service, or 

 

· formerly served in the regular forces, or 
 

· has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following 
the death of that person’s spouse or civil partner who has 
served in the regular forces and whose death was attributable 
(wholly or partly) to that service, or 

 

· is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering 
from a serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to the person’s service. 

 

21.  Changes to existing priority bands 
 
Although applicants falling within a reasonable or additional 
preference group must normally be included on the housing register 
the Council can decide how to prioritise each group within priority 
bands 1 to 4 and can move some groups to a different band. 
 

22. Homeless Applicants 
 
There are two separate groups of homeless applicants: 
 
(1) Applicants found to be homeless by the Council, in a priority 
need group (such as homeless families, pregnant applicants or a 
vulnerable single applicant or couple with health issues) that the 
Council has a duty to place into homeless temporary 
accommodation and make a suitable offer of housing. Currently 
placed in band 2. 
 
(2) Applicants found to be homeless and not in a priority need group 
(such as a single applicant or couple who are not considered 
vulnerable and/or to have  sufficient health needs to give them a 
“priority need”) that the Council has no duty to place in homeless 
temporary accommodation and make an offer of suitable housing 
under homeless legislation. Currently placed in Band 3.  

17



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 8 
 

23. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that in future the following 
changes are made: 
 
Homeless applicants in a priority need group are moved from Band 
2 to Band 3.  
 
To improve the chances of other applicants in similar housing need 
on the Housing Register receiving an offer of accommodation, such 
as applicants with children living with their parents in overcrowded or 
unsuitable accommodation or in the private sector, to help prevent 
them becoming homeless.  While still continuing to give sufficient 
priority to those already accepted homeless in temporary 
accommodation.  
 

24. Homeless applicants not considered to be in a priority need group 
are moved from Band 3 to Band 4.  
 
To ensure that more priority is given to homeless applicants on the 
housing register within a priority need group than to those not in a 
priority need group.  While still continuing to give them priority 
through the Allocations Scheme.  
 

25. “Policy” Successors  
 
Applicants living in social housing who are legally entitled to succeed 
to a tenancy after the previous tenant has passed away are referred 
to as “successors” in the Allocations Scheme and are placed in 
Band 1 if they are required to move to a smaller property.  It is not 
proposed to change their priority. 
 
 Applicants living in social housing who are not legally entitled to 
succeed to a tenancy after the tenant of the property they are living 
in has passed away are referred to a “policy successors” and are 
placed in Band 1 if they meet the criteria within the existing 
Allocations Scheme. 
 

26. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that “policy successors” are 
restricted in future, to only include close family members that would 
have been entitled to succeed to the tenancy, if a succession had 
not already taken place. So more properties will be available to 
allocate to those in housing need on the housing register.  
 
The Allocations Scheme will still allow discretion for some cases to 
be referred to the Exceptional Circumstance Panel on social and 
welfare grounds to request the panel to consider awarding an 
applicant no longer able to stay in property after the tenant has 
passed away priority to move by awarding a “social and welfare” 
award.   
 
 

18



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 9 
 

27. Time on List Compared To Time in Housing Need/Band 
 
There are two main ways of prioritising applicants in the same 
housing need (priority band) for housing: 
 

(1) Registration date - the time they have been on the housing 
register  

 
Or 
 
(2) Priority Band Start Date - the time they have been in housing 

need/band  
 
Although it simpler to prioritise applicants based on the time they 
have been on the housing register and possibly easier to 
understand, it is arguably fairer for applicants to be prioritised on the 
time they have actually been in housing need – for example the time 
they have been living in overcrowded accommodation or have spent 
being homeless.   
 

28. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes: 
  
To prioritise all applicants by Priority Band Start Date instead of their 
Registration Date. 
 
To have provisions to ensure that where an applicant’s housing 
need changes and they go down a priority band that they are not 
disadvantaged by this.  
 
To put in place transitional arrangements for existing applicants to 
minimise the initial impact of this change. So applicants currently on 
the housing register when new Allocations Scheme comes into 
effect will have their registration date used as their Priority Band 
Start Date if this is an earlier date.  
 

29. The Size of Property an Applicant Is Eligible To Apply For 
 
Social housing is a scarce resource and it is important that the 
Council and other Private Registered Providers of social housing 
within Oxford make the best use of the stock which is available.  
 
The existing Allocations Scheme has rules that are used to calculate 
number of bedrooms an applicant requires.  However, they will need 
to be changed and made stricter due to changes being introduced 
through the Welfare Reform Act including the introduction of the 
“bedroom tax” from April 2013.  So as to not place working age 
applicants and their families into accommodation that they cannot 
afford where their housing benefit could fall substantially short of the 
rent due.  The recommendations in the new Allocations Code of 
Guidance, issued by the Department of Communities & Local 

19



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 10 
 

Government, also need to be taken into account.   
 

30. Age of Household Members 
 
The draft Allocations Scheme proposes: 
 
(1) To increase the age at which children of the opposite sex are 
considered to be able to share a bedroom: 
 
From 
  
“Two children of the opposite aged under 7” 
 
To 
 
“Two children of the opposite sex aged under 10” 
 
 
(2) To increase the age at which children of the same sex are 
considered able to share a bedroom: 
  
From 
 
“Two children of the same sex where the oldest child is between 10 
and 15 and the age gap is less than 10 years” 
 
To 
 
“Two children of the same sex aged under 16” 
 

31. Under-Occupiers & Other Exceptions 
 
The Draft Allocations Scheme proposes: 
 
To continue to allow some flexibility when offering social housing to 
tenants who are under-occupying their current home. 
 
To allow tenants on the Transfer List who are currently under-
occupying a property to continue to be able to move to a property 
one-bedroom larger than they require. If they are downsizing to a 
smaller property or moving to non-family two-bedroom property (only 
considered suitable for 55+ and/or in a sheltered scheme) and they 
can still afford the rent.  
 
To continue to allow some discretion to the Allocations Manager &/or 
flexibility within the Allocations Scheme to offer some applicants 
properties larger than they would normally be considered to require 
where they are: 
 

· A legal successor who needs to move from a three-bedroom 

20



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 11 
 

property or larger and they will still be able to afford the rent 
of the property they move to or will not be affected by the 
bedroom tax due to their age.  

 

· Long Term Foster Carers (who have fostered children 
continuously for 3 years or more) and they will still be able to 
afford the rent.  

 

· Applicants (or household members) with very high housing 
needs due to a health or disability, for example a child who 
cannot share with another due to their disability, where they 
are still able to afford the rent 

 

· Applicants in high housing need with other exceptional 
circumstances.   

 

32. Household Composition 
 
The draft Allocations Scheme proposes that: 
 
Expectant mothers no longer have their unborn baby “counted” for 
the purpose of assessing the number of bedrooms their household 
will require until the baby is actually born. To make better use of 
existing stock by ensuring applicants are normally only offered 
properties based on the number of children they have in their 
household and to ensure affordability under the new bedroom tax 
rules for those in receipt of housing benefit.  
 
To exclude existing adult children (or other adult members) from an 
applicant’s housing application and for the purposes of assessing 
the size of property they will require and assessing their housing 
need where: 
 
An adult (other than the applicant or joint applicant) in the household 
has sufficient savings, investments and/or income to resolve their 
own housing situation or is studying away from home and living 
elsewhere for part of the time in student, private rented or other 
accommodation. 
 
& 
 
There is not an over-riding health need for the adult child, or other 
adult resident, to live with the applicant and be included on their 
housing application as person requiring housing.  
 

33. Large Families 
 
A very low number of four-bedroom properties or larger become 
available to let each year. Only around 10 four-bedroom properties 
will become available during 2012/13.   

21



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 12 
 

 
To improve the options available for large families living in 
overcrowded accommodation or homeless applicants living in 
temporary accommodation the draft Allocations Scheme proposes in 
future to allow: 
 
Large families with a four-bedroom housing need “lacking two-
bedrooms or more” and living in a one or two bedroom property to 
be given the opportunity to apply for a suitable three-bedroom 
property if they choose to do so (and not just three-bedroom parlour 
or four-bedroom houses as now).   
 
& 
 
Homeless Applicant’s in temporary accommodation with a four-
bedroom housing need, to whom the Council has accepted as duty 
to make an offer of housing, to be given the opportunity to apply for 
three-bedroom properties if they have a four-bedroom housing need, 
if they wish to do so (and not just three-bedroom parlour or four-
bedroom houses as now).   
 

34. On the following conditions: 
 
The Council or ORAH partner that owned the property would need to 
be satisfied that the property was large enough for the family and 
agree to consider larger families for the particular property. 
 
The allocation of a large family to a particular property would not 
have significant impact on others living in the local area. 
 
If an applicant opted to do this, then they would not be able to apply 
for a Transfer again within a year moving in, unless the size of their 
household changed or in exceptional circumstances. 
 

35. Sub-regional Allocations Scheme 
 
The Council is currently in a sub-regional partnership, with three 
other District Council’s in Oxfordshire; Cherwell DC, Vale of the 
White Horse DC and South Oxfordshire DC.  All four Councils are 
currently reviewing their allocations schemes.  The priority bands 
and way housing needs are assessed by each District are expected 
to differ to the extent that in the future applicants will no longer be 
able to “compete” with each other equally when bidding for 
properties sub-regionally.   Due to the limited amount of properties 
becoming available across the sub-region there has also been less 
movement between the Districts than hoped when the scheme was 
originally set up.  
 
All four Councils are proposing to leave the Sub-Regional 
Allocations Scheme so the draft Allocations scheme makes no 

22



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 13 
 

reference to the scheme any longer.  
 

36. Choice-Based Lettings 
 
The Council allocates most properties owned by the Council and 
ORAH partners that become available, by advertising them through 
a         Choice-Based Lettings Scheme.  Applicants on the Housing 
Register are able to express an interest in being offered a property 
by placing a bid through the Choice-Based Lettings Scheme for 
properties they are eligible to apply for. The property is normally 
offered to the applicant in the highest housing need who has bid for 
the property once the lettings cycle ends each fortnight.  
 

37. Unreasonable Refusals 
 
Each advert includes details of the property type, location, size, rent 
and other additional details such as if the property is on the ground 
floor or adapted. If an applicant has successfully bid on a property 
they will be contacted where possible to check that they are still 
interested in the property before they are made an offer of 
accommodation. Once an offer has been made the applicant will be 
given the opportunity to view the property and make a final decision 
about whether they want to accept the offer.   
 

38. The majority of applicants accept the first offer they are made, 
however, some will refuse one or more offers.  If an applicant’s 
reasons for refusing are considered unreasonable there are limited 
actions that can be taken within the existing Allocations scheme. 
One in five offers are refused and each refusal incurs a cost to the 
Council and other ORAH partners in staff time and also in lost rent if 
the property is ready to let and the refusal results in a delay of the 
property being re-let. 
 

39. Applicants on the General Register or Transfer Lists can be treated 
differently from applicants on the Homeless List because they come 
under different parts of the Housing Act 1996.  Although the 
Allocations Scheme must still give priority to homeless applicants to 
whom the Council has accepted a statutory duty homeless – which 
the Council currently does by placing them in Band 2.  Homeless 
applicants do not need to be given the same level of choice.  In 
order for the Council to discharge a homeless duty a homeless 
applicant needs to have been made a suitable offer of 
accommodation.   
 

40. The Council can allow homeless applicants to bid for properties 
through CBL but is under no obligation to do so and can offer a 
homeless applicant the first suitable property that becomes 
available.  Once a homeless applicant has been offered a suitable 
property – by either successfully bidding for a property via CBL, or 
by having a bid placed for them if they are failing to bid or by being 

23



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 14 
 

offered a property as a direct match outside of CBL – if they refuse 
without good grounds the Council’s duty under homeless legislation 
can cease and they can be asked to leave their temporary homeless 
accommodation.  
 

41. Applicants on the General Register & Transfer Lists 
 
The draft Allocations Scheme proposes in future: 
 
Applicants on the General Register & Transfer Lists who are 
considered to have unreasonably refused two suitable offers of 
accommodation within the last 12 months are suspended from 
bidding for 12 months.  

 
(Excludes homeless applicants on the Homeless List to whom the 
Council has accepted homeless duty who fall under homeless 
legislation). 
 

42. Applicants on the Homeless List (to whom the Council has 
accepted as homeless duty) 
 
The draft Allocations Scheme proposes in future: 
 
Applicants on the homeless list will now only be made one suitable 
offer of accommodation – this could be an allocation of social 
housing through the Allocations Scheme or an offer of suitable 
accommodation within the private rented sector made outside of the 
Allocations Scheme by the Housing Options Team to discharge the 
Council’s homeless duty. (Subject to Private Rented Offers being the 
sign off by members). 
 

43. If a homeless applicant refuses a suitable offer the Council will no 
longer have a duty to accommodate them and ask them to leave 
their temporary accommodation and to resolve their housing 
situation themselves. Homeless applicants who are considered to 
have unreasonably refused an offer by the Council because they 
consider the property is not suitable for them or a member of their 
family will continue to have the right to appeal.  The Council will not 
be able to end the duty to accommodate the applicant unless they 
lose the appeal.  
 

44. Applicants already accepted as homeless or placed in homeless 
temporary accommodation awaiting for a decision on their homeless 
application, prior to the 9/11/12 will only be made offers of social 
housing and will not be offered private rented accommodation 
(unless they request the Council to assist them in moving into the 
private rented sector).  
 
 
 

24



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 15 
 

45. Homeless Applicants – Time In Temporary Accommodation 
 
The Council continues to seek to prevent homelessness and to 
reduce the number of homeless households in temporary 
accommodation.  Although most homeless applicants, accepted as 
homeless and placed in temporary accommodation, bid regularly or 
are assisted in doing so if required some choose not to.  
  

46. The existing Allocation Scheme states homeless applicants failing to 
bid for properties through the Choice-Based Lettings Scheme can 
have bids placed for them or be offered a property as a direct match 
outside of Choice-Based Lettings.   
 

47. The new scheme proposes homeless applicants to whom the 
Council has accepted a homeless duty will be given a time-limited 
priority to bid for properties through CBL. During this time they could 
also be made an offer of suitable private rented accommodation to 
discharge the Council’s homeless duty by the Housing Options 
Team outside of the Allocations Scheme (if they have approached 
the Council as homeless and been accepted as homeless on or after 
9/11/12).   
 

48. If a homeless applicant after a reasonable time has passed, 3 to 6 
months normally, has not been actively bidding for properties and 
short listed for an offer, it is proposed that bids may be placed 
automatically for the applicant on all suitable properties.  Regardless 
of the property or type or area in Oxford until the applicant shortlists 
for an offer or is offered a suitable property in the private sector by 
the Housing Options Team.  The time limit can be extended where 
an applicant is actively bidding and/or no suitable properties have 
become available because they require a large property, an adapted 
property or it has been accepted that only certain areas of Oxford 
are suitable.  
 

49. The Choice-Based Lettings Cycle 
 
Properties advertised through Choice-Based Lettings are advertised 
every fortnight.  The lettings cycle lasts for 13 days and applicants 
included on the housing register are able to bid for properties that 
are advertised as available to let that are considered suitable for 
their housing needs. On the 14th date the cycle is closed – 
historically this has been to allow time for OCC and the sub-regional 
partners to produce and distribute a newsletter for the next lettings 
cycle.   The existing Allocations Scheme states the duration of “the 
length of the lettings cycle may be reviewed periodically”, however, it 
does not state specifically who can authorise for the duration of the 
scheme to be changed. Although it is not proposed at this stage to 
alter the length of the Lettings cycle (except when it is necessary to 
do so at Christmas as currently) it may be that in the future we wish 
to do so.  

25



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 16 
 

50. 
 
 

The draft scheme proposes the Head of Housing is given delegated 
responsibility within the Allocation Scheme to alter the length of the        
Choice-Based Lettings cycle on a temporary or permanent basis.  
 

51. Short listing Rules 
 
These are the “rules” used to prioritise applicants who have bid for a 
property.  Normally applicants are prioritised based on their Band 
and the registration date (or band start date if they are in Band 1).  
However, properties can also be advertised with preference to 
specific groups:  
 

· Applicants with a local connection - used for most properties 
that become available except some general needs properties 
that are sometimes advertised sub-regionally (as part of the 
agreement with the other districts who do the same)  

· Larger families – for properties considered particularly 
suitable for larger families due to their size and layout 

· Applicants assessed as needing a ground floor property 
and/or an adapted property, ranging from; Mobility 1(ground 
floor level access flats and bungalows) to Mobility 4 (fully 
adapted wheelchair accessible properties).  See appendix 3 
for a summary of the different mobility levels. 

· Applicant type – some properties are advertised with 
preference to a specific housing list – Homeless List, Transfer 
List or General Register List to ensure properties are 
allocated in line with the Annual Lettings Plan targets set 
each year to ensure the number of properties allocated to 
each list represents the demand on each list balanced with 
housing those in homeless temporary accommodation.  

 
Some properties are only considered suitable for applicants with an 
assessed need for sheltered accommodation and/or for older 
applicants aged 40, 55 or 60 years or older and are advertised as 
such. It is not proposed this is changed.  
 

52. The rules used for short listing applicants for bungalows are slightly 
different from those above and need to be explicitly stated in the 
Allocations Scheme (following the Council’s decision to de-designate 
bungalows and to remove the minimum age restriction of 40 from 
1/4/11). To allow younger applicants with mobility issues and 
requiring ground floor level access accommodation to be able to bid 
for bungalows too and younger existing social housing tenants 
seeking to downsize from family accommodation to apply for 
bungalows too.  
 

53. The Draft Allocations Scheme proposes: 
 
To change the existing rules used to prioritise applicants with 
Mobility issues requiring Mobility 1, 2, 3 or 4 properties (see 

26



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 17 
 

appendix 3).  So applicants in Bands 4 or 5 in low housing need who 
would benefit from Mobility 1 & 2 properties are overlooked if an 
applicant in higher housing need in Bands 1 to 3 bids for the same 
property even if they don’t have a Mobility 1 & 2 property on the 
ground floor.  
 
It is expected that usual practice will be to allocate some adapted 
properties meeting Mobility 3 and most of Mobility 4 standard as a 
direct match outside of Choice-Based Lettings scheme.  In order to 
best meet needs and make best use of the limited stock available.   
 

54. Any reference to sub-regional applicants or parish/village connection 
in the short listing criteria will also be removed as they are no longer 
required as it is proposed the sub-regional allocations scheme is 
ends. 
 

55. The draft Allocations Scheme is proposed to have the following 
added to state that bungalows will normally only be allocated to: 
 

(1) Applicants aged 55+ 
(2) Applicants with a need to move to ground floor level access 

property 
 
or 
 
(3) Existing tenants seeking to downsize from their current 

accommodation (irrespective of their age)  
& 
 
Only if no-one in groups (1) to (3) bids for a bungalow (which is 
unlikely) will the property be offered to another applicant. 
 

56. The draft Allocations scheme proposes to allocate properties in 
Riverside Court (exact number to be confirmed) as supported 
housing for vulnerable applicants or couples. In order to 
accommodate applicants who otherwise might not be able to sustain 
a tenancy in general needs house with floating support alone.  No 
existing tenants will be asked to move. However, the Council will 
help to facilitate the move of tenants in those properties that no 
longer require supported housing into general needs 
accommodation if they wish to move. 
 

57. Additional Advert Labels are proposed: 
 
To clearly indicate Affordable Rent or Fixed Term Tenancies as a 
separate advert from traditional social housing.  Customers will be 
able to make informed decisions about the type of property they are 
applying for and the type of tenure they will be offered. 
 
 

27



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 18 
 

58. Officer Roles & Delegated Officer Responsibilities  
 
The Allocations Scheme includes details of the roles and 
responsibilities for the operation of the Allocations Scheme.  Some 
areas could be made more streamlined to speed up the decision 
making process and ensure the scheme can be adjusted where 
minor changes following changes in legislation and/or best practice 
are identified.  
 

59. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes 
 
The Head of Housing is authorised to have delegated authority to: 
 
Approve the annual lettings plan targets proposed each year by the 
Allocations Manager – where the targets remain the same as the 
previous year or include only a small adjustment (up to 5% or less 
than 10 properties per annum) to the target of properties to be 
allocated to each list. 
 
Change the annual lettings plan targets after 6 months if the demand 
on the housing register has changed significantly and corrective 
action is required. Such changes should be subsequently reported to 
CEB if the annual lettings plan was approved by CEB.  
 

60. The draft Allocations Scheme proposes 
 
The Head of Housing is authorised to have delegated authority to: 
 
Authorise minor amendments to the Allocations Scheme proposed 
by the Allocations Manager where: 
 

· Legislation changes and the Allocations Scheme needs a 
minor change to comply with new legislation and the 
change will have a low impact on those on the housing 
register. 

 

· Best practice or new guidance is introduced that needs to 
be reflected in the Allocations Scheme and the change will 
have a low impact on those on the housing register 

 
Authorise offers of accommodation outside of the Allocations 
Scheme for “management cases” to make the best use of stock for 
existing tenants.   To include: 
 

· Adapted properties no longer required by the tenant 

· To facilitate a move as an alternative to adapting a 
property 

· To maximise bedroom occupation and ensure affordability 
 
 

28



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 19 
 

61. The Health & Housing Panel  
 
It is proposed to: 
 
Increase the delegated authority for Allocations Officers to grant 
applicant’s both moderate (Band 4) and significant (Band 3) Health 
& Disability Awards without referring cases to the panel. (Currently 
Officers can only award a “moderate” Band 4 award) 
 
& 
 
Reduce the minimum number of members of the Health & Disability 
Panel from 3 members to 2 Senior Members of the Team or 1 
Senior Member of the Team and 1 Health Professional depending 
on staff availability.  
 

62. Level of Risk 
 
This report is not requesting authority for the current Allocations 
Scheme to be changed only permission to consult on proposed 
changes so the risk to the Council is low and has been reflected as 
such in the risk register in appendix 4.  The changes proposed if 
accepted in the future are considered to represent a low risk.  
 

63. Climate Change/Environmental Impact 
 
The allocation of social housing under the current scheme has a 
minimal impact on the climate and environment.  As this report is not 
changing the current Allocations Scheme the report is not 
considered to have an impact.  The changes proposed if accepted in 
the future are considered to have a minimal impact on the 
climate/environment.  In the future the Council will introduce an on-
line application form which should help to reduce the amount of 
paperwork required to administer the housing register.  
 

64. Equalities Impact 
 
The Council seeks to ensure under the current scheme, that the 
allocation of social housing does not indirectly discriminate against 
or disadvantage housing applicants within BME groups and/or those 
with disabilities, by effective monitoring of those applying for housing 
and those allocated social housing by the Council.  As this report is 
not changing the current Allocations Scheme it will have no impact 
on these groups.   
 
In the future, the proposed changes will have an impact on some 
households on the Housing Register in housing need, including 
some in BME groups and/or those with disabilities.  The Council will 
undertake an impact assessment which will take into account 
responses from the consultation to determine whether there will be 

29



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 20 
 

any adverse impacts and to consider any mitigating action where 
appropriate before any final changes are implemented.  
 
The Council provides advice and assistance to those on the housing 
register and continues to monitor applicants in high housing need 
who are “not bidding”, to ensure they receive the support necessary 
to use the Choice-Based Lettings (CBL) scheme and receive a 
suitable offer of housing.   
 

65. Financial Implications 
 
The report does not change the existing Allocations Scheme so has 
no financial implications except for the cost of the consultation that 
will be kept to a minimum. The proposed changes to the size of 
properties applicants are eligible to apply for will help, if accepted in 
the future, to minimise the  allocation of social housing to tenants 
who could be affected “bedroom tax” and fail to pay the shortfall in 
rent to the Council.  The changes are also consistent with the 
Council’s aim to prevent homelessness and reduce the number of 
households in temporary accommodation and the cost to the 
Council.  
 

66. Legal Implications 
 
Before the Council makes any changes to Allocations Scheme 
reflecting a major change in policy, Section 166A(13) requires the 
Council to send a copy of the draft scheme to every Private 
Registered Provider of social housing within the ORAH partnership 
to ensure they have a reasonable opportunity to comment on the 
proposals.  
 
The report correctly requests authority to consult on the proposed 
changes before any major alternations are made to the existing 
allocations scheme.  
The proposed changes in the draft Allocations Scheme are 
considered to comply with current legislation.  If the changes are put 
into effect and are later legally challenged it is considered unlikely 
any such challenge against the legality of the allocations scheme 
would be successful.  
 

67. It is proposed that following the authorisation of the draft Allocations 
Scheme, the report will go out to consultation and the final version 
with any amendments will be re-submit to CEB for approval before a 
request is made to full Council to authorise the new scheme.  
Subject to authorisation by full Council the new scheme is likely to 
come in to effect in Autumn 2013.  
 

 
 
 

30



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 21 
 

Name and contact details of author:- 
 
Name: Tom Porter 
Job title:  Allocations Manager 
Service Area / Department: Housing Needs Team 
Tel:  01865 252713  e-mail:  tporter@oxford.gov.uk 

 
  

31



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 22 
 

Appendix 2: Proposed new Allocations Scheme 
 
 
 
Table of Contents 
   
Section  Page 
1 Introduction 4 
1.1 Preamble 4 
1.2 Definition of Terms 4 
1.3 Oxford City Council’s Principal Housing Objectives 6 
2 Responsibilities 7 
2.1 The Council’s Responsibilities 7 
 2.1.1  The Legal Framework 7 
 2.1.2 Reasonable Preference 7 
 2.1.3 Additional Preference 7 
 2.1.4 Information Provision 8 
2.2 Equality and Diversity 8 
2.3 Targets and Monitoring 9 
 2.3.1 Annual Lettings Plans 9 
 2.3.2 Local Lettings Plans 10 
 2.3.3 Monitoring the Allocation Scheme 10 
 2.3.4 Statistical Records 10 
2.4 Verification 11 
2.5 Confidentiality 11 
2.6 Applicants’ Responsibilities 12 
 2.6.1 Supplying Information 12 
 2.6.2 False Statements 12 
 2.6.3 Deliberately Altering Circumstances 12 
3 Application and Assessment 13 
3.1 Applying for Social Housing through the Oxford Register 

for Affordable Housing (ORAH) 
13 

3.2 How to Apply 13 
3.3 Eligibility & Qualification  14 
 3.3.1 Who is not Eligible 14 
 3.3.2 Who Qualifies for Inclusion on the 

Housing Register 
15 

 3.3.3 Qualification for Inclusion on the 
General Register List 

15 

 3.3.4 Qualification for Inclusion on the 
Transfer List 

17 

3.4 Who May Not Qualify 18 
 
 
 

3.4.1 
 
3.4.2 
3.4.3 
3.4.4 
3.4.5 
3.4.6 
3.4.7 

Applicants unlikely to be Re-Housed 
due to Financial Circumstances 
Rent Arrears 
Former Tenants with Rent Arrears 
Current Tenants with Rent Arrears 
Unacceptable Behaviour 
Duration of Exclusion for ASB 
Applicants Not Meeting the Eligibility 

18 
 

18 
19 
19 
20 
20 
20 

32



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 23 
 

 &/or Qualification Criteria 
3.5 Household Make Up/Households with Dependents 21 
 3.5.1 

3.5.2 
Children in Care 
Day to Day Residence and 
Parenting Responsibilities 

21 
21 

 3.5.3 Extended Families - Minors 22 
 3.5.4 

3.5.5 
Adult Household Members 
Adding Adults to an Application 

22 
23 

 3.5.6 
3.5.7 

Expectant Mothers 
Fostering 

23 
23 

3.6 
3.7 

Assessment of Housing Need and Priority for Housing 
Calculation of Overcrowding and Under-Occupation 

24 
24 

3.8 Exceptional Circumstances Panel 26 
3.9 Commitment to re-house 28 
3.10 Health and Housing Assessments 28 
3.11 How Applications are Processed 29 
3.12 Re-Registering and Change of Circumstances 30 
4 The Banding Scheme 31 
4.1 Banding 31 
4.2 Band 1  31 
4.3 Band 2  33 
4.4 Band 3  35 
4.5 Band 4  37 
4.6 Band 5  38 
4.7 Compound Needs 39 
4.8 Time Limited Priority 39 
4.9 Date Order 

4.9.1                         Priority Band Start Date 
39 
39 

4.10 Change of Circumstances 40 
5 Choice Based Lettings (CBL) 41 
5.1 Statement on Choice In Allocation 41 
5.2 Assisting Vulnerable Applicants 41 
5.3 Advertising 41 
5.4 Properties in the Choice Based Lettings Scheme 42 
5.5 Advert Labels 43 
5.6 Bidding 46 
5.7 Lettings Cycle 47 
5.8 The Selection Process 47 
 5.8.1 Priority Order 48 
 5.8.2 Shortlists 48 
 5.8.3 Housing Applicants with Rent 

Arrears on the Housing Register 
49 

5.9 Feedback 50 
5.10 Refusals 51 
5.11 Failure to Bid 52 
5.12 Time Limits 52 
5.13 Penalties for Unreasonable Refusals or Non-bidders 52 
 5.13.1 Penalties for Statutory Homeless 

Applicants to whom the Council has 
accepted a homeless duty 

53 

33



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 24 
 

 5.13.2 Penalties for Applicants on the 
General Register & Transfer Lists 

54 

5.14 Properties Not Advertised Through CBL (Direct Offers) 54 
5.15 Temporary Decants 55 
5.16 Hard To Let Properties 55 
5.17 Inter District Moves 55 
5.18 Priority for Local Connection 56 
6 Housing Options 57 
6.1 Housing Options and Choice 57 
6.2 Home Choice 57 
6.3 Private Renting 57 
6.4 HomeBuy and other Low Cost Home Ownership Options 57 
7 Special Circumstances  59 
7.1 Reviews and Appeals 59 
7.2 Under-occupation (and the Removal Expenses and 

Mobility Scheme) 
60 

8 Tenancies which are Treated Separately from the 
Normal Allocations Process 

62 

8.1 Succession 61 
8.2 Assignment 64 
8.3 Mutual Exchange 65 
8.4 Joint to Sole & Sole to Joint Tenancies 65 
 
Appendices 

  

I Classes of Person Ineligible for an Allocation Of Housing 
By Reason of their Immigration Status 

67 

II Officers Roles In Relation to the Allocation of Housing & 
Associated Processes 

68 

III Guideline Calculations for Affordability 72 
   
   

   
   
 
This document forms part of the Policy Framework of Oxford City Council.   
 
Agreed by Council on: tbc  
  
Effective from: tbc 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 25 
 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Preamble 
 
Oxford is an area of high demand for social housing.  There is a scarcity of 
affordable housing, and a high number of people who wish to be housed.  There 
is also a substantial level of homelessness in the City. 
 
Oxford City Council aims to allocate the resources available fairly, objectively 
and systematically. 
 
Oxford City Council has formed a partnership with the major Private Registered 
Providers of Social Housing operating within the City.  This is the Oxford 
Register for Affordable Housing Partnership (ORAH Partnership). The Council 
maintains a common register of social housing on behalf of the Partnership. 
There is a single application process for all housing.  
 
Oxford City Council works within the legal and regulatory framework governing 
the allocation of social housing.  This scheme also takes into account local need 
and demand as well as local housing conditions. 
 
Oxford City Council operates a Choice Based Lettings scheme. This allows 
applicants to have as much choice as possible over where they live, within the 
limits of what types of accommodation they are eligible for.  It is also a system 
which gives a range of information to applicants, allowing their choices to be 
informed and realistic, based on the limits of what stock is available. 
 
This Allocation Scheme is subject to periodic review to ensure that the allocation 
of properties continues to be fair, objective and systematic whilst meeting local 
need and statutory obligations. 
 

1.2 Definition of Terms 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

An Allocation  
 

a) the selection process by which a person becomes a secure or 
introductory tenant of  accommodation held by a housing authority; or 

b) the nomination process by which a person becomes a secure or 
introductory tenant held by another housing authority; or  

c) the nomination process by which a person becomes an assured tenant of 
accommodation held by a Private Registered Provider. 
 

The term ‘assured tenant’ includes a person with an assured shorthold tenancy, 
including of an Affordable Rent property. ‘Secure tenant’ includes a person with 
a flexible tenancy granted under s.107A of the Housing Act 1985. 

 
Bidding 
Applicants expressing an interest in a property where they would like to be 
housed.  An applicant must be eligible for that type of property.  
 

35



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 26 
 

Children 
Children are defined as dependents, in a household, under the age of 18 years 
of age. 
 
Choice Based Lettings 
The advert based system that Oxford City Council uses to let properties. 
Applicants are assessed, properties are advertised and applicants bid for them. 
 
General Register List 
The General Register is the waiting list held by Oxford City Council, on behalf of 
the ORAH Partnership, open to all persons over the age of 18 who are not 
current tenants of Oxford City Council or living in the city as one of our partner   
PRPs’ tenants and who are eligible for an allocation of social housing, excluding 
those persons to whom Oxford City Council owes a duty under the 
homelessness legislation. 
 
General Register Applicants 
People who have been accepted onto the ORAH general register list as being 
eligible to apply for social housing. 
 
Homeless List  
Applicants to whom the Council has accepted a statutory homeless duty living in 
temporary accommodation provided by the Council or on behalf of the Council. 
 
Oxford Register for Affordable Housing (ORAH) 
Instead of the Council and PRPs keeping their own different waiting lists, 
applicants join a single waiting list for housing within Oxford City (ORAH). 
Social housing in the city owned by the Council and its partner PRPs is let 
through the Oxford Register for Affordable Housing.  It is administered by Oxford 
City Council and managed by Oxford City Council and its partners.  
 
Priority Band Start Date 
The date on which an applicant is eligible to be included in Priority Bands 1 to 4. 
and the date used for prioritising order within each of these bands 
 
Registration Date 
The date on which an applicant is eligible to be included within Band 5.  For 
assessed applications added to the Housing Register, this is the date the 
application was received. This is the Priority Band Start Date for applicants 
placed in Band 5.  
 
PRP 
A Private Registered Provider of social housing.  The official name for housing 
associations, housing cooperatives and housing companies that are registered 
with the Homes & Community Agency. 

 
REMS 
The Removal Expenses and Mobility Scheme available to Council tenants living 
in family accommodation seeking to downsize to a smaller property. 
 

36



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 27 
 

Social Housing 
Low cost housing that you rent or part rent/part buy from a council, PRP, charity 
or faith organisation. 

 
Transfer Applicant 
A secure tenant of Oxford City Council or an Assured tenant or Secure tenant of 
one of our partner PRPs who lives in the city and whose application has been 
accepted onto the ORAH Transfer List. 
 

 
1.3 Oxford City Council’s Principal Housing Objectives 

 
 · To allocate housing fairly, consistently and carefully 

· To allocate suitable accommodation to households in housing need 

· To work to meet the Council’s responsibilities to homeless households in 
Oxford and to work to prevent homelessness 

· To provide a high quality service with courteous and efficient staff 

· To make the best use of the Council and our partner PRPs’ stock, and 
any other stock available to us 

· To ensure that empty properties are let quickly and efficiently 

· To promote the widest possible access to housing to residents of Oxford 
or those assessed as having local connection to the City, including 
directing applicants to private rented stock in appropriate circumstances 

· To allow applicants to express choice in selecting their accommodation 
wherever possible (with restrictions for applicants accepted under Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996 who may be made a Private Sector Offer outside 
of the Allocations Scheme by the Housing Team or made a direct offer)  

· To provide clear and easy to understand information to allow applicants to 
make informed choices 

· To set out clear standards so that applicants know what to expect 

· To offer appropriate advice to applicants who we are unable to house, 
including accurate and timely referrals to other agencies 

· To promote sustainable communities 

· To act legally and adopt best practice 

· To review the advice and allocation service with the intention of producing 
continuous improvement 

· To not discriminate against members of the armed forces/former 
members of the armed forces in housing need, with regard to local 
connection  

 
 
  

37



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 28 
 

2 Responsibilities 
 

2.1 The Council’s Responsibilities 
 

2.1.1 The Legal Framework   
 
In framing this allocation scheme, Oxford City Council complies with the relevant 
legislation, including, but not exclusively: the 1985 and 1996 Housing Acts, as 
amended by the Homeless Act 2002; the Equality Act 2010; The Localism Act 
2011 and other Acts specified within this document. The Council also takes due 
account of case law, best practice and government regulations and guidelines, 
such as the Code of Guidance on Allocations and Oxford City Council’s 
Homelessness and Tenancy Strategies. 
 

2.1.2 Reasonable Preference 
 
The Council is required to give reasonable (but not over-riding) preference to the 
following categories of person: 
 

· Those who are homeless within the meaning of Part 7 of the 1996 Act 
(including those who are intentionally homeless and those not in priority 
need)  

· Those who are owed a duty by any housing authority under section 
190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) of the 1996 Act (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) 
of the Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured 
by any housing authority under s.192(3)  

· Those in insanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise living in 
unsatisfactory conditions 

· Those who need to move on medical or welfare grounds, including 
grounds relating to a disability 

· Those who need to move to a particular locality in the district, where 
failure to meet that need would cause hardship to themselves or others 

 
These categories are not discrete, and applicants can fall under different 
categories. 
 

2.1.3 Additional Preference 
 
Under Section 167 (2) of the Housing Act 1996, the Council can give additional 
preference to applicants in urgent need. This means the Council can decide 
which applicants within a particular category should be given the greatest priority 
for housing, and which of the groups should be prioritised over others. 
 
The Council’s Allocations Scheme must also give “additional preference” to a 
person who falls into a reasonable preference group and is considered to have 
urgent housing needs where the person: 
 

· is serving in the regular forces and is suffering from a serious injury, 
illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s 

38



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 29 
 

service, or 
 

· formerly served in the regular forces, or 
 

· has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death of 
that person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces 
and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, or 

 

· is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
the person’s service. 

 

2.1.4 
 
 
 

Information Provision 
 
The Council is required to provide information about Allocations Scheme. 

 The Council will provide a free summary of the Allocation Scheme to any 
member of the public who asks for one. 
 
The Council will provide a full copy of the Allocation scheme, which can be 
inspected at our offices.  The Council will provide a full copy of the Housing 
Allocation Scheme (at a reasonable cost) to any member of the public who asks 
for one. 
 
The full copy and summary are  available on the Council’s website at 
www.oxford.gov.uk 
 

 Personal Information 
 
Applicants have the right to see the information held about them, and receive a 
copy of information held on computer, or on paper file. This is a “subject access 
request” for which the Council charges a reasonable administration fee. 
 
Personal information will be handled in accordance with the Data Protection Act 
1998 and will be subject to appropriate confidentiality.  

  
Additional Information 
 
Applicants have the right to be told in writing if they are considered ineligible for 
housing or do not qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register.  
 
 

2.2 Equality and Diversity 
 

 Oxford City Council: 
 

· Acknowledges and values the diversity of people who live in Oxford 

· Is committed to the promotion of equality of opportunity for all and the 

39



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 30 
 

prevention of discrimination. Oxford City Council aims to promote equal 
opportunities to contribute to a fair and socially inclusive City 

· Recognises the importance of delivering services and running facilities 
that are accessible to all, and where these are managed by the Council 
directly, aims to ensure that no-one will be prevented from accessing 
services and facilities 

· Has produced a housing strategy whereby it has committed to improve its 
monitoring of take up of housing services by different groups    

 
2.3 Targets and Monitoring 

 
2.3.1 Annual Lettings Plans  

 
The Housing Register consists of three-separate housing lists: 

 

· The Homeless List for applicants to whom Oxford City Council has 
accepted a statutory homeless duty and placed in temporary 
accommodation who are waiting an offer of permanent accommodation 
 

· The Transfer List for Council and eligible Housing Association Tenants 
living in Oxford applying for a move to alternative accommodation 
 

· The General Register List for all other households applying for social 
housing in Oxford 

 
The Annual Lettings Plan is designed to set allocation percentages, which are 
targets set by the Council to determine the proportion of social housing offered to 
different lists within the Council’s Housing Register, in order to best balance their 
competing demands and needs. The Head of Housing will approve the Annual 
Lettings Plan setting out the percentage of allocations to be made to each group. 
If any significant changes are proposed the Head of Housing will request the City 
Executive Board to approve these changes (see Appendix II).  
 
Factors take into account in setting the Annual Lettings Plan each year will 
include: 
 
Supply 
 

· The number of properties that are expected to become available to let 
during the year (consisting of re-lets and new build properties) 

 

· The proportion of properties expected to become available to let for               
single-applicants and couples, including designated elderly and sheltered 
accommodation 

 

· The proportion of two-bedroom, three-bedroom and four-bedroom 
properties or larger that are expected to become available to let  
 

 
 

40



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 31 
 

Demand 
 

· The number of applicants in assessed housing need on each Housing List 
waiting for one-bed, two-bed, three-bed and four-bedroom properties or 
larger 

 
2.3.2 Local Lettings Plans  

 
From time to time Oxford City Council may decide to develop Local Lettings 
Plans for specific blocks or areas, in order to develop balanced and sustainable 
communities, particularly where there are new developments of 100 units or 
more.  The decision to implement a local lettings plan will be approved by the 
City Executive Board and be made available for members of the public. 
 
Where local lettings plans are introduced, clear evidence will be required of the 
need to vary the usual policy. The decision will always take into account the 
implications for equal opportunities and consider the “reasonable preference” & 
“additional preference” criteria. A local lettings plan will generally be expected to 
be part of a wider action plan to address the issues in that locality.  
 
Local lettings plans are designed to be time limited, and will be monitored to 
ensure that the plans do not discriminate directly or indirectly on racial or other 
equality grounds and that reasonable preference is given overall to applicants in 
the reasonable preference categories. 
 

2.3.3 Monitoring the Allocation Scheme  
 
Oxford City Council will monitor the allocation outcomes so that targets can be 
altered, should there be a risk that the reasonable preference requirements will 
not be adequately met.  
 

2.3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statistical Records 
 
Statistical records by ethnic origin, gender and disability of those applying for 
and being allocated housing are essential for a proper examination of allocation 
systems, to enable analysis in terms of the type, age, location and quality of 
accommodation applied for and subsequently obtained.  Such monitoring will 
demonstrate whether housing resources are distributed according to need, and 
will highlight any inequality in the allocation of particular property types, or within 
particular areas of the City. 
 
This information is collated on an anonymous basis from data recorded on 
housing application forms. 
 
Records are kept and monitored of the entire allocation process.  The purpose is 
to identify how different groups are receiving and taking up offers and to highlight 
the quality and type of accommodation.  This information will provide an 
indication of the length of time people wait, according to band, bidding patterns 
and refusal rates after viewing.  
 

41



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 32 
 

Diversity and equality monitoring is by self-assessment by the applicant as part 
of the application process.  This includes disability but does not necessarily 
mean that the applicant will be considered for accommodation suitable for 
disabled people.  Such property is usually allocated on the recommendation of 
the Council’s Health and Housing Assessment Panel, or by using other 
assessments, for example, an Occupational Therapist report, and is dependent 
on the type of property and the level of adaptations an applicant is assessed as 
requiring. 
 
 

2.4 Verification 
 

 All documents should be verified in line with the Council’s verification processes 
and anti-fraud processes as appropriate.  
 
 

2.5 Confidentiality  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Confidentiality is about having a professional and lawful approach to handling 
disclosed information. 
 
Information passed on to officers will be handled sensitively. All information 
provided by customers will be held securely under the provisions of current Data 
Protection legislation. 
 
The purpose of information sharing is to: 
 

· Assist in addressing housing need 

· Enable the provision of appropriate assistance and support 

· Combat fraud 

· Improve risk assessment 

· Help create sustainable tenancies 

· Improve communities 
 

Information will be passed on in the following circumstances with the customer’s 
consent.  Disclosure of any sensitive information will have to be authorised by an 
Allocation Officer and will be provided on a need to know basis only. 
 

· Oxford City Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use 
the information provided and match it against other information held by 
the Council and other public bodies, or similar external agencies, for the 
purpose of the prevention or detection of crime and fraud, and to verify 
the information provided. 

· Oxford City Council and other ORAH partners will have consent to make 
such enquiries as is considered necessary in order to assess the 
application, and all other departments, organisations and agencies are 
authorised to provide such information as requested. 

· Oxford City Council and other ORAH partners are consented to share 
information on the application form between themselves, with other 
statutory and voluntary agencies, including other housing providers, 

42



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 33 
 

health trusts, support providers, police, probation, social services and 
other local authorities, where deemed necessary, and/or to provide the 
applicant with advice or assistance regarding their re-housing, or other 
services that may assist the applicant. The Council and other ORAH 
partners will not give information about an applicant to anyone else, 
unless the applicant provides written authorisation to do so. 

 
Customers should note that, where consent is refused, it may not be possible to 
process a housing application and they will not be included on or removed from 
the housing register 
 
Information may be passed on in the following situations without the customer’s 
express consent: 
 

· For the purpose of the prevention or detection of crime and fraud 

· Where not passing on the information is reasonably considered to 
constitute a serious risk to the customer or a third party.  In such cases a 
risk assessment will be conducted and any actions must be proportionate. 

 
2.6 Applicants’ Responsibilities 

 
2.6.1 Supplying Information  

 

· Applicants are responsible for giving full and accurate details on all forms 
and correspondence about their application for housing. 

· Applicants must inform the Council of any change in circumstances 
straight away, especially those which may affect their needs for              
re-housing 

· Applicants should reply to any correspondence from the Council or ORAH 
partnership which needs a reply, within the specified timescales  

· Applicants who are made an offer should let the Council know their 
decision about whether to accept it within the timescale specified 

· If information is not supplied, the Council or an ORAH partner may cancel 
an application or withdraw an offer of housing 

 
2.6.2 False Statements 

 
Applicants who give false or misleading information can be removed from the 
ORAH housing register, and may be liable to prosecution. Tenancies obtained 
as a result of false or misleading statements can be terminated. 
 

2.6.3 Deliberately Altering Circumstances  
 
Applicants have a responsibility not to deliberately worsen their circumstances to 
progress to a higher band. They have the responsibility to make best use of the 
accommodation they have and will be assessed as if this is the case. 
 
Should an applicant give up more suitable accommodation, or where a 
deliberate act results in the worsening of circumstances without good reason, the 
Council may assess the application based on the applicants housing need in 

43



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 34 
 

their previous accommodation, prior to the “deliberate” act. Furthermore, if an 
applicant is not using accommodation that they could reasonably be expected to 
use to improve their housing situation, their housing need and priority they are 
awarded will be assessed as if they are occupying this accommodation. 

 
Applicants considered to have lost previous accommodation due their own 
actions or behaviour, or that of a member of their household or a visitor, may 
also be excluded from the Housing Register. 

 
 

3 Application and Assessment 
 

3.1 Applying for Social Housing through the Oxford Register for Affordable 
Housing (ORAH) 
 

 The ORAH is a single housing register operated by Oxford City Council, together 
with partner Private Registered Providers of Social Housing with stock in the 
City.  The standards and expectations on all parties are set out in a Partnership 
Agreement.  A Partnership Board comprising of senior representatives from the 
City Council and the partner Housing Associations manages the partnership.  
 
There is a single application process with a set of information leaflets to guide 
applicants. These are available from local offices of the ORAH partners.  
Applicants can go to any of these offices for information, advice and support. 
Further information is also available on the Council website including information 
about the Housing Options available in Oxford.  
 

3.2 How to Apply 
 

 New applicants who are not currently tenants of Oxford City Council or one of 
the partner PRPs in Oxford can apply for housing by completing a housing 
application form and supplying additional information to support their application.   
Before applying for housing, applicants are advised to consider other housing 
options that may help improve their housing situation.  Applicants can also seek 
advice on the range of housing solutions that may meet their needs from the 
Housing Options team at the Council. 
 
 

 Older Applicants 
 
There are some Sheltered Schemes in Oxford that are only considered suitable 
for older applicants (see the Sheltered Accommodation section 5.5.5) 
 

 Transfer Applicants 
 
Applicants, who are already tenants of Oxford City Council, or one of its partner 
associations in Oxford City, should approach their own landlord for a transfer 
pack and return the completed form to their landlord.  The landlord will check the 
form and complete a reference before forwarding this onto the Housing Needs 
Team. Transfer applicants are also encouraged to apply for a mutual exchange.  

44



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 35 
 

 
 Joint Applicants  

 
Applications from partners who are cohabiting may be registered as joint 
applicants giving both parties joint and several rights and responsibilities for any 
future tenancy.  Partners include same sex couples. 
 
In some cases one partner may be ineligible due to their immigration status. In 
this case the other partner will be registered as the sole applicant. 
 
Dependents, family members or other adults who are not partners of the 
applicant (such as residential carers) cannot usually be joint applicants. 
 
If joint applicants wish to change to sole applicants (for example due to a 
relationship breakdown) they will need to notify the Council and one of the 
applicants’ will need to make a sole application.  Normally the application will 
continue in the name of a partner with residency and/or parenting 
responsibilities. The remaining applicant can make a new application and may 
be issued with a new registration date.  
 
There are number of other housing options for applicants which are dealt with in 
section 6 
 

3.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Eligibility and Qualification  
 
Only applicants who are eligible for housing and who qualify for an allocation of 
housing will be included on the Council’s housing register and considered for 
offers of accommodation.  Applicants who are not eligible or do not qualify for 
housing will not be included on the housing register.  If an applicant has already 
been included on the housing register and is found to no longer be eligible for 
housing, or to no longer qualify for housing, they will be removed from the 
housing register and notified. 
 
Who is not Eligible  
 
Persons from abroad 
 
A person may not be allocated accommodation under Part 6 if he or she is a 
person from abroad who is ineligible for an allocation under s.160ZA of the 1996 
Act. There are two categories for the purposes of s.160ZA:  
 
(i) a person subject to immigration control - such a person is not eligible for an 
allocation of accommodation unless he or she comes within a class prescribed in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State (s.160ZA(2)), and 
 
(ii) a person from abroad other than a person subject to immigration control - 
regulations may provide for other descriptions of persons from abroad who, 
although not subject to immigration control, are to be treated as ineligible for an 
allocation of accommodation (s.160ZA(4)).  
 

45



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 36 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The regulations setting out which classes of persons from abroad are eligible or 
ineligible for an allocation are the Allocation of Housing and Homelessness 
(Eligibility) (England) Regulations 2006 (SI 2006 No.1294) (’the Eligibility 
Regulations’). 
 
Existing secure and introductory tenants - the Council does not need to question 
eligibility and an allocation can be made regardless of immigration status or 
habitual residence. (Transfer applicants)  
 
Persons who are able to produce evidence of an in time appeal of their leave to 
remain will be treated as though they continue to have leave to remain.   
 
Age of Eligibility 
 
Applicants under the age of 18 who are eligible can only be considered for some 
supported properties held by our PRP partners unless accepted as statutory 
homeless (usually if they have a guarantor) and in other exceptional 
circumstances. 
 

3.3.2 Who Qualifies For Inclusion on the Housing Register? 
 
The sections below provide information on who will normally qualify to be 
included on the Oxford Register for Affordable Housing.  Once on the Housing 
Register, applicants are prioritised in terms of housing need and waiting time. 
However, inclusion on the register does not guarantee an offer of housing, 
as there are many more applicants than properties available. 
 

3.3.3 Qualification For Inclusion On the General Register List 
 
Only applicants who have a local connection to Oxford will qualify to be included 
on the Housing Register.   
 
A local connection is established by way of one or more of the following: 
 

1. The applicant or joint applicant is permanently resident in Oxford and that 
residence is of their own choice. 

 
2. The applicant or joint applicant was previously resident in Oxford as a 

matter of choice and the period of residence was either:  
 

· At least six out of the last twelve months or 
 

· Three out of the last five years 
 

3. The applicant or joint applicant is employed in Oxford for a minimum of 
sixteen hours per week and the employment is not of a short-term or 
temporary nature. 

 
4. The applicant or joint applicant has close family associations with Oxford.  

 

46



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 37 
 

Family association will normally be defined in relation to close relatives 
(i.e. parents, children or siblings) and where there is no estrangement. 
However, other family associations may be taken into account (e.g. 
grandparents, grandchildren and step relations) where there is evidence 
of frequent contact, commitment or dependency.  
 
To qualify, the relatives must live in Oxford now and have been 
continuously resident for a minimum of five years. 

 
With the exception of: 
 

· Applicants aged 60 years or older with no local connection to the 
City assessed as eligible and suitable for sheltered accommodation 

 

· Persons who are serving in the regular forces or have done so in 
the five years preceding their application for an allocation of 
housing accommodation; 

 

· Bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular 
forces where their spouse or partner’s death is attributable (wholly 
or partly) to their service and the bereaved spouse or civil partner’s 
entitlement to reside in Ministry of Defence accommodation then 
ceases; 

 

· Seriously injured, ill or disabled reservists (or former reservists) 
whose injury, illness or disability is attributable wholly or partly to 
their service. 

 

· “Life and Limb” and other exceptional cases that have moved to 
Oxford and approached the Council for housing assistance who 
are considered to be in urgent or exceptional housing need by the  
Exceptional Circumstance Panel.  Such applicants may be allowed 
to qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register at the discretion of 
the Allocations Manager but it is expected these cases to be very 
rare due to the high levels of applicants in housing need with a 
local connection to Oxford already on the Housing Register.  

 

· Homeless clients excluded from the Council’s re-connection policy 
in relation to Rough Sleeping who have no local connection with 
any area may at the discretion of the Allocations Manager be 
included on case by case basis.  

 
 
 
A local connection is not established in situations including, where the applicant 
is: 
 

·  in prison within Oxford  or in a probation hostel  

·  detained in Oxford under the Mental Health Act 

· living in temporary supported accommodation that would normally 

47



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 38 
 

be able to access the “Move-on” scheme within City, but whose 
only connection to Oxford is established through residence in such 
accommodation  

 
 
An applicant on the General Register List or applying to be included on the 
General Register List who would normally fall into to a qualifying group can be 
disqualified under certain circumstances. 
 
 

3.3.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Qualification For Inclusion on the Transfer List  
 
The ORAH transfer list is open to secure tenants of Oxford City Council, and 
secure/assured tenants (including tenants on fixed term tenancies that have 
successfully completed the first year of their tenancy) of one of our partner PRPs 
living in Oxford.   
 
Tenants of our ORAH partners not living in Oxford are not eligible to be included 
on the Transfer List but they can apply for inclusion the General Housing 
Register if they meet the qualification criteria.  
 
Transfer cases are given priority for an allocation of housing on the same basis 
as General Register applicants, each applicant being awarded a band according 
to housing need and taking into consideration both the statutory requirement to 
give reasonable preference to particular groups, and the locally established 
additional preferences, if any, which apply.  
 
Where an applicant is an existing secure tenant of the Council or a secure/ 
assured tenant of a PRP the tenant cannot be disqualified from receiving an 
allocation of housing on the basis of their immigration status - section 160ZA of 
the Housing Act 1996. 
 
There are a number of locally determined additional preferences that, because 
they relate to specific rights of secure and assured tenants, or to the 
management needs of the Council, are applicable only to applicants on the 
Transfer List.  These include additional preference for tenants who are currently 
under-occupying Council or PRP family properties and wish to move to a smaller 
home, and are dealt with in Section 4 of this document. 
 
See also section 7.2 on “under occupation” for details of the Removal Expenses 
and Mobility Scheme (REMS) for Council Tenants applying for a transfer to 
downsize.  
 
An individual applicant on the Transfer List, or applying to be included on the 
Transfer List, who would normally fall into to a qualifying group can be 
disqualified under certain circumstances. 
 
 

  
  

48



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 39 
 

3.4 Who May Not Qualify 
  

Individual Applicants Who May Not Qualify For Inclusion on the Housing 
Register 
 
The Housing Act 1996 s.160ZA (amended by the Localism Act 2011) states that 
social housing may only be offered to a qualifying persons and the Council is 
given the power determine what classes of person are or are not qualified to be 
allocated social housing under s.160ZA.    
 
Where the behaviour of an applicant or a member of the applicant’s household is 
unacceptable, as described above; or where the applicant has not demonstrated 
financial responsibility; the Council may not register the application. 

 
The Allocations Manager may exclude an applicant whose behaviour has been 
unacceptable. The reasons can include rent arrears and anti-social behaviour. 
 
 

3.4.1 Applicants Unlikely to be Re-Housed due to Financial Circumstances 
 

 The Council may take into account the financial circumstances of housing 
applicants (including existing tenants living in social housing) and/or those who 
fall into one or more of the reasonable or additional preference groups within the 
Allocations Scheme, when considering if an applicant qualifies for inclusion on 
the Housing Register.  Social housing in Oxford is a scarce resource, and those 
applicants with sufficient resources to secure alternative forms of 
accommodation without undue hardship may be excluded from the Housing 
Register. (See Appendix III). 
 

3.4.2 Rent Arrears 
 
The Council and the other ORAH partners treat the non-payment of rent very 
seriously.   
 
Rent arrears are defined as including any money owed to Oxford City Council, 
another Local Authority, a PRP or a Private Landlord in the form of non-payment 
of rent, former tenant arrears, hostel charges, chargeable repairs (including any 
deductions from deposits paid for by the Council’s Private Sector Team where 
the damage is considered to be wilful or unreasonable) and associated 
Possession Order court costs.  Amounts under £200, when combined, may be 
disregarded for this purpose.  
Housing applicants with rent arrears will fall into one or both of the categories 
below: 
 

· Former tenants – with property related debts relating to a property/or 
properties where they have previously lived 

· Current tenants – with property related debts relating to where they  
currently live 

 
Where a housing applicant has rent arrears they may be excluded from 

49



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 40 
 

qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register.   
 
3.4.3 

 
Individual applicants that have previously held a tenancy and meet one or 
more of the following criteria will not normally qualify for inclusion on the 
Housing Register and will be excluded where they are: 
 
(1) A former tenant of the Council, another Local Authority or a PRP and 
have been evicted from, or given up their former property, owing rent arrears and 
still have unpaid rent arrears outstanding (which are legally recoverable) and 
have not been re-paid in full. 
 

 
 

(2) A former tenant of a Private Landlord and  have been evicted from, or 
given up their former property, owing rent arrears in excess of 2 months or more 
(which are legally recoverable) and have not been re-paid in full.  This includes 
the loss or partial loss of a deposit paid for the by Private Sector Team due to   
re-charges caused by wilful or unreasonable damage to a property (not due to 
reasonable wear and tear).  
 
NB Criminal damage to a property is covered under ASB. 
 
Where a former tenant has been excluded from the housing register and still 
owes rent arrears that have not been re-paid in full they will not usually qualify 
for inclusion on the housing register until the Council is satisfied that they have 
proved they are suitable to become a tenant.  Suitability can be demonstrated by 
the applicant making a reasonable re-payment agreement with the landlord, and 
adhering to it consistently for at least 12 months. The exclusion may be            
re-imposed where an applicant who has kept to a re-payment arrangement later 
defaults after being included on the housing register.  
 

 
3.4.4 

 
Individual applicants that  currently hold a tenancy and meet one or more 
of the following criteria will not normally qualify for inclusion on the 
Housing Register and will be excluded where they are: 
 
(1) A tenant of The Council, another Local Authority or a PRP where a Court 
Possession Order has been issued regarding rent arrears, the tenant is in 
breach of the Court Order and/or on-going action is being taken to evict the 
tenant.  

 
 (2) A tenant of a private sector landlord where a Court Possession Order has 

been issued regarding rent arrears, the tenant is in breach of the Court Order 
and/or on-going action is being taken to evict the tenant.  

    
 
 
 
 

If an applicant with rent arrears has been allowed to join, or remain on, the 
Housing Register they will not normally be considered for an offer of 
housing until they have demonstrated they are suitable to be a potential 
tenant and have paid their arrears in full or maintained a satisfactory 
payment arrangement for a reasonable period of time (see section 5.8.3). 
 

  

50



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 41 
 

3.4.5 Unacceptable Behaviour 
 
Oxford City Council and its ORAH partners take anti-social behaviour very 
seriously.   
 
Individual applicants where they, or members of their household, meet one 
or more of the following criteria will not normally qualify for inclusion on 
the Housing Register and will be excluded: 
 

· Applicants who have been evicted from a Council, PRP or private rented 
property, for illegal subletting or antisocial behaviour.  

· Breach of tenancy for behaviour which is a nuisance or annoyance to 
those in the locality of the dwelling; or conviction for using the dwelling for 
immoral or illegal purposes or committing an indictable offence in the 
dwelling, house, or in the locality of it 

· Domestic violence causing a partner or other family member to leave the 
property 

· Deterioration of the dwelling house or furniture provided for use under the 
tenancy due to waste, neglect or fault 

· Tenancy induced by false statement 

· Housing applicants or members of their household who are considered by 
the Council responsible  for serious ASB 

· Housing applicants or household members or who permit visitors that 
cause serious ASB.  

 
Exceptions may be made by the Allocations Manager if there is persuasive 
evidence that behaviour has been amended and another tenancy has been 
successfully maintained. 
 

3.4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.4.7 

Duration of Exclusion for ASB 
 
Where an applicant has been dis-qualified for inclusion on the Housing Register: 
 

1. For unregistered applications the sanction for anti-social behaviour will 
normally last for a minimum period of 5 years, after which the applicant 
must be able to prove that the exclusion is no longer valid 

 
 

2. Where an applicant’s circumstances change significantly they may 
reapply.  

 
WHERE AN OFFENCE HAS BEEN COMMITTED WHICH POTENTIALLY COMPROMISES 

ANOTHER PERSON’S SAFETY, THIS CONDITION MAY BE INDEFINITE PENDING REVIEW 
 
Applicants Not Meeting the Eligibility &/or Qualification Criteria  
 
Applicants that do not meet the eligibility &/or qualification criteria to be included 
on the Housing Register will be notified of the reasons in writing.  
 
Applicants no longer meeting the eligibility or qualification criteria will be 

51



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 42 
 

removed from the register, and notified in writing of the reason(s) why their 
application has been cancelled.  
 
Applicants have the right to a review of this decision (see reviews and appeals). 
 

  
3.5 Household Make-up/ Households with Dependants 

 
3.5.1 Children in Care 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Where care is: 
 

· Compulsory: children are treated as though at home, subject to written 
confirmation from Social and Community Services that the children are to 
live with the parents on a permanent basis should they be allocated a 
suitable property. Failing such confirmation, children should not be 
included on the application 

 

· Voluntary, children are treated as though at home 
 
No offer should be made in either case without confirmation from Social and 
Community Services that the children are to live on a permanent basis with their 
parent(s) 
 

3.5.2 Day To Day Residence and Parenting Responsibilities  
 
In making an assessment of whether a child can legitimately appear on an 
application, officers should seek to determine who the child normally lives with 
by looking at the circumstances.  The courts have held for instance that where 
children have social housing available with one parent it would only be in 
exceptional circumstances that another unit of accommodation would be made 
available.  A child could live with its parents on a split week basis.  The same 
child may therefore legitimately appear on two applications but this would be 
exceptional. In such cases, the tests bellow should be used, evidence for this 
must be available, for example a written agreement and/or sanction of Social 
and Community Services, or a residence order from the Courts.  However, these 
are not determinative. The assessment can for example “look behind” a 
residence order to establish what the practicalities of the child care are such as 
taking the children to school, looking after them in school holidays and so on.  In 
the absence of documentary evidence an investigation would be required to 
determine who cares for the child, takes them to school etc. A similar test to that 
contained in part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 should be used: 
 

- Does the child currently reside with the applicant? 
- Is the child dependent on the applicant? 
- Is it reasonable in the circumstances for the child to reside with the 

applicant?  
 

Generally, weekend access will not count as day-to-day residence.  The 
applicant must have significant day-to-day parenting responsibilities. As a rule of 

52



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 43 
 

thumb, this would be for a minimum of three days and nights. 
 
Possible types of documentary evidence which will be considered are: 

 

· A parental responsibility order from a court 

· A residence order  

· Proof of receipt of current child benefit 

· Legal guardianship 
 
Generally there is a distinction between married /divorced parents and those 
formerly cohabiting. 
 

· Where parents are or have been married there will often be a Residence 
order settling the arrangements as to where a child will live. 

· Unmarried fathers may acquire parental responsibility by inclusion on the 
child’s birth certificate, Residence Orders or making a written Parental 
responsibility agreement with the mother. This should be formalised by 
completing a signed agreement via a solicitor, which is then registered 
with the Family Division of the High Court. 

 
Officers may discuss individual cases with senior officers in the first instance, 
and seek guidance from Oxford City Council Legal Services if required. 
 

3.5.3 Extended Families – Minors 
 
In cases where a minor is to be included in, or added to an application, but no 
parental responsibility exists within the household (e.g. grandchildren, nieces, 
nephews), proof must be obtained of legal guardianship or confirmation from 
Children and Family Services that this action is necessary and permanent 
 

3.5.4 Adult Households Members 
 
The Council seeks to make the best use of the very limited amount of family 
properties becoming available and will normally only offer family properties to 
households with dependent children.  
 
Adults aged 18 years or older requesting re-housing will normally be expected to 
apply separately for inclusion on the Housing Register and not be included on 
another applicant’s housing application as a household member unless they are 
applying as a joint applicant with their partner. This includes adult students 
studying and living elsewhere. 
 
 
Established Household Members  

 
Persons may request to continue to be considered as part of the household after 
they reach the age of 18 years of age, if they still reside with the applicant, and 
wish to continue to do so, and have continually resided within the household as a 
child up to that point.  However, the Council reserves the right to exclude adult 
household members where they are not considered a permanent member of the 

53



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 44 
 

household, are considered to have sufficient funds to resolve their own housing 
situation (see Appendix III), have been responsible for Anti-Social Behaviour or 
where it is not considered reasonable by the Council for the adult to continue to 
be included on the applicant’s housing application, for example older adult 
members.   

 
Any adults excluded from an applicant’s household will not be “counted” for the 
purposes of assessing the size of property they require or when assessing their 
housing need, such as any overcrowding they may be experiencing.  

 
Persons aged 18 years or older may be required to provide a statement 
regarding their financial circumstances on request – failure to do so will result in 
them being excluded from applicant’s housing application.   

 
3.5.5 

 
Adding Adults To An Application  
 
Adults should not be added to an application where this results in the need for 
larger accommodation than for which the applicant’s household was originally 
eligible, unless an over-riding need such as ill health or disability can be shown 
(for example, where an applicant needs to look after an elderly parent and live 
with the parent to provide full-time care, or where a new partner requires a 
separate bedroom).  Such cases must be thoroughly investigated, and discretion 
rests with the Options/Allocation Officers in the first instance.  
 
The desire to be part of the household is not sufficient reason for inclusion on the 
application in these circumstances.  
 
Adults requiring an extra bedroom must only to be added to an application if they 
have a demonstrable need to live with the applicant and if they plan to make 
their long-term home on a permanent basis with the applicant. 
 
Applicants who require a full time residential carer may include the carer on their 
application. Proof of the requirement should be sought from Social and 
Community Services or a primary health care professional. The carer should be 
assessed as part of the household even if not resident (i.e. lack of bedroom 
priority may be due) if 24-hour care is required.  The requirement for a separate 
bedroom should be recorded so that the household is eligible for the correct size 
of property. 
 

3.5.6 Expectant Mothers  
 
Expectant mothers should provide a MATB1 form or other adequate proof of 
pregnancy from a health professional (followed by a MATB1 form). Expectant 
mothers will be placed in an appropriate band based on their current housing 
circumstances.  The unborn child will not be ‘counted’ as a member of the 
household, for assessing over-crowding, until proof is received by the Council 
that the child has been born. 
 

3.5.7 Fostering 
 

54



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 45 
 

Families undertaking long term fostering may be able to include foster children 
as part of their application to ensure that they are eligible for the appropriate 
sized property.  Long term fostering is normally defined as being fostering for a 
period in excess of three years (not necessarily involving the same child or 
children).  In exceptional circumstances fostering for less than 3 years will be 
considered where a long term relationship is evidenced – in such cases the 
Exceptional Circumstance Panel will consider whether to allow the child to be 
included on the housing application. It is essential that written confirmation of the 
fostering arrangement be obtained from Children and Family Services.  
Consideration will be given to this in assessing the application.  This does not 
apply to households living in temporary accommodation to which the Council has 
accepted a statutory homeless duty.   
Short term fostering is discounted.   
 
Due to changes introduced by the Welfare Reform act and the new “bedroom 
tax”, before an offer of family accommodation is made to an applicant on a low 
income with foster children, the Council will need to be satisfied that the 
applicant is able to pay any shortfall in rent that may be due from the applicant 
due to the “bedroom tax”. Foster children are not normally “counted” as 
household members under the new “bedroom tax” rules (but this may change).  
 

3.6 Assessment of Housing Need and Priority for Housing 
  

All applications require officer assessment before being entered onto the 
Housing Management Information System (HMIS). This section gives information 
and guidance on matters relating to the assessment process. It is vital that such 
assessments are carried out correctly, as an incorrect assessment could affect 
an applicant’s banding position, and therefore the applicant’s priority. 
 
As a general principle, applicants/household members can only be registered on 
one application at any given time. However, there may be situations relating to 
the care of children where individuals are recorded on two applications. 
Household formation will be determined on the basis of evidence provided (it is 
the responsibility of applicants to make such evidence available). 
 
If an applicant moves address, it is their responsibility to notify the Council as 
soon as practicably possible, and usually within 28 days.  In such cases, a new 
application form should be completed, and the application re-assessed. 
 
All applicants within Oxford City are expected to have normally been visited, at 
least once, by an ORAH officer or another member of staff from the Council, 
before an offer of permanent accommodation is made. Applicants applying from 
outside Oxford City will usually have their circumstances verified by their own 
Local Authority, or if they are a tenant in Social Housing, by their current 
landlord.  
 

3.7 Calculation of Overcrowding and Under-Occupation 
 

 Definition of Bedroom Usage 
 

55



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 46 
 

Assessing bedroom usage is a major element in determining an applicant’s 
current circumstances and determines what the situation could be, rather than 
how resources are currently being used. 
 
An award of priority is given for each bedroom lacking in the applicants current 
accommodation, based on this assessment. 
 
The two key aspects that must always be considered are:  
 
The Best Use Principle - The best use should be made of the bedroom 
resources available so that, for example, a bedroom used for storage should be 
counted as a bedroom available for use as defined by this principle.  
 
The Control Principle - There may be sufficient bedrooms in a property but the 
applicant cannot control how the bedrooms are actually used.  They may, for 
instance, be lodgers or living with a family who control how bedrooms are used. 
 
The most common issues relating to bedroom usage are listed below:  
 

· Studios - Count as having a bedroom, lacking a living room 
 

· Bedroom availability - Bedrooms available must be counted, even if not 
used.  If claimed not used because unfit for use, advice of the 
Environmental Health Department must be sought 
 

· Sharing a bedroom with non – applicant(s) - Counts as lacking a bedroom 
 

· Size of bedrooms - Bedroom under 4.2 square metres (45 sq ft) 
discounted 

 

· Best Use (mixture of sexes) - If bedrooms can be better used, assume 
they are for assessment purposes 

 

· Need for carer - Where there is a recognised need for a full-time 
residential carer, then notionally a second bedroom may be lacking for the 
carer in the current accommodation. Priority can be awarded for the lack of 
this bedroom 
 

· Under-occupiers - Under occupying transfer applicants in two bed or larger 
family properties, may be eligible for incentives to transfer to smaller 
properties 

 

· ‘Exceptional’ cases* – Some cases that have been awarded a priority 
award by the Exceptional Circumstances Panel may be made eligible to 
under-occupy a property, by decision of the panel, where the panel 
considers that the existing housing circumstances of a transfer applicant 
should not be disadvantaged by having to move    
   

· Decant cases* – Transfer Applicants requiring a permanent decant move 
can maintain their existing bedroom number, even if they are not eligible 

56



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 47 
 

for this size of property due to their current circumstances 
       

· Succession cases* – Where a legal successor to a three bedroom, or 
larger, property is required to move to smaller accommodation, they may 
be allowed one additional bedroom more than they would normally be 
eligible for, at the discretion of the Allocations Manager 

 
* Due to the introduction of the “bedroom tax” by the Welfare Reform Act 
applicants including the cases above will not normally be able to move to a 
property where they are under-occupying a property unless they are exempt 
from the “bedroom tax” or the Council is satisfied they will be able to afford the 
shortfall in rent.  

 
The following rules will be used to decide whether a household has either too 
many or too few bedrooms available for its use when assessing priority. 
 
Each of the following will be considered to require their own bedroom 
 

· Each couple or a single applicant 
 

· Each additional adult (aged eighteen and over) considered eligible to be 
part of the household 

 

· Two children of the same sex aged under 16. 
 

· Two children of the opposite sex aged under 10 
 

· Any other child 
 

3.8 Exceptional Circumstances Panel (ECP) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Exceptional Circumstances Panel for the ORAH partnership is the body 
responsible for making priority awards to applicants whose circumstances are 
not otherwise adequately covered by the Banding Scheme (see Section 4).  The 
Exceptional Circumstances Panel will hear evidence about exceptional cases of 
housing need. 
 
The banding scheme has been devised to take account of most circumstances, 
but there will sometimes be applicants in exceptional circumstances, or whose 
needs are complex and cannot be accommodated by the banding scheme. 
 
The objectives of the Exceptional Circumstances Panel are as follows: 
 

· To make evidence based assessments of exceptional cases of housing 
need 

· To make evidence based assessments of cases of complex need 

· To award additional priority within the banding scheme, where appropriate 

· To make decisions on whether to give a “commitment to re-house” to 
previous ORAH partner tenants within Oxford who have surrendered, or 

57



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 48 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

tenants who are about to surrender, their tenancies 

· To ensure a fair and transparent process  

· To comply with the statutory requirement to give reasonable preference to 
particular groups 

· To assist in making the best use of the housing stock available to the 
ORAH partnership 

· To assist in achieving the aims of settled communities and sustainable 
tenancies 

 
The Exceptional Circumstances panel will: 
 

· Hear and assess evidence about applicants on the Oxford Register for 
Affordable Housing 

· Make awards as appropriate 

· Impose conditions on awards as appropriate 

· Give advice as appropriate, including alternatives to be pursued  

· Be overseen and monitored by the ORAH partnership board 
 
The Exceptional Circumstances Panel will usually meet monthly.  In cases of 
emergency, where there is a threat to ‘life and limb’ the panel will be available to 
convene within 24 hours. 
 
Referrals, in the first instance, can be made by officers within the Housing & 
Property Team including the Housing Needs Team or by their equivalents in our 
partner PRPs. Self-referral by applicants or their representatives is not possible.   
 
Applicants should provide evidence to the referring officer, in the first instance, to 
support their application to the Exceptional Circumstances Panel.  This can 
include (though not exclusively): a summary of events which led up to the 
application being made; reports from police; education professionals; social and 
community services, or other agencies involved with the case; details of any 
action being taken against alleged perpetrators, if applicable, and a proposal for 
future action to resolve the situation.  Independent evidence must be produced 
for the Panel to be able to review the case.  If not satisfied that there is adequate 
evidence the officer may decide not to refer until there is. 
 
Any additional priority awarded by the Exceptional Circumstances Panel will be 
made for a minimum of 3 months in the first instance, with a date set for review 
by the panel.  The Panel can impose other conditions, for example, ensuring that 
victims of domestic violence are not being re-housed in areas where there they 
are at risk.  The applicant’s circumstances will be monitored and the award can 
be renewed if appropriate, or withdrawn where the applicant’s circumstances 
have changed, making them ineligible for the award.  In cases where suitable 
properties have been advertised but the applicant has failed to place a bid, a 
direct offer may be made or the case referred back to the panel, for the panel to 
consider removing the original award. If an applicant is made a reasonable offer 
of accommodation and refuses the case may also be referred back to the panel 
to consider whether the award should be moved.  
 
The Exceptional Circumstances Panel will consist of senior officers from the City 

58



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 49 
 

Council (and sometimes other ORAH partners) 
 
The Exceptional Circumstances Panel can make the following awards: 
 

· Exceptional Priority (Band 1) 

· Urgent Social or Welfare Needs Priority (Band 2) 

· Significant Social or Welfare Needs Priority (Band 3) 

· Moderate Social or Welfare Needs Priority (Band 4) 
 
Housing Needs Officers using the set protocols may make an award of Moderate 
Social or Welfare Needs Priority (Band 4) see Appendix II.  
 

3.9 Commitment to Re-house 
 

 This ‘award’ may be made by the Exceptional Circumstances Panel as part of a 
‘negotiated surrender’ of a social tenancy by the tenant.  Applicants awarded a 
commitment to re-house are likely to be awarded an Urgent Social & Welfare 
Award and placed in Band 2 by the Exceptional Circumstance Panel. Conditions 
may be imposed on the award. The award will not normally be open ended and 
time restrictions will normally be placed on any commitment to re-house. 
 
The purpose of this, is to give tenants, who may be unable to sustain their 
tenancy in the short term, the assurance that if they surrender the tenancy, they 
can be given increased priority on the housing register should they reapply when 
they are better able to manage a tenancy again.  Such an agreement may be 
appropriate where elderly or unwell tenants are struggling to maintain a tenancy, 
and need a period of hospitalisation, respite care, or residential rehabilitation. 
 
Should the panel make this award, the Manager Responsible for Allocations is 
delegated to apply the award should the person subsequently apply for housing 
to Oxford City Council, and if the Manager Responsible for Allocations is 
satisfied that the applicant is ready to take up and sustain a tenancy again. 
 
 

3.10 Health and Housing Assessments (HAHA) 
 

 The Health and Housing Assessment Panel is the body responsible for making 
priority awards to applicants whose health is either detrimentally affected by their 
housing or where it is likely to affect their future housing need, and whose 
circumstances are not otherwise adequately covered by the Banding Scheme 
(see Section 4). 
 
The objectives of the Health and Housing Assessment Panel are as follows: 
 

· To make the best use of the social rented housing stock 

· To make evidence based assessments of priority for housing where it is 
affected by health or disability 

· To increase consistency of assessment 

· To improve efficiency 

· To improve partnership working 

59



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 50 
 

· To reduce the number of letters received from health care professionals 
 

Oxford City Council and the Primary Health Care Trusts have an agreed method 
of assessing health and housing and all applications with a potential impact on 
health will be assessed through this.  This process seeks to determine both 
housing requirements as well as relative priorities of applicants, and to consider 
whether any other options could address the issue. 
 
The Health and Housing Assessment Panel can make the following awards: 
 

· Urgent Health or Disability Need(s)  (Band 2) 

· Significant Health or Disability Need(s)  (Band 3) 

· Moderate Health or Disability Need(s)  (Band 4) 
 
Housing Needs Officers, using the set protocols, may also make an award of a 
Significant (Band 3) or Moderate Health (Band 4). See Appendix II. 
 
Where a household has more than one person with a health need, the HAHA 
Panel (or Housing Needs Officers following the HAHA protocol) should award 
the applicant’s household the highest appropriate band.  Applicants may not 
move up to another band because more than one person is suffering a    
housing-related health issue.  If Housing Needs Officers, or the HAHA Panel, 
feel that this award is inadequate given the multiple needs of the applicant’s 
household, the matter may be escalated to the ECP.  If the applicant requests a 
review based on multiple housing-related health needs of the household, the 
matter should also be escalated to the ECP. 
 

3.11 How Applications are Processed 
 

 Once an application has been accepted at a local office it is sent through to the 
Housing Needs Team.  This is done by hand, by courier or by recorded delivery 
to ensure safe arrival.  In the future applicants may be required to normally apply 
on-line and assistance will be available should help be required to do this.  
 
Once received in the team, applications are logged on to the database system 
and assessed by a Housing Needs Officer.  The forms include a number of 
‘trigger’ questions that may prompt, for example, a support needs assessment or 
health and housing assessment.  Once the housing needs team has received an 
application and any supporting information required the Council will seek to 
assess an application within 10 working days.  
 
Once assessed, applications are put into a Housing Need Priority Band (see 
Section 4) and the applicant will receive notification of their banding, the reason 
for it and the Registration Date (and Priority Band Start Date, if the applicant is 
placed in Bands 1 to 4). Applicant’s not considered eligible and/or to qualify for 
inclusion the Housing Register will be notified.  If in the future an applicant is no 
longer considered eligible and/or to qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register 
they will be notified and removed the Housing Register.  
 
The Housing Needs team will maintain the database until the applicant is housed 

60



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 51 
 

or resolves their housing situation.  This includes updating changes of 
circumstance, and carrying out regular reviews of the list. 
 

3.12 Re-registering and Change of Circumstances 
 

 Applicants must re-register periodically when they are sent a review form.  If the 
form is not returned by the date stated on the review form the application will be 
cancelled.    
 
Applicants have a responsibility to ensure they inform the council of any changes 
in their circumstances, such as someone joining or leaving the household, by 
notifying the Housing Needs Team in writing.  If an applicant moves house they 
need to complete a new application form so that their housing need can be  
re-assessed.  Where applicants’ circumstances change they should inform the 
Council promptly within 28 days (or as soon as practicably possible if they have 
exceptional circumstances where it is not possible to inform the Council sooner) 
so their housing need can be re-assessed based on their new circumstances.   
If an applicant is unsure whether a change in their circumstances needs to be 
reported, they should contact the Housing Needs team, or make an appointment 
to visit the Council.  
 
Where a General Register applicant moves and notifies the Council within 28 
days their Housing Application will be treated as continuous and they will retain 
their original registration date, however, their Priority Band Start Date 
may change if their housing need has changed and they move into/or within one 
of Bands 1 to 4 (see section 4.10).  Any applicants that move will have their 
housing need re-assessed based on their new circumstances and their priority 
band may change.  General Register applicants failing to notify Oxford City 
Council within 28 days of a change of their address, will have their Housing 
Application cancelled and will be removed from the General Register unless they 
have exceptional circumstances (see above).  In such circumstances if an 
applicant re-applies for housing in the future (after 28 days of moving) their 
registration date and Priority Band Start Date will be the date their new 
application is received and the application will not treated as continuous.   

  

61



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 52 
 

4 The Banding Scheme 
 

4.1 Banding 
 
Once accepted as eligible and qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register by 
the Council, applicants will be placed in one of the five bands, which have been 
designed to reflect broad categories of housing need. The Banding scheme 
enables the Councils and other ORAH partners to meet their legal responsibilities 
for housing and also provides a fair and easily understood way of selecting 
applicants to receive offers of accommodation.   
 
Some applicants’ circumstances may make them eligible to be placed in more 
than one band.  In this case, they will normally be placed in the highest band for 
which they are eligible.  
 

 

4.2 Band 1 (Exceptional Housing Need) 

4.2.1 Exceptional Circumstances 

 

Any applicant awarded this priority by the Exceptional Circumstances Panel, 
where there is an immediate risk to health and safety, complex needs cases, 
‘place of safety’ cases or other exceptional or emergency needs. 
 
This category is intended to be reserved for only the most urgent cases. This 
includes cases where rehousing is needed to protect the health or safety of the 
applicant or a member of their family, where there are complex needs, ‘place of 
safety’ cases etc. This could include the immediate threat of domestic violence 
and any other “life and limb cases”. 
 
The award of Exceptional Circumstances priority will normally be time limited (to 
3 or 6 months) and priority will be reviewed at the end of the period. 
 

4.2.2 Under-occupying by Two or More Bedrooms 

 

Council tenants or other ORAH partner tenants living in Oxford with an assured 
or secure tenancy, who will be giving up permanent family accommodation with 
at least two bedrooms more than they require. 
  
Applicants should check whether they are eligible for any incentive schemes to 
assist with the cost of removals and associated expenses being operated by their 
landlord.  See section 7.2 for more details and the assistance available to 
downsizing Council tenants through the Removal Expenses & Mobility Scheme. 
 

  

62



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 53 
 

4.2.3 Decants and other Housing Management Moves 

 

Council tenants, or tenants of partner Private Registered Providers living in 
Oxford, who need to move because refurbishment or repairs* are due to be 
carried out, which cannot be done with the tenant living there and who have been 
awarded ‘decant’ status by the Manager Responsible for Allocations. 
 
Awards of this priority will be time limited. Transfer applicants would normally 
qualify for this status 6 months before they are required to vacate the property. At 
the end of the six months the Council may decide to make a direct offer, if the 
applicant has not been successful in bidding for a suitable property.  This would 
not prevent an applicant from registering for a transfer at any time before this and 
being assessed on their current circumstances. 
 

4.2.4 Successor Tenants  

 

These fall into two categories: 
 

· Legal successors other than spouses or civil partners  

· Policy successors i.e. Applicants (close family members) who would have 
been entitled to succeed to the tenancy but for the fact that one 
succession has taken place already 

 
In both instances priority will usually be awarded where: 
 

· they are occupying a property with adaptations for a disabled person which 
they do not need, or 

· they are occupying a property larger than they would qualify for under the 
allocation policy, or 

· where occupying the property gives the benefit of facilities and or services for 
which they would otherwise not qualify. 

 
Legal successors will qualify as transfer applicants and policy successors will be 
classified as general register applicants for the purposes of the Allocations 
Scheme. 
 

4.2.5 Prohibition/ Demolition Notices 

 

Households where a statutory notice of prohibition or demolition has been issued 
by the Environmental Health department and it is not possible to remedy the 
defects in a reasonable time. 
 

4.2.6 Statutory Overcrowding 

 
Households where the level of overcrowding exceeds the statutory limit. 
 
 

63



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 54 
 

4.3 Band 2 (Urgent Housing Need)  

4.3.1 Urgent Social or Welfare Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having an urgent need to move on social or welfare 
grounds and awarded this priority by the Exceptional Circumstances Panel. 
Including applicants assessed as being in urgent housing needs where the 
applicants: 
 

· formerly served in the regular forces, or 

· has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death of 
that person’s spouse or civil partner who has served in the regular forces 
and whose death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service, or 

&  
This may also include applicants assessed as:  

· serious harassment cases  

· having multiple needs not already covered by other band categories 

· urgently needing to move to give or receive care or support  
 

4.3.2 Urgent Health or Disability Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having an urgent need to move because of a health 
problem or disability, and awarded this priority by the Health and Housing 
Assessment Panel. Including applicants assessed as being in urgent housing 
need where the applicant: 
 

· is serving in the regular forces and is suffering from a serious injury, illness 
or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to the person’s service, 
or 

· is serving or has served in the reserve forces and is suffering from a 
serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable (wholly or partly) to 
the person’s service. 

   

4.3.3 Under-occupation by One Bedroom  

 

Council tenants, or tenants of another ORAH partner living within Oxford, with an 
assured or secure tenancy, who will be giving up permanent family 
accommodation with one bedroom more than they require.  
 
Applicants should check whether they are eligible for any incentive schemes to 
assist with the cost of removals and associated expenses being operated by their 
landlord.  See section 7.2 for more details and the assistance available to 
downsizing Council tenants through the Removal Expenses & Mobility Scheme 
(REMS). 
 
 
 
 
 

64



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 55 
 

4.3.4 Move-on 

 

 
Applicants who have been assessed as ready to move-on from supported 
accommodation, including: 
 

· Applicants from voluntary sector hostels and move-on projects (including 
the Oxford Young Parents Project)  

 

· Care leavers: applicants who are former “relevant children” as defined by 
the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2002 

 
Applicants will be awarded this band category in accordance with the protocols of 
the council, when the council is satisfied that the applicant is ready to move to 
secure independent housing and that on-going support will be in place where this 
is needed to sustain the tenancy.  
 
Quota arrangements may be used to ensure a minimum supply of vacancies 
suitable for those ready to move on from supported housing 
 
 

4.3.5 Overcrowding by 2 or more Bedrooms Short 

 Families assessed as being two or more bedrooms short of their needs 

4.3.6 Band 3 Upgrade 

 

Any applicant who qualifies for two or more compoundable categories in Band 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

65



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 56 
 

4.4 Band 3 (Significant Housing Need) 

4.4.1 Priority Homeless (not compoundable) 

 

Existing applicants living in homeless temporary accommodation accepted as 
homeless by the Council under s.193 of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
 
Existing applicants living in private rented accommodation accepted as homeless 
by the Council under s.195A of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 where: 
 
If within two years beginning with the date on which an applicant accepts an offer 
under section 193 the applicant re-applies in the first incidence of homelessness 
for accommodation, or for assistance in obtaining accommodation, and the 
Council is: 
 

· satisfied that the applicant is homeless and eligible for assistance,  
and  

· satisfied that the applicant did not became homeless intentionally,  
regardless of whether the applicant has a priority need 
and 

· a valid notice under section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 (orders for 
possession on expiry or termination of assured shorthold tenancy) has 
been given the applicant will be awarded this priority from the date the 
section 21 was issued.  

 

4.4.2 Significant Social or Welfare Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having a significant level of social or welfare need arising 
from their housing situation, and awarded this priority by the Exceptional 
Circumstances Panel 
 

4.4.3 Significant Health or Disability Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having a significant level of housing need as a result of 
health problems or a disability, and awarded this priority by the Health and 
Housing Assessment Panel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

66



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 57 
 

4.4.4 Unsatisfactory Housing: Level 1 

 

Applicants living in sub-standard accommodation that a qualified officer has 
assessed as a category 1 hazard, where repair is not possible or it is not practical 
in a reasonable timescale. 
 
Applicants living in homes lacking the use of one or more of: 
A kitchen (or cooking facilities)*, a bathroom, an inside WC, running water, or 
electricity will usually be deemed to meet this criteria. 
 
Applicants whose existing housing is of a low standard will have their need 
assessed against the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (known as 
HHSRS). In the most urgent cases, or where an inspection is needed, the 
assessment will be carried out by an Environmental Health Officer or other 
qualified officer. 
  
A Category 1 Hazard is a defect where the consequences could include serious 
harm to applicants. For example: accommodation lacking any bathroom facilities, 
cooking facilities, or a water supply. The band category will not be awarded, if it is 
possible for repairs or other remedial action to be carried out within a reasonable 
timescale. Where a landlord has been served with an improvement notice but 
remedial work has not been carried out, the Council may decide to award priority 
at its discretion. 
 
* Persons living in Move-on Hostel accommodation, where meals are available, 
are excluded from this category unless a qualified officer has assessed as a 
category 1 hazard 
 

4.4.5 Overcrowding by One Bedroom Short 

 
Applicants assessed as being one bedroom short of their needs where they 
permanently reside 
 

4.4.6 Insecure Tied Accommodation 

 

Applicants who are living in accommodation tied to their employment and who 
have received a formal notice to quit from their employer and where the loss of 
employment is through no fault of the applicant.  This category includes members 
of the armed forces in married quarters and agricultural workers. 
 
Priority category will only be given where there is clear documentary evidence 
that the employer is terminating the employment and the use of the 
accommodation in the near future. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 58 
 

4.4.7 Insecure Private Rented Accommodation 

 

Tenants of private landlords where the landlord is taking action to recover 
possession of the property and has demonstrated a real intention to proceed to 
eviction. 
 
Before priority for Insecure Accommodation can be given documentary evidence 
of the date of eviction will be needed by the Council, depending on the type of 
tenancy or licence held.  The landlord must have shown a real intention to 
proceed with an eviction. Evidence of Court proceedings for Possession may be 
required to establish a genuine intention. 
 

4.4.8 Band 4 Upgrade 

 
Any applicant who qualifies for at least two compoundable categories in Band 4. 
 

4.5 Band 4 (Moderate Housing Need) 

4.5.1 Moderate Social or Welfare Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having a moderate level of social or welfare need arising 
from their housing situation, and awarded this priority under the Exceptional 
Circumstances Panel protocols 
 

4.5.2 Moderate Health or Disability Needs 

 

Applicants assessed as having a moderate level of housing need as a result of 
health problems or a disability, and awarded this priority by the Health and 
Housing Assessment protocols 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

68



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 59 
 

4.5.3 Homeless and Not in a Priority Group (not compoundable) 

 

· Applicants who have been assessed as being of No Fixed Abode (NFA), or 

· Applicants who are Homeless but have been given a decision that they are 
not in Priority Need (or are Intentionally Homeless and allowed to remain on 
the Housing Register), or  

· Applicants living in Move-on Homeless Projects who could otherwise access 
the Move-on Scheme 

 
This category is given where a formal assessment has been carried out under the 
homelessness legislation and the applicant is found to be homeless but not in a 
defined priority group. The category will also be given without a formal 
assessment, where it is clear that the applicant has No Fixed Abode. This 
includes those living in voluntary sector Move-on Projects. 
 
This category does not include applicants who have been assisted to access the 
private rented sector through a rent deposit scheme. 
 
This category is not compoundable with other factors. Those who are homeless 
and have other priority needs will be assessed in accordance with the 
Homelessness legislation and, if they qualify, will be given a Band 2 priority. 
 

4.5.4 Unsatisfactory Housing: Level 2 

 

Applicants living in sub-standard accommodation that is deemed to have a 
category 2 hazard and where repair is not possible or it is not practical in a 
reasonable timescale. 
 
Applicants living in homes lacking a fixed heating system will usually be deemed 
to meet this criterion. 
 
The band category will not be awarded if it is possible for repairs or other 
remedial action to be carried out within a reasonable timescale. Where a landlord 
has been served with an improvement notice but remedial work has not been 
carried out, the Council may decide to award priority at its discretion. 
 

4.6 Band 5 (Low or No Housing Need) 

4.6.1 Adequately Housed 

 

 

· Applicants who are adequately housed 

· Applicants with no immediate need for rehousing 

· Applicants sharing where the accommodation is of sufficient quality and there 
is no overcrowding  

· Applicants who do not meet any other category  
 

69



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 60 
 

 

This category includes applicants who may have a low level of housing need, but 
where the circumstances do not give rise to any exceptional problems. This 
includes: 

· formal and informal house-sharing arrangements where the size and 
standard of the accommodation is adequate for the needs of those living 
there 

· those living with family or friends where the size and standard of the 
accommodation is adequate for the needs of those living there 

· families living in flats where the internal accommodation is adequate for the 
family’s needs but where there is no private garden. 

 

 
 

4.7 Compound Needs 
 
Where applicants in Bands 3 or 4 have compound needs (that is, they qualify for 
more than one compoundable category in the band) they will usually be upgraded 
to the next band.  Compounding is not available for those placed in Bands 2 or 5 
because Band 1 is reserved only for the most exceptional cases and Band 5 has 
no compoundable categories. 
 
Those applicants in Band 4 with a category of ‘Homeless and not in a Priority 
Group’ cannot compound this category to move up to Band 3 because the 
assessment of their homelessness takes into account all other relevant 
circumstances.  If they have additional needs then this would be reflected in a 
decision to award either an Exceptional Need category placing them in a higher 
category band or a Priority Homeless category (Band 3). 
 

4.8 Time Limited Priority 
 
In certain cases priority will be time limited.  For example, a decision to grant a 
high band on the grounds of an urgent social or welfare need might be for a 
limited period. This will normally be three to six months.  In all cases the applicant 
will be given a reasonable amount of time to bid for alternative accommodation, 
and the length of time may be adjusted according to the availability of suitable 
accommodation. Priority will be re-assessed at the end of the period. 
 

4.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9.1 

Date Order 
 
The time an applicant has been in housing need is taken into account when 
prioritising applicants for an offer of accommodation.  Where two or more 
applicants in the same priority band have bid for the same property, through 
choice-based lettings scheme, the applicant who is considered to have been in 
housing need for the longest period of time will be normally be offered the 
property.  In some circumstances there are exceptions (see 5.8)  
 
Priority Band Start Date 
 
The Priority Band Start Date is the date used for comparing applicants who are in 
the same band and who have bid for the same property.  

70



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 61 
 

 
The Priority Band Start Date is normally the date an applicant is placed into a 
particular band.  Most applicants who apply for housing remain in the same band 
so their Priority Band Start Date does not change and is the date they first 
applied to be included on the housing register (also known as the Registration 
Date).  If an applicant’s circumstances change and their housing need changes 
their Priority Band Start Date may change.  
 

4.10 Change of Circumstances 
 
Changes of Circumstance & Priority Band Start Dates 
 
Where an applicant’s circumstances have changed  they should notify the 
housing needs team within 28 days to check whether this has affected their 
housing need and whether they need to supply any further information.   
 
If the change in an  applicant’s circumstances (including a change of address) 
has resulted in: 
 

· Their priority band going up because of an increase in their housing need 
and they have moved to a higher band they will be issued with a new 
Priority Band Start Date from the date the change took place or they were 
awarded additional priority to move.  

 

· Their priority band going down because of a decrease in their housing 
need if they move down to Bands 2 to 4 their Priority Band Start Date will 
remain the same, however, if they go down to Band 5 their Priority Band 
Start Date will change back to their registration date (the date they first 
applied for housing).  
 

· Their priority band staying the same the applicant should retain their 
original priority band start date.  

 
Where an applicant has failed to notify the Housing Needs Team of a change of 
their circumstances within 28 days without good reason, if the change in the 
applicant’s circumstances has resulted in: 
 

· Their priority band going up because of an increase in their housing need 
and they have moved to a higher band they will be issued with a new 
Priority Band Start Date from the date the Housing Needs Team were 
notified of the change and not the date the change took place. 
  

· Their priority band going down because of a decrease in their housing 
need they will be issued with a new Priority Band Start Date from the date 
the change took place and not keep the same date.  
 

· Their priority band staying the same the applicant will be issued with a new 
Priority Band Start Date if they have moved. If the applicant has not moved 
their Housing Needs Priority Band Start date will remain the same.   

 

71



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 62 
 

5 Choice Based Lettings 
 

5.1 Statement on Choice in Allocation 
 

  
The Council operates a Choice-Based Lettings Scheme to advertise the limited   
number of properties becoming available to let each year for those who are 
eligible and qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register.  The Choice Based 
Lettings Scheme increases the choice available to most applicants (with 
restrictions for homeless applicants) but cannot make more social housing 
available, which will remain a scare resource.  The availability of feedback on 
previous lettings enables applicants to make informed choices about their future 
housing options; including whether to look at alternatives to social rented 
housing, and what types of properties are available. 
 
Below is Oxford City Council’s Choice Based Lettings Scheme.  This applies to 
permanent social housing in Oxford; it does not apply to temporary 
accommodation.    
 
 

5.2 Assisting Vulnerable Applicants  
 
Staff from Oxford City Council (and its partner PRPs where technology allows) 
may assist applicants to view property advertisements and to make bids through 
the website. 
 
Oxford City Council may make information available to staff at support agencies 
on how the scheme works, and may provide updates when changes happen, so 
that they are able to offer the most appropriate support to their clients. 
 
Oxford City Council is aware that some applicants with support needs may need 
longer to obtain advice or support and will endeavour to work with them to help 
to participate in the scheme. 
 

5.3 
 

Advertising 
 
All the members of the ORAH partnership and are committed to advertising their 
properties as widely as possible. Empty properties will normally only be excluded 
from the CBL  scheme for exceptional reasons, for example when the property is 
needed to deal with an emergency or is particularly suitable for a household 
assessed as in high housing  need – such as an adapted property suitable for a 
disabled person. 
 

· Properties will be advertised on a regular cycle. The length of the cycle 
may be reviewed periodically 

 

· Properties will be advertised in the following locations: 
Ø On the website 
Ø In newsletters available in Council and PRP offices  
Ø In a PDF format on the website suitable for downloading by  

72



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 63 
 

statutory and voluntary support agencies 
      

· The Council may choose to advertise in other locations in the future 
 

· All advertisements will carry a deadline by which the bids for the property 
must be received. It is not possible for an applicant to make bids after the 
bidding cycle closes  

 

· The advertisement will carry a photograph of the type of property, where 
available 

 

· The advertisement will carry a floor plan of the property, where available 
 

· The advertisement will carry a full description of the property, including the 
following details, where available: 

 
Ø Type of property 
Ø Number of bedrooms/ number of people the property is suitable for 
Ø Location (street and area) 
Ø Any adaptation or a description of the level of accessibility for 

people with mobility difficulties 
Ø Services provided e.g. warden, caretaker, key worker 
Ø Heating type 
Ø Communal/own entrance 
Ø Floor level (for flats) 
Ø Availability of a garden, if any 
Ø Parking 
Ø Rent 
Ø Service charge 
Ø Landlord 
Ø Property reference number 
Ø Expected tenancy start date where available 
Ø Tenancy type and conditions (for PRPs this will include details of 

whether the property is being let as a Fixed Term Tenancy or at an 
“Affordable Rent” where applicable) 

 
 
5.4 

 
 
Properties in the Choice Based Lettings Scheme 
 

 As far as possible all properties will be entered into the Choice Based Lettings 
scheme and will be available for applicants to make bids. However, at certain 
times, and in order to meet our objectives of assisting in the development of 
sustainable communities and meeting the Council’s letting targets, some 
properties will be labelled as being available to certain categories of applicant 
only; for direct match only; or with initial preference being given to certain 
categories of applicant.  See section 5.14 on properties not in the choice based 
lettings scheme.   
 
 

  

73



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 64 
 

5.5 Advert Labels 
 

 The following labels will be used for certain properties. The Council uses these 
labels to ensure the Council meets its letting plan targets to distribute social 
housing fairly amongst different groups of applicant. 
 
The descriptions used below will be represented by symbols in the property 
advertisements.  A key to the symbols will be provided in the scheme guide and 
in the advertising medium. This will be clearer and easier to interpret than text, 
as well as making the descriptions shorter. 
 

 Statutory Homeless Applicants 
The label will say ‘preference for statutory homeless applicants’ 
 
To qualify applicants will need to have confirmation that Oxford City Council has 
accepted a duty under the homelessness legislation and placed them on the 
Homeless List (see 4.4.1 of the Banding Scheme). 
 

 General Register Applicants 
The label will say ‘preference for general register applicants’ 
 
To qualify applicants will need to have been included on to the general register, 
and not to have been accepted as homeless and in priority need and placed on 
the General Register List. 
 

 Transfer Applicants 
The label will say ‘preference for applicants on the transfer list only 
 
To qualify applicants will need to be a secure tenant or an Assured tenant of the 
Council or another ORAH partner and living within Oxford. They will have been 
verified as eligible to be on the transfer list through the application process. 
 
This label is used to ensure the Council and other ORAH partners, can make 
optimum use of the stock.  When a tenant transfers this creates a further 
vacancy which will normally be available for letting. This helps ensure there is 
mobility within the stock. 
 

 Supported Accommodation 
The label will say ‘Supported housing. For applicants with an assessed support 
need only’. 
 
Supported Housing will have accommodation-based support provided as part of 
the scheme to give additional care and support to the residents of the scheme 
and include some properties at Riverside Court.  
 

 Sheltered Accommodation 
The label will say ‘Sheltered housing. For applicants with an assessed support 
need only’.  
 
Sheltered housing is defined as housing with communal facilities and with 

74



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 65 
 

visiting or residential staff support.  Facilities usually include a communal 
common room, a laundry and a guest room.  Properties are also linked to 24hour 
emergency call centres for total cover 365 days a year.  A property that is 
designated as sheltered housing will be clearly indicated on the advert label. 
 
This housing is usually let to people aged 60 or over who have an identifiable 
support need.  Some properties have an age criteria of 55+.  This housing may 
sometimes be let to younger applicants who would benefit from the support 
provided. 
 
Sheltered properties are let to applicants who would like to move to sheltered 
accommodation and who have been assessed as having suitable support needs 
by a member of the housing needs team or a member of staff at one of our 
partner PRPs, and/or who meet the age criteria for the scheme.  Support needs 
are assessed by carrying out a standard support needs assessment at the 
application stage or where an applicant’s support needs have increased. 
 
Some sheltered housing is suitable for people with disabilities and this will be 
specified in the advert label. 
 
The reason for labelling properties as for ‘assessed support needs only’ is to 
ensure these properties attract applicants who will benefit from the support 
provided. These properties also carry a ‘support charge’ that needs to be paid 
either by the tenant or through the Supporting People Fund. The fund is 
restricted to those with a need for the support provided (more information on how 
to apply for assistance from the supported people fund is available on 
Oxfordshire County Council website).  
 

 Other Specialist Housing for Older People 
 
The Council has two types of designated elderly accommodation: 
 
Designated elderly accommodation only suitable for applicants aged 55 years or 
older that the Council has no plans to currently de-designate.  
 
Designated elderly accommodation only currently considered suitable for 
applicants aged 40 years or older that may in the future be de-designated to 
allow younger applicants to apply for these properties too.  

 
 Designated Elderly Housing (with a Community Alarm) 

 
The label will say ‘Housing with a community alarm. For applicants over 55 with 
an assessed support need only’ and includes flats at North Place. 
 
This housing is usually let to people over 55 (or over 40 for some properties) 
who have an assessed support need for the community alarm service.  A 
community alarm provides 24-hour cover through a telephone link to a Care-line 
service, staffed by operators who can respond to calls and summon help as 
appropriate.  (Such property may also be referred to a Category One Sheltered 
Property.) 

75



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 66 
 

 
This need will be assessed through a support needs assessment. However the 
level of support required to be considered for this type of housing is generally 
lower than that for sheltered housing. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Designated Housing Minimum Age 40+ 
The label will say ‘for applicants aged over 40 with no dependent children’.  
 
This is housing that is let to people aged 40 or older with no dependent children. 
There is no support provided although tenants can be assessed for a community 
alarm if they require this.  
 
Disabled Adapted Properties 
The label will say ‘for applicants with an assessed need for disabled adapted 
property only’ and will specify the level of adaptation using the four categories 
set out below 
 
Disabled adapted properties are defined as properties that have been specially 
built or adapted for people with disabilities. The level of adaptation will be 
specified in the property advertisement. An adapted property is one containing 
one or more of the following features: 

· Level access shower 

· Ramps/ Level access 

· Stair lifts 

· Walk-in Bath 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Assessment of a need will normally be validated through the Health and Housing 
Assessment process.  
 
Oxford City Council will attempt to make the closest match between the 
applicant’s housing need and the level of adaptation needed by short listed 
applicants. The reason for this is to ensure these properties are used to their 
maximum potential and to make best use of resources by not having to adapt 
properties elsewhere.  
 
Applicants choosing to live in disabled adapted properties should not expect to 
have adaptations removed or to reinstate properties to their original condition 
(and for example remove a level access shower and install a bath again) 
 
There are a number of properties which have been specially built or adapted for 
people with disabilities. Where these met the Mobility Standard or Wheelchair 
Standard, Oxford City Council will attempt to match these most closely to 
applicants that specifically require this type and standard of accommodation and 
will specifically label these properties as such.  The Council may allocate some 
adapted Mobility 3 and 4 standard properties outside of Choice-Based Lettings, 
to applicants in high housing need requiring an adapted property by offering an 
applicant a property as a direct match when a particularly suitable property 
becomes available.  
 
 

76



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 67 
 

 
 
 

 

Level Access.  Level access into the property (from the street to the 
front door) and level access throughout the property (no internal 
steps) 
 

 

Mobility Standard.  Level access into and throughout the property, 
although all rooms may not be accessible by a wheelchair.  Meets 
part M of the Building Regulations (e.g. minimum door widths) 
 

 

Disabled Adaptations.  The property may not meet the other 
standards, but it has a significant adaptation, such as a level access 
shower; a stair-lift; or a walk-in bath.  Specific details available 
 

 

Wheelchair Standard.  The property is specifically designed for 
wheelchair users.  Design features include parking and level 
access; enhanced circulation space; and specialist fixtures and 
fittings   
 

 

 
 

 
Other Properties that may carry an Advert Label 
 
Properties do become available that are for a defined client group (an example 
would be supported projects for young people).  These will be labelled to indicate 
the client group for the particular scheme and bids will be restricted to this group. 
These schemes have specialist support for the identified client group. 
 
Advert labels may also be applied to properties where a Local Lettings Plan is in 
operation in order to comply with its requirements, or where a priority may be 
given to larger families. 
 
Bungalows will normally only be allocated to applicants aged 55 years or older, 
or to applicants under 55 who have been assessed by the Housing Needs Team 
as requiring a ground floor level access property (or an adapted property if the 
bungalow is adapted) or existing tenants on the Transfer List seeking to 
downsize from a their current accommodation.  
 
 

5.6 Bidding 
 

 Applicants who are eligible for a property advertised as available to let can 
express an interest in the property by placing a “bid” through the Choice-Based 
Lettings scheme.  Applicants will normally only be able to bid for a property 
suitable for their needs and for which they are eligible.  This means that 
applicants will not normally be able to bid for more bedrooms than they need or 
for properties specifically designated for other groups of applicants (such as the 
elderly or disabled). 
 
Bids can be made by the following methods: 
 

· By phone 
 

77



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 68 
 

· Website 

· Assisted bidding in the offices of Oxford City Council, or it’s ORAH  
partners 

 
The Council may offer other methods as appropriate in future 
 

 Property Size Eligibility 
 
The rules used to calculate the number of bedrooms an applicant is eligible to 
apply for are set out in section 3.9. Applicants will notified in writing of the size of 
property they are eligible to apply for and will not normally be able to bid for a 
smaller or larger property.  
 

5.7 Lettings Cycle 
 

 A letting cycle will normally consist of the following: 
 

· All ORAH partners upload properties available to let onto the Council’s 
Choice Based Lettings database in a pre-agreed format 

· The Council produces and distributes adverts, as described elsewhere, on 
behalf of the partners 

· The advertising and “bidding” period commences 

· The bidding period closes 

· The Council generates shortlists 

· Council officers check shortlists for eligibility and verification purposes and 
make an offer or nomination for each property to the successful applicant 
and notify the landlord 

· Landlords arrange a viewing   

· Landlords offer a tenancy   

· If the successful applicant at the top of the shortlist refuses the property or 
is rejected by the landlord, the offer or nomination is made to the next 
suitable short-listed applicant. This continues until a tenancy is agreed 

 
Where no tenancy is agreed the property goes back into the next available 
letting cycle. 
 

5.8 The Selection Process 
 

 The successful applicant for each property will normally be the one who is 
eligible for the size and type of property being offered, and who is in the highest 
band.  Where there is more than one applicant in that band, priority will normally 
be by date (see below). 
 
However, the council and ORAH partners reserve the right not to offer the 
property to the person highest on the short-list, if the property offers a better 
match with the needs of another high priority applicant. The property may be 
offered to another housing applicant in such cases.  
Applicants will be able to bid for up to three social rented properties and any 
number of shared ownership or private rented properties in any one 

78



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 69 
 

advertisement cycle. Applicants can withdraw bids and add new ones in the 
course of the cycle. The Council may also place bids for some applicants 
(including applicants on the Homeless List and other high needs cases) if a 
property is identified as being potentially suitable. 
 

5.8.1 Priority Order 
 
Short-lists will be created with the following priority order: 
 

1. Applicant Type (only if an applicant type preference is specified for 
property) 

2. Mobility Level (only if a mobility level preference is specified for the 
property)  

3. Band – Band priority order is: 1, 2, 3, 4, 5.  
4. Local Connection  
5. Size of household (only if a preference to larger families is specified for 

the property) – larger household has priority 
6. Priority Band Start Date (when applicants in the same priority band are 

compared) 
 
The Council reserves the right not to offer an applicant in Band 4 or 5 with a 
need for a ground floor level access (Mobility 1) or Mobility 2 property if another 
applicant in higher housing need in Band 1, 2 or 3 has bid for the property.  Even 
if the applicant in Band 1 to 3 does not require a Mobility 1 or 2 property. 
 

5.8.2 Shortlists 
 
Each potentially successful applicant will be checked to ensure they are eligible 
and suitable for the property and an applicant will only be offered a property 
where they meet the criteria.  
 
Allocations Officers will investigate whether or not the property matches all the 
needs of the applicant in first place on the resulting shortlist.  There may, for 
example, be a good reason not to offer an otherwise suitable property to an 
applicant because health advice has been received that the applicant needs a 
property in a quiet location and the property on offer is adjacent to a major road, 
or that the person cannot sustain the tenancy without adequate support 
arrangements and these arrangements are not able to be set up before the 
proposed start of the tenancy – such issues cannot be catered for in the 
generation of the shortlist. 
 
If it can be demonstrated that the property does not match the needs of the 
applicant, then this is recorded, and the decision verified by the manager 
responsible for allocations.  The allocating officer then proceeds to investigate 
the suitability of the property for the next applicant on the list, and the process 
continues until a suitable match is found. 
  
If an applicant is successful for more than one property they will be contacted 
where possible and asked to express their preference over which property they 
would like to be offered.  

79



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 70 
 

 
The Manager Responsible for Allocations is responsible for:  
 

a) Checking paperwork relating to all allocations and nominations, to 
ensure that correct procedure has been followed  

b) Authorising offers and nominations, including decisions as to the 
reasonableness or otherwise of an allocation or nomination 

c) Deciding whether to make an allocation of housing where the 
applicant  has been guilty of anti-social or unacceptable behaviour  

d) Decisions relating to the authorisation of “like-to-like transfers, outside 
the Allocations Scheme, in sheltered accommodation and other 
schemes 

e) Authorising the making of a Direct Offer to an applicant (see Section 
5.14) 

 
5.8.3 
 

Housing Applicants with Rent Arrears on the Housing Register  
 
This section is concerned with making an allocation of a property to applicants 
who have made a bid. 
 
Where a housing applicant has rent arrears and/or a poor payment history they 
will not normally be considered suitable for an offer of housing.  In order for an 
applicant to successfully maintain a tenancy they must be able to comply with 
the terms of the tenancy and to pay the rent regularly and keep up to date with 
the rent. When considering whether a housing applicant is suitable for an offer of 
housing their ability to pay the rent and their rental payment history will be taken 
into account.  
 
Housing applicants who owe rent to their current landlord or a previous landlord 
can be excluded from qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register (see 
section 3.5.2 and the definition of “rent”).   
 
Where a housing applicant with rent arrears has been allowed to remain on the 
housing register and they bid for a property and shortlist for a potential offer, an 
Allocations Officer will make further enquiries into the applicant’s ability to 
sustain a tenancy before considering them for an offer of housing.  If a Transfer 
Applicant has rent arrears covered by a Court Possession Order and has been 
not been excluded from the Transfer List , no offer will usually be made, unless:  

· the tenant  has an Exceptional Band 1 Social & Welfare award  
sanctioned by the ECP & payments have been received in line with the 
order made, or  

· the tenant is seeking to downsize from a general needs property suitable 
for a family  and any compensation due through the REMS (or a similar 
scheme provided by another ORAH landlord) will clear the debt in full  or 

· the debt is cleared in full by the tenant. 
 
If a housing  applicant is allowed to be included on the Housing Register but has 
any outstanding rent arrears (but no Court  Possession Order), they will not 
usually receive an offer of accommodation unless:  

· either the debt is cleared in full, or  

80



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 71 
 

· they have made an agreement to repay the debt, and kept to it for a 
minimum of 6 months. 

 
The following cases will usually be exempt from this: 
 

· Applicants awarded an “Exceptional” Band 1 Social and Welfare award 
and permission to apply for  a move with rent arrears has been 
sanctioned by the ECP panel and agreed by the landlord of the property 
the applicant is applying for 

· All Temporary Decants, or Permanent Decants where the Council may 
incur a significant expense if the person is not moved 

· Transfer applicants under-occupying a family home eligible for assistance 
through the Council’s REMS (or the tenant’s landlord) where the 
compensation will clear the debt in full.  

· Technical arrears, where it is confirmed that a Housing Benefit award is 
due that will clear the arrears 

· Persons accepted as statutory homeless and housed in temporary 
accommodation where a satisfactory payment arrangement is in place 
and the housing applicant is considered to be engaging and suitable for 
an offer of housing in order to minimise temporary accommodation costs 
to the Council (unless possession action is being taken due to a breach of 
tenancy) 
 

The Manager responsible for Allocations may also exempt other cases.  This 
discretion might be exercised where the applicant has made an agreement to 
clear the debt and has made consistent payments for a period of time (usually a 
minimum of 6 months) or where the situation was deemed to be out of the 
applicant’s control; or relates to physical, mental or learning disability.  
 
The Allocations Manager may also consider authorising an offer in other 
exceptional cases where an applicant has fallen into rent arrears as a direct 
result of the introduction of changes introduced by the Welfare Reform Act 
including the “bedroom tax” or “benefit cap”.  Where an applicant is in high 
housing need and considered to be taking reasonable steps to pay their          
on-going rent and the rent arrears they have accrued.  In such cases an offer 
may be considered where the Allocations Manager and landlord of the property 
the applicant has applied for agree that the housing applicant is considered 
suitable for an offer and the accommodation is more affordable.  
 
Where a former tenant has been evicted by a PRP within the ORAH partnership 
and allowed to re-join the housing register, they will not normally be nominated 
to the same PRP once they have demonstrated they are suitable to be a tenant, 
without prior agreement with the PRP. 
 

 
5.9 

 
Feedback 
 

 Feedback on previous bidding rounds will be available to help applicants assess 
whether accommodation appropriate to his or her needs is likely to be made 
available and, if so, how long this is likely to take.  

81



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 72 
 

 
General information about the profile of the stock will be made available, 
including: the type, size and location of the stock, whether it is accessible or 
could be adapted, and how old it is.  In the case of stock, which is in short 
supply, an indication of how frequently it is likely to become available will also be 
included. 
 
Specific information will be published each cycle about accommodation, which 
has been let through the CBL scheme.  This will specify the number of bids 
received for the property, the band and priority band start date of the applicant 
who finished first at the end of the cycle.  The information will be available in the 
same media in which the properties are advertised, and will be regularly 
reported. 
 
Applicants who have expressed an interest in the particular vacancy but are 
unsuccessful may request more personalised feedback on why they were 
unsuccessful.  
 
Periodically, Oxford City Council will extract generalised information from 
feedback data to help inform applicants’ bidding strategies.  This will include 
tables giving estimated waiting times by area and property type. 
 
Oxford City Council will process all personal data in line with the Data Protection 
Act 1998 and relevant successive legislation.  Where information is published 
about particular accommodation that has been allocated, the information shall 
not enable a member of the public to ascertain the identity of the individual 
applicant who has been allocated the accommodation, or to put them at risk of 
violence or intimidation by other individuals or members of the public.  In some 
cases, the Manager responsible for allocations may make the decision not to 
publish the fact that a property has been let. 
 
Oxford City Council will provide more detailed feedback to unsuccessful bidders 
at regular intervals, particularly after they have made a number of unsuccessful 
bids.  This will involve advising applicants about the need to change their bidding 
strategy, or providing them with advice about alternative housing options 
available to them. 
 
Applicants will be able to review their own bidding history through the website, or 
ask a member of Oxford City Council or its partner PRP to help them do so. 
 

5.10 Refusals 
 

 Oxford City Council acknowledges that a “bid “is an expression of interest in a 
property and that applicants may not be in a position to make a firm decision 
until the property has been viewed. However, there is a high demand for social 
rented accommodation and the Council and its partner PRPs want to let homes 
advertised through Choice Based Lettings as soon as possible so applicants 
should be choose carefully before making a bid.  If an applicant refuses an offer 
after a bid has been placed on the property without good reason the Council 
reserves the right to apply a penalty (see 5.13). 

82



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 73 
 

 
5.11 Failure to Bid 

 
 Oxford City Council will look at who is bidding and how often.  If an applicant in a 

high priority group is not bidding despite properties of the right size being 
advertised, the Council may contact the applicant to make sure that they have 
understood the CBL system and that they have found a method of bidding that 
suits them. If they are struggling with the system we may be able to offer help 
ourselves or we may be able to refer the applicant to a support agency.  We may 
also place a bid for an applicant or make a direct offer of accommodation in 
some circumstances, such as where a homeless applicant lives in temporary 
accommodation supplied by Oxford City Council, or is a “legal” or “policy” 
successor required to move, and is not bidding, despite suitable accommodation 
being advertised and help being offered (see 5.13). 
 

5.12 Time Limits 
 

 Most applicants will have no time limits placed on how often they should bid 
in recognition of the scarcity of social housing in Oxford.  Although all 
applicants are encouraged and expected to actively engage with the scheme 
once they have registered.  If they no longer wish to be included on the 
Housing Register they should contact the Housing Needs Team to inform 
them so their housing application can be cancelled. 
 
There will, however, be some exceptions where housing applicants in high 
priority bands are given time limits in which to bid for a property and 
penalties may be applied (see section 5.13). Including: 
 

· Applicants accepted as homeless and placed in temporary 
accommodation (in Band 3) in order to minimise to the Council 

· Applicants assessed as ready to “move-on” from supported 
accommodation (placed in Band 2) in order to ensure supported housing 
becomes available to those that require it within the City. 

· Applicants awarded “policy successor” priority (placed in Band 1) in order 
to ensure that they move out of the accommodation they are occupying 
promptly so the property to can be re-let to another applicant in housing 
need 

 
5.13 Penalties for Unreasonable Refusals or Non-bidders  

 
The Allocations Manager will be responsible for authorising penalties.  Before 
imposing a penalty the applicant will be contacted by a member of the Housing 
Needs Team, Tenancy Management Team or an equivalent ORAH officer to 
ensure they are satisfied the applicant understands the process. Where an 
applicant is not considered to have understand the process they may be given a 
further opportunity to bid at the discretion of the Allocations Manager. 
 

 Penalties will only be imposed where, after investigation, it appears that either: 
 

· An applicant is deliberately failing to bid (or withdrawing bids placed on 

83



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 74 
 

their behalf) when suitable properties have been advertised, or 

· An applicant has turned down a property when they are deemed to have 
no valid reason for refusing the property when offered 

 
5.13.1 Penalties for Statutory Homeless Applicants to whom the Council has 

accepted a duty and placed in temporary accommodation 
 
Applicants on the homeless list will normally be made one suitable offer of 
accommodation – this could be an allocation of social housing through the 
Allocations Scheme or an offer of suitable accommodation within the private 
rented sector made outside of the Allocations Scheme by the Housing Options 
Team or Private Sector Team to discharge the Council’s homeless duty. 
 
Applicants  accepted as homeless before 1/4/13 changes will only be made 
offers of social housing and will not be offered private rented accommodation 
(unless they request the Council to assist them in moving into the private rented 
sector).  
 
Homeless applicants will be given a time-limited priority to bid for properties 
through CBL.  During this time they could also be made an offer of suitable 
private rented accommodation to discharge the Council’s homeless duty by the 
Housing Options Team or Private Sector Team outside of the Allocations 
Scheme.   
 
Homeless applicant will normally be given 3 to 6 months to successfully bid for a 
property, or longer, if for example a household requires a very large property, an 
adapted property or the Council accepts that they cannot go to certain areas 
within Oxford.  If a homeless applicant has not successfully bid for a property or 
been offered a suitable property in the private rented sector they may have bids 
placed for them automatically on all suitable properties becoming available (all 
suitable property types and in all areas) by the Allocations Team and will be 
offered the first property they shortlist for an offer on, irrespective of whether they 
have bid for the property or not.  
 
Penalties for an Unreasonable Refusal  
 
If a homeless applicant refuses a suitable offer without good reason the Council 
will no longer have a duty to accommodate them and ask them to leave their 
temporary accommodation and to resolve their housing situation themselves. If 
the applicant does not move out the Council will take action to take possession 
of the property.  
 
Homeless applicants who are considered to have unreasonably refused an offer 
by the Council because they consider the property is not suitable for them or a 
member of their family will continue to have the right to appeal.  The Council will 
not normally be able to end the duty to accommodate the applicant unless they 
lose the appeal. 
 
 
 

84



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 75 
 

5.13.2  Penalties for Applicants on the General Register & Transfer Lists 
 
Unreasonable Refusals 

 
Unreasonable refusals delay other applicants in housing need moving into a 
property, cost the Council and other landlords in lost staff time and can result in 
the landlord losing rental income from having longer void periods 

 
Applicants on the General Register or Transfer Lists who are considered to have 
unreasonably refused two suitable offers of accommodation within the last 12 
months will be suspended from bidding for 12 months. With the exception of 
tenants on the Transfer List occupying a property suitable for a family and 
seeking to downsize to a smaller property. Other exceptions may also be made 
on a case by case basis by the Allocations Manager.  
 
If the applicant is suspended from bidding and disagrees with this decision they 
have the right to request a review of this decision (see Reviews & Appeals).  If 
the appeal is successful they will be able to continue to bid.  If the appeal is 
unsuccessful they will remain suspended for 12 months.   
 
Policy “successors” will normally be given up to 6 months to bid for a suitable 
property, after this time, if they have failed to bid or failed to successfully bid for a 
property the Council will place bids for them on all suitable properties becoming 
available and may make a direct offer outside of CBL.  Policy “successors” will 
normally be made only one suitable offer of accommodation. If they are made an 
offer and refuse without good reason the Council will ask them to leave the 
property and resolve their own housing situation and take action to gain 
possession of the property if the fail to leave.  
 

5.14 Properties not advertised through CBL (Direct Offers) 
 

 Oxford City Council may choose not to advertise certain properties if they are 
needed for management reasons.  This may include temporary lettings as 
emergency accommodation for homeless families, some types of supported 
housing, direct lettings to national mobility schemes, or permanent decants 
(where the properties are being sold, demolished or otherwise disposed of, or 
where tenants have been given the choice of not returning to a property following 
refurbishment or re-modelling, and it is not practicable to allocate the property 
through CBL). 
 
In other cases, for example, very highly adapted properties or for applicants with 
very individual needs, it may be necessary to make a direct offer of a property in 
order to make the most effective use of the scarce resource of social housing 
and to obtain best value for money for the Council and its ORAH partners. 
 
Oxford City Council will monitor the impact to ensure that it continues to comply 
with its duty to give reasonable preference to applicants in the reasonable 
preference categories and choice to General Register and Transfer List 
applicants wherever reasonably possible. 
 

85



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 76 
 

5.15 Temporary Decants 
 

 Where a temporary move is required while modernisation, refurbishment, or 
repair work is undertaken to any property of Oxford City Council, or its partner 
RSLs, and the tenant cannot remain in the property for a temporary period while 
this is being undertaken, the Manager responsible for Allocations may award a 
Decant category. 
 
This category is authorised by the Manager responsible for Allocations, and only 
at such time as the need for the move and its programming has been confirmed 
by a senior manager in Housing or a partner PRP, as appropriate. 
 
Officers seeking or authorising these categories must be assured that the move 
is necessary and that appropriate timescales are in place for work to begin on 
the vacated property, in order to minimise disruption for existing tenants.   
 
Tenants must complete a transfer application where practicable and sign an 
undertaking to confirm that they will return to their original home once the work is 
completed, prior to transferring. 
 
The Manager responsible for Allocations may make a Direct Offer outside of the 
CBL scheme to help facilitate such moves. 
 

5.16 Hard to Let Properties 
 
There are very few “hard to let” properties within Oxford, however, from time to 
time a sheltered property only suitable for an older applicant may have to be 
advertised more than once before a suitable applicant is offered the property.  
 

 
 

A property will be declared “hard to let”:  
 

· If it has been advertised over 2 consecutive bidding cycles and received 
no eligible bidders, or  

· if it has been advertised over 3 consecutive cycles without a tenancy 
being created, or 

· if an identical property (type, size & area) has been declared ‘hard to let’ 
within the previous 4 bidding cycles. 

 
At the discretion of the Manager responsible for allocations, such properties may 
be let on a “first come, first served” basis; that is, any applicant may be granted a 
tenancy. The Manager responsible for allocations has the discretion to change 
eligibility criteria (including allowing under-occupation) in these circumstances. 
“Hard to let” properties will be advertised with other properties, but may also be 
let outside of the advertising cycle. 
 

5.17 Inter-District Moves 
 

 The Council may from time to time agree a reciprocal arrangement with 
another District Council within Oxfordshire, or elsewhere, so that an applicant 
in high housing needs from Oxford can be housed outside of the City in 

86



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 77 
 

another District in return for the Council housing another similar case within 
Oxford.  Even if the applicant does not have a local connection to Oxford.  
Any such allocation would need to be agreed by the Allocations Manager and 
the other District authority and be made outside of CBL as a direct match.  
 

5.18. Priority for Local Connection 
 
As part of the allocations policy priority will also be given to applicants who have 
a local connection over applicants in similar housing need without a local 
connection.  Normally only applicants with a local connection with qualify for 
inclusion on the Housing Register; however, there are some exceptions (see 
3.5.1). 

 
Local  Connection 
 
Most housing vacancies will be advertised as giving priority to those applicants 
with a local connection to Oxford.   
 
The following rules will be used to define Local  Connection: 
 
A local connection is established by way of one or more of the following: 
 

1. The applicant or joint applicant is permanently resident in Oxford and that 
residence is of their own choice and has continuously been so for at least 
6 months.  

 
2. The applicant or joint applicant was previously resident in Oxford  as a 

matter of choice and the period of residence was either:  
 

· At least six out of the last twelve months or 
 

· Three out of the last five years. 
 

3. The applicant or joint applicant is employed in the Oxford for a minimum 
of sixteen hours per week and the employment is not of a short-term or 
temporary nature. 

 
4. The applicant or joint applicant has family associations with Oxford:  

 
Family association will normally be defined in relation to close relatives 
(i.e. parents, children or siblings) and where there is no estrangement. 
However, other family associations may be taken into account (for 
example Grandparents, grandchildren and step relations) where there is 
evidence of frequent contact, commitment or dependency.  
 
To qualify the relatives must live in Oxford now and have been 
continuously resident for a minimum of five years. 

 
A local connection is not established where the applicant is: 
 

87



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 78 
 

· is in prison within the district or  

· is detained in Oxford under the Mental Health Act. 
 

 
6 

 
Housing Options 

 
6.1 

 
Housing Options and Choice 
 

 Oxford City Council will give all home-seekers and applicants information on 
other housing options that may be available to them, to assist the applicant in 
making a reasonable choice as to their best prospect of securing suitable 
accommodation.  This will include information on low cost home ownership, 
private sector rented property (including any rent deposit schemes which may be 
operated by Oxford City Council) mutual exchanges and key worker 
accommodation, as appropriate. 
 

6.2 Home Choice 
 

 This is a scheme managed by the Private Sector Team within the Housing 
Needs Team that provides people who might otherwise become statutorily 
homeless with advice, support and financial assistance to be able to successfully 
secure tenancies in the private rented sector.  
 
Only applicants towards whom the Council has or would have a statutory duty to 
re-house (i.e. statutorily homeless or threatened with homelessness applicants) 
can be housed under by this team. 
 

6.3 Private Renting 
 

 From time to time there may be opportunities to advertise privately rented 
properties, with the agreement of the landlord.  These are most likely to be 
properties being made available for lettings with the help of rent deposit 
assistance from the local authority.  
 
The adverts will appear in the Housing Options area of the web site and in the 
property newsletter.       
 

6.4 HomeBuy and Other Low Cost Home Ownership Options 
 

 Lower cost home ownership includes a number of schemes designed to enable 
people who wish to buy a property and cannot afford to do so. It is targeted at 
people on housing waiting lists, social housing tenants, key workers as defined 
by current government legislation and other priority groups identified by the 
HomeBuy website.  
 
Lower cost home ownership schemes are co-ordinated by the HomeBuy Agent 
who manages a register for all schemes in the Oxford. There are a number of 
different scheme types.  Depending on your individual circumstances, and 
subject to availability, you may find that one or more of these are available to 
you. 

88



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 79 
 

 
HomeBuy includes the following schemes.  
 

· Shared Ownership, also often referred to as part-buy/part-rent, allows 
you to buy a part share of a property and pay a subsidised rent for the 
part that you don’t own.  This gives you the opportunity to buy additional 
shares as your financial situation evolves or save a deposit for the next 
step on the property ladder. Nominations for vacancies for New Build 
HomeBuy are made by Oxford City Council and anyone interested in the 
scheme must apply to the Oxford Register for Affordable Housing as well. 

 

· Equity Loans Scheme - offer low-interest loans that boost your 
affordability by topping up your mortgage.  These schemes allow you to 
purchase a property that you would normally be unable to afford. The 
loans offered will have varying repayment requirements depending on the 
specific scheme provider and will sometimes offer interest free periods,  

 

· Intermediate Rental Schemes - offer properties at rents at least 20% 
lower than private rental.  Sometimes individuals will also have the 
opportunity to purchase their property at a discount later on.  Applicants 
will usually be first time buyers but assistance is sometimes given if 
someone needs to buy due to circumstances such as relationship 
breakdown or because a family has outgrown their current property. 

 
Eligibility criteria including financial criteria will vary between schemes.  
 
Applicants should register with HomeBuy and because the Council needs to 
prioritise applications for New build HomeBuy, applicants for schemes in Oxford 
City also need to complete an application form for the Oxford Register for 
Affordable Housing.  Please note the schemes listed above can change, for up 
to date information on the schemes currently available check the Homebuy 
Website. 
 

 Advertising and Bidding for Home Ownership Properties 
 
Partner housing associations and private developers offering subsidised forms of 
home ownership will from time to time be able to advertise their properties via 
the Choice-Based Lettings website and Property Newsletters. These properties 
will be listed separately from properties for rent.  Registered applicants may 
apply by bidding in the same way as for rented properties. 
 
Applicants registered with the Council may bid for any properties advertised as 
available for sale. The short-list will be prioritised in the same way as for rented 
vacancies. However, the PRP or developer will be supplied with the contact 
details of all qualifying* applicants and those selected to proceed to purchase 
may not necessarily be those highest on the list. 
 
*Qualifying applicants are those who are eligible to register who have been 
assessed as having sufficient income and savings to proceed to make a 
purchase on the terms on offer by the Homebuy Agent. 

89



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 80 
 

 
7 Special Circumstances 

 
7.1 Reviews and Appeals 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Right of Review 
 
An applicant has the right to request an internal review of a decision taken that: 
 
1. The Council has decided that an applicant is not a qualifying person for an 
allocation. 
2. Not to register the application even if the applicant is in a reasonable 
preference  group 
3. Not to allow applicants to bid for a specific period of time, or overlook them in 
shortlists while an outstanding issue is being resolved (for example 
investigations into certain circumstances or the agreed payment of tenancy 
arrears).  
4. Not to make an offer to the highest bidding applicant, where information is 
available that would make the new tenancy unsustainable or unsafe (for example 
where an applicant has been allowed to register and has been given a priority, 
there may be certain properties or areas where it is inappropriate for them to be 
housed) - also see section 5.8.2 
5. They are ineligible for an allocation by virtue of being a person subject to 
immigration control who is ineligible for a housing allocation. 
 
6. The do not qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register.  
 
Where an authority decides an applicant is ineligible, by reason of their 
immigration status or serious unacceptable behaviour or any other reason that 
they do not qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register, it must notify them of 
the decision and grounds for it in writing.   
 
An applicant has the right on request (under s167 4A(c)) to be informed of the 
facts which will, or will likely, be taken into account in considering whether to 
make an allocation and has the right to request a review of the facts of their case 
 
An applicant also has the right to request a review of any adverse allocation 
decision. 
 

 Review of Material Facts (Reassessment) 
 
Any decision may be reassessed at any time on the following basis: 
 

· The applicant’s circumstances have changed materially since the decision 
was made, meaning that their eligibility has changed 

· Substantive new information has become available, not previously 
available to the Allocations Team, meaning that the new information 
changes the applicant’s eligibility. 

· The Council has made an administrative error, which is substantially 
detrimental to the applicant 

90



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 81 
 

 
 Process for Internal Reviews 

 
1. The original officer will first consider the review, and in light of any new 

information, may wish to reverse the original decision.  If not, the case will 
be passed to another officer to review. 

2. The reviewing officer must not have been party to the original allocation 
decision and should be senior to the original decision maker. 

3. A request for a review must be made, in writing, within 21 days of the date 
that the applicant is notified of the Council’s decision 

4. The review must be considered on the basis of policy, law and known fact 
at the date of review. 

5. Reviews should be completed wherever practicable within a 56-day time 
limit. If the review exceeds 56 days, the applicant must be notified of the 
delay, in writing. 

6. The applicant should be notified that s/he, or a representative acting on 
their behalf, may make representations in writing in connection to the 
review. 

7. The applicant will be asked for any further information needed in order for 
the assessment to be completed. 

8.  Any adverse material must be put to the applicant for their comment. 
9. The outcome of the review decision must be notified in writing, with 

reasons, to the applicant.   
 
An applicant who has been accepted as statutorily homeless by the Council also 
has the right to request a review of the ‘suitability’ of a final offer of permanent 
accommodation. However such reviews are authorised under the regulations 
that apply to Homelessness decisions which are similar to the process described 
above, but are not the same, for example the factors to be taken into account are 
prescribed by the regulations.   
 

 The Right of Appeal 
 
If the applicant believes that Oxford City Council has not acted reasonably or in 
accordance with its set procedure, they may have the right to seek a Judicial 
review of the decision. 
 

7.2 Under Occupation (and the Removal Expenses & Mobility Scheme) 
 

 Under Occupation  
 
Under occupation of properties is a concern for Oxford City Council, given the 
high demand for larger properties in the city.  Under-occupation is listed in the 
Code of Guidance on Allocation of Accommodation as being one of the 
unsatisfactory housing conditions that may be used to determine additional 
priority within and between the groups to which any Allocation Scheme must give 
reasonable preference.  In addition, the Council has the power (under the 
Housing Act 1996, Schedule 18, Part I, section 2) to make payments to 
encourage local housing authority tenants to move to other accommodation 
within the authority’s stock, or accommodation supplied by a registered Social 

91



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 82 
 

landlord such as a Housing Association.  (Powers are also provided for in 
sections 21 and 26 of the Housing Act 1985 and section 111 of the Local 
Government Act 1972.)  PRPs may have their own expenses and other 
incentives schemes in place, and each PRP should be contacted for details of 
current schemes.  These may also be supported by the Council. 
 
In order to encourage under occupiers to move to smaller accommodation, the 
following arrangements are in force. 
 
Any Oxford City Council tenants, or tenants of partner PRPs within the City, who 
have 2 or more bedrooms than they need, and who currently live in family 
accommodation, will be placed in Band 1.  
 
Any Oxford City Council tenants, or tenants of partner PRPs within the City, who 
have 1 bedroom more than they need, and who currently live in family 
accommodation, will be placed in Band 2.  
 

 Permitted Under Occupation 
 
There are situations where a degree of under-occupation may be permitted in 
making an allocation of accommodation: 
 

· ‘trading down’ from larger accommodation to two bed accommodation 

· medical recommendation  

· mutual exchanges 

· tenancy successions to a spouse or civil partner 

· urgent or exceptional moves (e.g. on moving a victim of harassment) (at 
decision of ECP) 

· decants 

· where permitted by the provisions of a Local Lettings Plan 
 
Under-occupation priority is not awarded to homeless applicants placed in 
temporary accommodation 
 

 The Removal Expenses and Mobility Scheme  
 
Oxford City Council operates a Removal Expenses and Mobility Scheme 
(REMS).  Oxford City Council Tenants who are granted REMS status are eligible 
for compensation based on the number of bedrooms released by any move, and 
expenses covering costs associated with moving.  Details of the levels of 
compensation and expenses payable under this scheme are available to 
members of the public on request. 
 

 
  

92



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 83 
 

8 Tenancies which are Treated Separately from the Normal Allocation 
Process 
 

8.1 Succession  
 
 

 Secure Tenancies for Oxford City Council tenants 
 
Existing tenants at 1 April 2012  
 
The rights of occupiers of council housing to succeed to a secure tenancy are 
governed by sections 87 and 88 of the 1985 Housing Act.  Secure tenants are 
able to pass on their tenancy to a spouse, civil partner or family member on the 
death of the tenant.  Assured tenants can pass their tenancy on to a spouse or 
civil partner. 
 
There is only one legal right to succession per tenancy.  
 
Those entitled to succeed by law are: 
 

· spouses and civil partners (secure and assured tenants) 

· family relatives (including blood and step relatives but not cousins) 

· co-habiting opposite sex couples, are regarded as family members 

· co-habiting same sex couples, without a civil partnership are not entitled 
to succeed by law 

 
The following conditions apply: 
 

· A spouse or civil partner must have occupied the property as their only or 
principal home at the time of the tenant’s death.  

· A family member must have resided with the tenant continuously for 12 
months as their only or principal home before the tenant’s death. 

· There can only be one successor to a tenancy.  

· A spouse or civil partner will usually take precedence over a family 
member where more than one person is entitled to succeed. 

 
If the tenant was a successor, there is no right to succeed.  
 
A succession will also have been deemed to be created by: 
 

· A joint to sole tenancy 

· An assignment to a person qualified to succeed  
 

Mutual exchanges are not successions unless the tenant was a successor in 
relation to the tenancy being assigned by way of exchange (s88 (3) 1985 Act) 
 
Tenants after 1 April 2012  
 
The Localism Act 2011 has amended the succession rights of new tenants for 

93



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 84 
 

tenancies that began on or after 1st April 2012.    
 
 
Now only the following have the legal right to succeed to a secure tenancy:   
 
the tenant’s: 
 

· Spouse; or  

· Civil partner; or 

· Cohabiting partner (of either sex).  
 

The successor must have been living with the tenant at the time of her/his death 
and the property must have been her/his only or main home. 
 
A landlord may wish to provide additional rights in the tenancy agreement which 
would allow a family member to succeed, such as the tenant’s son or daughter. 

The law says that other people can only succeed to a secure tenancy which 
began on or after 1 April 2012, if, when the tenant dies:- 

· there is no spouse, civil partner or cohabiting partner living in the property 
as her/his only or principal home; and  

· the tenancy agreement allows for someone else to succeed.  
 
Oxford City Council’s position is set out in the Tenancy Agreement for 
secure tenants.  From time to time the Council may revise the terms of the 
tenancy agreement and tenants are therefore strongly advised to check 
with the Council to confirm their position on succession and whether they 
are eligible to succeed. 
 
 

 Housing Association Assured Tenants/PRPs 
 
Housing Association tenants’ right to succeed is laid down in the Housing Act 
1988, and advice should be taken from the Housing Association. 
 
 

 Points to Note on Successions 
 
Where a succession results in the successor, other than spouses or civil 
partners, living in a property which: 
 

· is too large; or 
· has significant adaptations for disabled persons which are not required by 

the successor; or 
· is otherwise inappropriate to their needs 

 
 the Council may require the successor tenant to move to alternative, more 
appropriate, accommodation;  
 

94



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 85 
 

If a successor refuses to move from the property, the Council will pursue 
possession proceedings in the County Court. 
 
Where a succession results in the successor occupying a property of the 
appropriate size for their needs, they will normally be allowed to remain as a 
tenant of that property.  
 

 Otherwise Excluded Successors 
 
In addition to legal successions, the Council may also agree to 
“policy successions”. 

 
“Policy successions” generally apply to people who would have been entitled 
to succeed but for the fact one legal succession has happened, usually where 
a joint tenancy has become a sole tenancy.  Band 1 priority may be awarded 
to a close family member who would have been entitled to a legal succession, 
but is not, because one previous succession has already taken place, by 
authorisation of the Manager responsible for Allocations, based on the 
recommendation of the Tenancy Management Manager or equivalent ORAH 
officer.  If under the affordability guidelines a housing applicant is considered 
to be able to resolve their own housing situation they will not normally be 
included on the Housing Register.  

 
A potential “policy successor” (persons potentially entitled to a new offer of 
accommodation through the Allocation Scheme) can be asked to move 
immediately to more appropriate accommodation where a “policy succession” 
would result in the occupation of a property, which, is more extensive than 
their needs; or has significant adaptations for disabled persons, which are not 
required by the occupant. 

 
In this case if the “policy successor” refuses to move then the Council will 
treat them as an unauthorised occupant and pursue possession action. 

 
Civil partners are treated the same as spouses. 

 
“Policy successions” are not successions in law, but new tenancies, which 
bring their own rights of succession. 

 
8.2 Assignment  

 
 Assignment of a secure tenancy can take place on the following grounds (s91(3) 

of the Housing Act 1985 Act).  These are: 

· the assignment is pursuant to a Property Transfer Order under Section 24 
of the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973. 

· the assignment is to a person who would be qualified to succeed if the 
tenant had died immediately before the assignment. 

· mutual exchange 

 

95



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 86 
 

 
 

8.3 Mutual Exchange 
 

 Mutual Exchanges are exchanges by way of Assignment.  All permanent social 
housing tenants are able to go onto the register (Assured Shorthold Tenants or 
Introductory Tenants are excluded).  The Council encourages all eligible tenants 
who want to move to consider applying for an exchange, and the transfer 
application form allows applicants to register on the Mutual Exchange Register at 
the same time.  
 
Oxford City Council is responsible for maintaining the mutual exchange register 
on behalf of ORAH.  Exchanges are possible between multiple tenants – for 
example, a three way exchange.  
 
Secure tenants have a right to exchange under section 92 of the Housing Act 
1985.  Assured tenants have a right to exchange under the 1988 Housing Act  
Mutual exchanges may be refused in accordance with the Housing Act 1985 (for 
Council properties) or the Housing Act 1988 (for RSL properties).  Consent will 
only be made conditionally on the breaches of tenancy being rectified.  All 
mutual exchanges can only proceed with the written consent of both landlords. 
 
 

8.4 Joint To Sole and Sole To Joint Tenancies 
 

 Joint to Sole 
 
On receipt of written notice (normally 4 weeks notice) that one party wishes to 
end the tenancy, a new sole tenancy for the same property may be granted at 
the discretion of the Tenancy Management Manager. (The receipt of this 
confirmation will not necessarily lead to an automatic eviction of the other 
tenant). 
 
Sole to Joint 
 
On written notice by the sole tenant and the proposed joint tenant, a new, joint, 
tenancy for the same property may be granted at the discretion of the Tenancy 
Management Manager. The decision will be confirmed in writing.  
 

 Other Properties Within The ORAH Partnership 
 
It is at the discretion of each landlord how they treat applications to transfer from 
either joint to sole, or sole to joint tenancies. 
 

 
  

96



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013) Final Draft V.2 87 
 

Appendices   
   
I  People not Eligible for Social Housing in Oxford, including those 

subject to Immigration Controls 
  

II Officer Roles in Relation to the Allocation of Housing and Associated 
Processes 

  

III Guidelines for Calculations on Affordability   
    
   

 

97



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 88 
 

Appendix I – Classes Of Person Ineligible for an Allocation of Housing 
By Reason Of Their Immigration Status 
 
The following classes of persons are not eligible for an allocation of 
housing by reason of their Immigration status or lack of habitual 
residence, unless they are already a secure or introductory tenant of a 
housing authority, or an assured tenant of accommodation allocated to 
them by a housing authority. The requirement to be habitually resident in 
the UK does not apply to “qualifying” EEA nationals such as those working 
lawfully in the UK.  Non-qualifying persons such as EU nationals who are 
not economically active or exercising their initial 3 month right of 
residence are ineligible.  
 

a) A person registered with the Home Office as an asylum seeker. 
 
b) A visitor to this country (including an overseas student) who has 

limited leave to enter or remain in the UK granted on the basis that 
he or she will not have recourse to public funds. 

 
c) A person who has a valid leave to enter or remain in the UK which 

includes a condition that there shall be no recourse to public funds. 
 

d) A person who has a valid leave to enter or remain in the UK which 
carries no limitation or condition and who is not habitually resident 
in the Common Travel Area. 

 
e) A sponsored person who has been in this country less than five 

years (from date of entry or date of sponsorship, whichever is the 
latest) and whose sponsor(s) is still alive. 

 
f) A person who is in the United Kingdom illegally, or who has 

overstayed his/her leave.  
 
The Secretary of State may make regulations which allow allocations to 
be made to prescribed classes of persons subject to immigration control 
within the meaning of the Asylum and Immigration Act 1996, but such 
prescribed classes of persons shall not include any person who is 
excluded from housing benefit by Section 115 of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999 (exclusion from benefits).  
Further information and assistance on these matters is available on 
request. 
 
The Council will refer to the relevant UK Border Agency Guidelines to ensure 
compliance with current immigration legislation. 
 
  

98



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 89 
 

Appendix II – Officer Roles In Relation To the Allocation of Housing and 
Associated Processes 
 
(1) General. The power to operate the Allocation Scheme is a power 
delegated by full Council in accordance with Oxford City Council’s Constitution 

 
(2)  The Head of Housing, may further delegate operation of the Scheme to 
officers within the service (or on occasion to other officers)   
 
Officer Roles and Responsibilities 
 

Officer 
Designation 

Role and Responsibilities 

Housing Needs 
Assistant 

a) Provision of advice and assistance in accessing appropriate 
accommodation for all applicants 

b) Inputting data relating to individual applications onto the HMIS 
computer system 

c) Answering general queries by telephone, in writing, and in 
person 

d) Verification of documents relating to applications for housing 
e) Home visits to applicants for housing 
 

Allocations / 
Options Officer/ 
Housing Needs 
Officers/Assess
ment 
Officers/Assess
ment & Support 
Team 
Leader/Senior 
Allocations 
Officer 

a) Assessment of incoming applications, including application 
forms and any additional material, carrying out home visits, 
verification, and any additional investigations required to ensure 
that those applications truthfully reflect the housing situation of 
the applicants concerned, and to determine eligibility and 
qualification for inclusion on the housing register and an 
allocation of housing 

b) Drawing up shortlists for allocations of housing, and 
nominations to PRP properties, investigation of suitability of 
short-listed applicants for such allocations and nominations, 
and ensuring that the most suitable allocation or nomination is 
made, in line with policy 

c) Provision of general housing advice and assistance to 
applicants, including signposting and referral to internal and 
external sources of further advice and assistance, ad home 
visits to applicants 

d) Initial determination of the reasonableness or otherwise of a 
refusal of an allocation of housing/nomination to a PRP property 

e) Awarding Band 3 or 4 priority based on a HAHA assessment as 
directed by the Allocations Manager  

f) Awarding Band 4 on an ECP assessment as directed by the 
Allocations Manager  

g) Answering general queries by telephone, in writing, and in 
person 
 
 

 

Manager a) Checking paperwork relating to all allocations and nominations, 

99



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 90 
 

Responsible for 
Allocations (the 
Assessment & 
Support Team 
Leader and 
Senior 
Allocations 
Officer also 
have delegated 
authority 
authorise day to 
day work on 
behalf of the 
Allocations 
Manager) 

to ensure that correct procedure has been followed, and 
authorising offers and nominations, including decisions as to 
the reasonableness or otherwise of an allocation or nomination 

b) Monitoring allocations and nominations to ensure that the 
correct percentage of lettings are made to each re-housing list, 
in accordance with the allocations percentages set by Oxford 
City Council 

c) Decisions as to whether or not an applicant is eligible &/or 
qualifies for an allocation of housing in light of previous 
unacceptable behaviour (including outstanding rent arrears) 

d) Decisions as to whether or not an applicant should be excluded 
from qualifying for inclusion on the Housing Register, in light of 
previous unacceptable behaviour (including outstanding rent 
arrears), or in light of their financial resources 

e) Decisions relating to the authorisation of ‘like-to-like’ transfers, 
outside the Allocations Scheme, in sheltered accommodation 
and other schemes 

f) Authorisation of over-riding categories to applications where: 

· a previous commitment to re-house has been made by the 
Exceptional Circumstances Panel 

· a status of permanent or temporary decant is required to 
facilitate works to the applicant’s home 

· a successor or ‘policy successor’ award is required to Band 
1 may be awarded to expedite this move 

g) Decisions to make Direct Offers of accommodation 
 

Principal 
Housing 
Facilitator 

a) Responsible for carrying out all internal reviews of allocations 
decisions 

b) Advice and assistance to all officers in respect of, technical, 
policy, or other matters which may affect the progress of an 
application, including decisions regarding eligibility or the lack 
of it, for whatever reason 

 

Exceptional 
Circumstances 
Panel 

Responsible for review of cases in which circumstances not dealt 
with by the banding Scheme may have an impact on an 
applicant’s housing need, and the award of increased priority, or 
other condition or restriction, as appropriate to reflect the 
applicant’s situation. 
 
  The panel does not have a fixed membership, but will be drawn 

from officers within the Housing Business Units and from ORAH 
partners, who have sufficient knowledge and experience to 
contribute to the Panel’s effectiveness. The panel will comprise 
of a minimum of three persons, including two managers. The 
Panel will be chaired by a Senior Officer for the Housing Needs 
Team.  Officers referring cases to the panel will make 
representations on behalf of the applicant in question, but may 
not sit on the Panel for cases they have referred to it 

 

Head of  Resolution of disputes between officers regarding interpretation 

100



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 91 
 

Housing & 
Property  
 

of the Allocations Scheme and decisions arising from that 
interpretation 
 
The Head of Housing & Property has delegated authority to: 
 
Authorise minor amendments to the Allocations Scheme proposed 
by the Allocations Manager where: 
 

· Legislation changes and the Allocations Scheme needs a 
minor change to comply with new legislation and the 
change will have a low impact on those on the housing 
register. 

 

· Best practice or new guidance is introduced that needs to 
be reflected in the Allocations Scheme and the change will 
have a low impact on those on the housing register 

 
Authorise offers of accommodation outside of the banding priority 
scheme for “management cases” to make the best use of stock for 
existing tenants, or other applicants (on an exceptional basis).   To 
include: 
 

· Adapted properties no longer required by the tenant 

· To facilitate a move as an alternative to adapting a 
property 

· To maximise bedroom occupation and ensure affordability 
 
 
Approve the annual lettings plan targets proposed each year by the 
Allocations Manager – where the targets remain the same as the 
previous year or include only a small adjustment (up to 5% or less 
than 10 properties per annum) to the target of properties to be 
allocated to each list. 
 
Change the annual lettings plan targets after 6 months if the demand 
on the housing register has changed significantly and minor 
corrective action is required. Such changes should be subsequently 
reported to CEB if the annual lettings plan was approved by CEB.  
 
and 
 
Amend the Choice Based Lettings cycle (periods and dates) after 
appropriate consultation 
 

Tenancy 
Management 
Manager, Area 
Housing 
Managers & 
Area Housing 

a) Approval and counter signature of submissions to the 
Exceptional Circumstances Panel, and Health & Housing 
Assessment Forms. 

 
b) Decisions on Joint to Sole and Sole to Joint tenancy 

applications (Tenancy Operations Manager) 

101



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 92 
 

Team Leaders 
(or equivalents 
in partner 
PRPs) 

 
c) The authority to make a recommendation to award a 

succession status to an applicant 
 

Senior 
Furnished 
Tenancy Officer/ 
Furnished 
Tenancy Officer 

Responsibility for administering cases under the Removals 
Expenses Scheme. 
 

Tenancy 
Management 
Officers (or 
equivalent role 
in within the 
Council or 
partner RSLs) 
 

a) Approval, inspections, and tenancy changes relating to 
requests for Mutual Exchange of Tenancies 

 
b) Home visits to some transfer applicants 

 
c) Landlord references for tenants 

Mobile Wardens Home visits for all applications for sheltered housing, at 
application and offer stages of the allocation process. 
 

Environmental 
Health Officers 

Assessment of disrepair, and award of priority for housing 
condition, where requested by an applicant. 
 

Customer 
Service 
Officers/ORAH 
equivalents 
 

General advice and verification of documents provided by 
applicants. 
 

Health and 
Housing 
Assessment 
(HAHA) Panel 

Responsible for awarding priority and assessing cases in which 
the health of the applicant, or their household, is worsened due 
to their current housing circumstances, in accordance with this 
Allocation Scheme.  The award of increased priority, as 
appropriate, should reflect the applicant’s situation. 
 
The panel does not have a fixed membership.  This will be drawn 
from officers from Housing and ORAH partners, and may include 
a health professional, who have sufficient knowledge and 
experience to contribute to the Panel’s effectiveness. The panel 
will comprise of a minimum of 2 persons, including 1 manager 
and health professional or 1 managers and another officer.  The 
Panel will be chaired by a Senior Housing Needs Officer.  
Officers referring cases to the panel may make representations, 
but may not sit on the Panel for cases they have referred. 
 

 

102



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 93 
 

Appendix III – Guideline Calculations for Affordability 
 
Social housing is a scarce resource.  New Applicants applying for housing or 
existing housing applicants may be excluded from the Housing Register, 
regardless of their housing circumstances, if there is evidence to suggest that 
they have sufficient income or assets to resolve their housing situation 
through the housing market by renting or buying a suitable home.  
Furthermore, other  adult members (including their partner’s where applicable) 
may also be excluded from being included on an applicant’s housing 
application if there is evidence to suggest that they have sufficient income or 
assets to resolve their own housing situation (or if they refuse to provide this 
information when requested).  Each case will be considered on its merits and 
where there would otherwise be hardship, priority may be awarded in 
accordance with the policies and protocols of the Allocations scheme. 
 
Property 
 
Housing applicants who own a property in the UK or overseas that is 
considered suitable for their households housing needs will not normally 
qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register.  However, the property must be 
physically and legally accessible.  If the equity in the property is £16 000 or 
more and this would provide sufficient funds to resolve their housing situation 
then the applicant would normally be expected to make their own housing 
arrangements. 
 
Adult household members of housing applicants who own a property in the 
UK or overseas that is considered suitable for their housing needs will not 
normally qualify for inclusion on an applicant’s housing application.  
 
Property can include: narrow boats and caravans as well as other dwellings 
that are suitable for occupation and reasonable to occupy. 
 
Savings/Investments/Assets 
 
Housing applicants with savings/investments or assets of £16 000 or more will 
not normally qualify for inclusion on the Housing Register.  
 
Adult household members with savings/investments or assets of £16 000 or 
may also be excluded from an applicant’s housing application if they are 
considered to have sufficient funds to resolve their own housing situation.  
 
Income 
 
Applicants with sufficient income to resolve their own housing situation may 
be excluded from the housing register. An applicant’s income combined with 
savings less than £16000 could be taken into account when making this 
decision.   
 
Exceptions 
 

103



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 94 
 

The Manager responsible for Allocations can agree for exceptions in 
appropriate cases.   
  
Those applicants to whom the Council has accepted a duty under 
Homelessness Legislation may not be included in this policy as it would not be 
in the best interests of the Council to delay getting such persons housed due 
to the high cost of temporary accommodation.  However, adult household 
members meeting the criteria for exclusion under the guidelines could still be 
excluded from an applicant’s homeless application for the purposes of 
assessing the size of property they require.     
Those applicants applying for Shared Ownership will be included on the 
Shared Ownership Register for the purposes of assessing their housing need, 
but they will not normally be included on the General Housing Register or 
another applicant’s housing application.  
 
Exclusion from the Housing Register 
 
Should a decision be made to exclude an applicant, or a member of their 
household, they will be informed of this, with the right to request a review, and 
will be given information as to how to source alternative accommodation and 
resolve their own housing needs through the open market or private sector. 
 
Verification 
 
Applicants and their household members can be asked to provide evidence of 
their income, savings and assets in order to verify the affordability 
assessment. If applicant fails to provide sufficient evidence then their 
registration may not be able to proceed and they will not be included on the 
Housing Register or removed if they are an existing applicant.  If a member of 
their household fails to provide sufficient evidence they will not be “counted” 
as a member of their household for re-housing purposes or assessing their 
housing need.  
 
  

104



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 95 
 

Appendix 3: Report on the results of the Allocations Review 
Consultation 
 

1. Background 
 
The Allocations Scheme is the policy the Council uses to allocate social 
housing in Oxford and to prioritise those in housing need on the Housing 
Register for offers of housing.   
 
The existing Allocations Scheme came into effect in July 2009 and now 
needs to be changed to take into account: 
 

· The Council’s new Tenancy and Homeless Strategies;  
 

· Recent changes in legislation, guidance and best practice, balanced with local 
needs and aspirations 

 
A draft copy of the proposed new Allocations Scheme was approved by 
the CEB on 13/2/13 to go out to public consultation and the 
questionnaire to be used for the consultation was approved by the Public 
Involvement Board on 1/3/13.  The consultation took place between 3/4 
and 19/5/13.  Registered Providers of Social Housing in Oxford, every 
applicant on the housing register (over 4700) and other key stakeholders 
(including the advice and support agencies) were given the opportunity 
to comment on the proposed changes and to complete an on-line 
questionnaire on E-consult.  A paper version of the form was made 
available to those without access to a PC and the responses also logged 
onto E-consult.  There were 271 responses received to the on-line 
survey (including paper versions of the form loaded on to E-consult by 
the Housing Needs Team). 
 

2. 
 
 
 

 This report provides a summary of the responses received to the 
questionnaire in addition to the additional feedback and comments 
received during the consultation including the views of the Registered 
Providers of Social Housing with stock in Oxford.   
 

3.  Qualification - Local Connection 
 
The proposal in the New Allocations Scheme to restrict access to the 
Housing Register in the future, in most cases, to those with a local 
connection through work, residence or close family connection was 
strongly supported by the majority of respondents including 84% of those 
who completed the survey.  This is not surprising as most of the existing 
applicants on the Housing Register (around 4200) have an assessed 
local connection to the City.  Comments on the proposed changes 
included suggestions to allow applicants with a health and disability 
needing to move to Oxford to still be able to apply for housing.  The 
proposed Allocations Scheme already allows the Allocations Manager 
discretion to include such cases.   
 

105



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 96 
 

4. Qualification – Capital of £16K &/or Sufficient  
 
The proposal to normally exclude access to the Housing Register to 
Housing Applicants and/or members of their household with £16 000 or 
more and/or income to resolve their own housing situation was 
supported by most (61%) of respondents and only 20% disagreed with 
this proposal. Comments on the proposed changes included that        
£16 000 might not be enough for some households to resolve their 
housing situation. The Allocations Scheme allows for this by considering 
each case on its own merits.  
 
 

5.  Qualification – Rent Arrears 
 
The proposal the Council should be able to take into account rent arrears 
when considering if an applicant should qualify for inclusion on the 
housing register was strongly supported by Registered Providers of 
Social Housing and supported by the majority (71%) of respondents to 
the survey, only 11% disagreed with this proposal.  Comments on the 
proposed changes included that the Council should allow some 
exceptions. The proposed Allocations Scheme already allows some 
exceptions; such as cases where housing applicants have low level rent 
arrears, have demonstrated that they can now pay their rent regularly 
and other for complex or high needs cases unable resolve their own 
housing situation where there is evidence appropriate support is in place 
to help them sustain their tenancy in the future. 
  

6. Qualification – Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) 
 
The proposal the Council should be able to excluded applicants from the 
housing register where they or a member of their household has been 
responsible for ASB unless they can evidence their behaviour has been 
amended or another tenancy has been successfully maintained, was 
strongly supported by Registered Providers of Social Housing and 
supported by the vast majority (88%) of respondents to the survey. Only 
5% disagreed.  Comments including those from the Registered Providers 
was that the definition of what constituted ASB sufficient to exclude an 
applicant would need to be defined in more detail and consideration 
should be given, particularly for families in housing need, in providing 
support to address any ASB issues before excluding them from the 
opportunity of housing.  This has been taken into account in the 
proposed Allocations Scheme. 
 

7. Priority on the Housing Register 
 
The overall feedback from the consultation is that while it is 
acknowledged different groups in housing need should be given priority 
through the Allocations Scheme there is no easy way to decide who 
should be given the most priority for the limited amount of properties that 
become available to let in Oxford.  Registered Providers supported the 

106



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 97 
 

use of the priority bands for assessing Housing Need.  The response 
from those completing the survey was that the Council and its partner’s 
should do more to build affordable and social housing within Oxford and 
to house those in housing need.  The proposed Allocations Scheme 
seeks to give priority to those in the most assessed housing need.  Plans 
for new affordable housing within Oxford including the new Barton West 
development will go some way to increasing the supply of housing in the 
City.  
 

8. Priority on the Housing Register to Statutory & Non-Statutory 
Homeless  
 
The proposal to reduce the priority on the Housing Register to homeless 
applicants owed a statutory homeless duty (placed in homeless 
temporary accommodation) and the non-statutory homeless received a 
mixed response.  Although most, 47% of the respondents, agreed with 
this proposal there were 17% who disagreed, however, as 16% of the 
respondents stated they were homeless this is perhaps not surprising.  
Feedback from the Registered Providers and others was while they 
recognised priority needed to be given to the homeless this should be 
balanced against the needs of existing tenants and other households 
needing re-housing on the housing register including those with health or 
disabilities, households living in over-crowded accommodation and 
existing tenants affected by the bedroom tax needing to downsize (which 
the proposed Allocations Scheme seeks to do). 
 

9. Time In Housing Need 
 
The comments from the consultation were that “time” should in some 
way be taken into account when prioritising households in similar 
housing need for housing.  The proposal in the new Allocations Scheme 
that “time in housing need/priority band” should be used for all five 
priority bands in the future, instead of just for applicants in Band 1 as 
currently, was supported by Registered Providers and agreed by a 
majority (71%) of respondents to the survey, only 11% disagreed with 
this proposal.   
 

10. Age of Household Members 
 
The proposal to change “rules” in the Allocations Scheme used, to 
calculate the size of property a family with children, is eligible for based 
on the age and sex of their children, by aligning them with the new 
“bedroom tax” rules has not surprisingly received a mixed response in 
the consultation.  Registered Providers strongly supported this approach 
to avoid housing new tenants in unaffordable accommodation and to 
make the best use of the limited stock available.  Although 48% of 
respondents to the survey agreed with the proposals to increase the age 
at which 2 children of the opposite sex are considered able to share from 
7 to 10, 43% disagreed. Furthermore although 49% agreed with the 
proposal that in the future 2 children of the same sex should normally be 

107



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 98 
 

able to share until the eldest in 16, 34% disagreed.  The proposed 
Allocations Scheme seeks to reduce the impact of the proposed change, 
by leaving discretion in the Allocations Scheme for some households 
with children to be eligible for larger properties where a child has been 
assessed as requiring a separate bedroom on health or social and 
welfare grounds. 
 

11. Under-occupiers in Social Housing  
 
Tenants Downsizing 
 
The proposal to allow existing social housing tenants in Oxford who are 
currently in a property that is too big for them to be able to move to a 
smaller property, even if it is still has one more bedroom than they 
require, to free up a larger family property was supported. Registered 
Providers agreed with the proposal on the basis the downsizing tenant 
could still afford the rent at the smaller property. The majority of 
respondents to the survey (65%) also agreed this was desirable and only 
13% disagreed.  The proposed Allocations Scheme will only allow 
downsizing tenants to be offered a larger property than they require if 
they can afford the rent if they are of working age and will still be affected 
by the “bedroom tax” after the move.  
 
Long-term Foster Carers 
 
The vast majority (80%) also agreed with the proposal that long-term 
foster carers could be offered a property larger than they would normally 
require if they have fostered children continuously for 3 years or more.  
Registered Providers supported the proposal too as long as the tenant 
could afford to pay the rent at the property they were offered.  
 
Pregnant Applicants  
 
The proposal to “no longer” count an unborn baby when assessing an 
applicant’s housing requirements until the baby is born received mixed a 
response.  While most (51%) respondents agreed with this proposal, 
21% disagreed and 27% were undecided.  Registered Providers 
confirmed they would consider accepting a housing applicant who was 
pregnant before the birth of the baby but only if they could afford to pay 
the rent.  The Allocations Scheme allows some discretion in such cases 
in exceptional circumstances.  
 

12. Household Members – Adult Students Living Away from Home 
 
The proposal to no longer “count” adult children or household members 
who are who are studying and living away from home elsewhere for part 
of the time in student, private rented or other accommodation received a 
mixed response.  Although 51% of the respondents agreed with this 
proposal, 21% disagreed and 27% were undecided.  Comments ranged 
from requesting a clearer definition on what constituted “part of the time” 

108



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 99 
 

to concern over the lack of space for a student returning during term-time 
for studying and the impact this might have on student applications in 
Oxford from families on a low income.  It is no longer proposed to include 
this change in the new Allocations Scheme.  
 

13. Over-crowded Large Families 
 
The proposal to allow large families with a 4 bedroom housing need 
living in a 2 bedroom property or smaller, or in homeless temporary 
accommodation, to bid for 3 bedroom properties (as well as 3 bedroom 
parlour houses) to improve their housing situation was supported by 71% 
of respondents and only 8% disagreed.  Comments received included 
that applicants should not be put under pressure to bid for smaller 
properties than they actually required unless they choose to.  The 
Allocations Scheme allows for this and it is up to the housing applicant to 
make the decision if they want to request moving to a smaller property 
too. Registered Providers supported this proposal on the basis they 
would have the final decision on the maximum number of children that 
could be housed into any of their 3 bedroom properties as they vary in 
size and layout.  
 

14. Unreasonable Refusals  
 
The proposal the Council will normally suspend (with some exceptions) a 
housing applicant from the General Register or Transfer List from 
bidding for up to 12 months if they have refused two offers without good 
reason in less than 12 months was supported by Registered Providers 
and the majority (71%) of respondents to the survey. Only 14% 
disagreed. The new Allocations Scheme proposes to allow a housing 
applicant to appeal against this decision if they disagree.  
 

15. Offers To Homeless Applicants  
 
The proposal that Homeless Applicants placed in temporary 
accommodation provided by the Council to whom the Council has 
accepted a statutory homeless duty, will be made only one suitable offer 
of accommodation in the future, which could be in the Private Rented 
Sector was  supported by Registered Providers. The majority of 
respondents (61%) to the survey agreed too. 20% disagreed.   

  
  

109



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 100 
 

Appendix 4 Equality Impact Assessment 
 

1. Equality Impact Assessment on the proposed changes to the  
Allocations Scheme 
 
Before drafting the final version of the proposed new Allocations Scheme 
an impact assessment has been completed profiling those potentially 
affected to ensure that BME groups, the disabled and other groups such 
as the homeless or older applicants are not inadvertently disadvantaged 
by the proposed changes.  This document provides a summary of the 
main proposed changes and the potential impact.  
 

2. Profile of the Housing Register 
 
There are 5 Housing Need Priority Bands ranging from Band 1 very high 
housing need down to Band 5 low/or no housing need.  
 
A summary of the total number of housing applicants with a live housing 
application on the Housing Register (including those without a Local 
Connection) by Housing Need Priority Band is shown in Table 1 below 
(1/7/13). 
 
Table 1 
 

Housing Need Priority Band Number of Housing Applicants 

Band 1 62 

Band 2 363 

Band 3 1079 

Band 4 86 

Band 5 2696 

Total 4286 

 
 

3. Due to the high demand for housing and the limited amount of properties 
becoming available each year most housing applicants in Bands 4 or 5 
are unlikely to receive an offer of housing in the foreseeable future. 
Unless they are 60 years or older and are eligible to apply for low 
demand sheltered studio flats that become available more frequently, or 
require an ground floor level access property or adapted property.  
The majority of the proposed changes will have little or no impact on the 
chances of housing applicants in Bands 4 or 5 receiving an offer of 
housing. 
 

4. Households with a Disability  
There are a number of properties which have been specially built or 
adapted for people with disabilities, where these met the Mobility 
Standard or Wheelchair Standard, Oxford City Council seeks to match 
these most closely to applicants that specifically require this type and 
standard of accommodation and will continue to specifically label these 
properties as such when they are advertised through Choice-Based 

110



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 101 
 

Lettings. 
 

5. There are 4 Mobility Levels used to identify the type of property a 
housing applicant requires where they and/or another member of their 
household has a disability and requires ground floor level access and/or 
adaptations to a property.  
 
A summary of the Mobility Levels used is shown in Table 2 below.  
 
Table 2 Mobility Levels  
 

 

Mobility Level 1: Level Access.  Level access into the 
property (from the street to the front door) and level access 
throughout the property (no internal steps). 
 

 

Mobility Level 2: Mobility Standard.  Level access into and 
throughout the property, although all rooms may not be 
accessible by a wheelchair.  Meets part M of the Building 
Regulations (e.g. minimum door widths). 
 

 

Mobility Level 3: Disabled Adaptations.  The property may 
not meet the other standards, but it has a significant 
adaptation, such as a level access shower; a stair-lift; or a 
walk-in bath.   
 

 

Mobility Level 4: Wheelchair Standard.  The property is 
specifically designed for wheelchair users.  Design features 
include parking and level access; enhanced circulation 
space; and specialist fixtures and fittings.   
 

 
 

111



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 102 
 

6.  
Table 3 below shows a summary of the total number of housing 
applicants on the housing register and shows those with a disability 
identified as requiring a ground floor level access property and/or an 
adapted property. 
 
Table 3 
 

Mobility Level 
Required 

Number of Housing 
Applicants  Percentage 

None 3960 92.61% 

Mobility Level 1 208 4.86% 

Mobility Level 3   102 2.39% 

 Mobility Level 4 6 0.14% 

Total 4276 100% 
 

7. When assessing the impact of the proposed changes to the Allocations 
Scheme the Ethnicity of the households affected has also been 
considered to ensure that the changes do not adversely affect particular 
groups.  
 
Each of the proposed changes and the potential impact on different 
groups has been gone into in more detail later on in the report.  Table 4 
overleaf shows the Ethnicity of Housing Applicants on the Housing 
Register (including those without a Local Connection). The number of 
applicants varies slightly from Table 1 because the data is based on a 
report slightly more recently on 16/7/13.  
 

112



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 103 
 

8. Table 4 Ethnicity of Housing Applicants on the Housing Register 
 

Ethnicity 
No of Housing 
Applicants Percentage 

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH 
BANGLADESHI 74 1.73% 

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH 
INDIAN 56 1.31% 

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH 
OTHER 53 1.24% 

ASIAN OR ASIAN BRITISH 
PAKASTANI 108 2.53% 

BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH 
AFRICAN 318 7.44% 

BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH 
CARRIBBEAN 120 2.81% 

BLACK OR BLACK BRITISH 
OTHER 154 3.60% 

DECLINED TO ANSWER 1 0.02% 

MIXED OTHER 13 0.30% 

MIXED WHITE AND ASIAN 13 0.30% 

MIXED WHITE AND BLACK 
AFRICAN 17 0.40% 

MIXED WHITE AND BLACK 
CARIBBEAN 58 1.36% 

NONE STATED 825 19.29% 

OTHER ETHNIC ORIGIN 
CHINESE 19 0.44% 

OTHER ETHNIC ORIGIN 
OTHER 58 1.36% 

WHITE BRITISH 1986 46.45% 

WHITE IRISH 40 0.94% 

WHITE OTHER 363 8.49% 

Total 4276 100% 
 

9. Qualification for Inclusion on the Housing Register 
 
The new Allocations Scheme proposes that some housing applicants will 
in future be excluded from qualifying for inclusion on the Housing 
Register and being considered for offers of housing.  Each housing 
applicant affected will be informed of the reasons why they do not qualify 
and be given the opportunity to appeal and provide supporting 
information if they disagree with the decision.  If their appeal is 
successful they will be allowed to join or remain on the housing register.  
 

113



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 104 
 

10. Local Connection – by residence, employment or close family 
 
Although there are currently around 4300 housing applicants on the 
Housing Register and the majority have a local connection to Oxford, 
there are around 350 that do not have a local connection.  Table 5 below 
shows a summary of the total number of housing applicants with a live 
housing application on the Housing Register without a Local Connection 
to Oxford by Housing Need Priority Band. 
 
Table 5 Housing Applicants with no Local Connection to Oxford 
 

Housing Need Priority 
Band 

Number of Housing Applicants with No 
Local Connection to Oxford  

Band 1 0 

Band 2 5 

Band 3 49 

Band 4 6 

Band 5 283 

Total 343 
 

11. The Council already advertises properties becoming available in Oxford 
with preference to applicants with a local connection.  So most 
applicants without a Local Connection on the housing register are 
unlikely to successfully bid for a property.  The proposal to restrict 
access to the housing register in most cases to only those with a local 
connection will have a minimal impact.  The Allocations Scheme 
proposes to allow exceptions and some individual high needs cases 
without a local connection to join the housing register, even if they don’t 
have a local connection, where for example they are a member of the 
armed forces, fleeing domestic abuse or applying for sheltered 
accommodation.  
 

12. Capital, Savings & Income 
 
There will only be around 500 properties becoming available to let within 
Oxford during 2013/14.  Due to the high demand for social housing in 
Oxford and the low amount that become available it is important to 
prioritise those in housing need and unable to resolve their own housing 
situation.  Although the Allocations Scheme proposes that applicants can 
be excluded from the housing register if they have sufficient capital, 
savings &/or income each case will be considered on its merits and 
where there would otherwise be hardship, priority may be awarded in 
accordance with the policies and protocols of the Allocations scheme.  
The exact number of households that are likely to be affected is not 
known as this information is not currently recorded.  However, it is 
expected to be a low number since it will only affect those housing 
applicants in higher priority bands (1 to 3) likely to receive an offer of 
housing and based on past experience most are on a low income and/or 
in receipt of benefits which is why they are unable to secure alternative 
accommodation and request housing assistance.  Housing applicants in 

114



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 105 
 

lower priority bands who may be affected are unlikely to shortlist for an 
offer anyway so the impact is expected to be low.   It is proposed that 
following the new Allocations Scheme coming into effect to identify such 
households at either the point of application or if they are existing 
applicants at the point they are asked to re-register or shortlist for a 
potential offer. 
 

13. Qualification – Rent Arrears 
 
The proposed changes to exclude housing applicants from inclusion on 
the Housing Register with significant rent arrears owed to the Council, an 
ORAH partner, or a Private Landlord in the future will have little impact 
on the chances such applicants  being re-housed.  Under the existing 
Allocations Scheme tenants (or former tenants) with rent arrears are not 
normally considered for an offer of housing (with some exceptions) 
unless they have demonstrated they are suitable to be a potential tenant 
by clearing their rent arrears in full or making a satisfactory payment 
arrangement and maintaining it consistently for at least 6 months.   So 
the proposed changes will have little impact on most housing applicants 
currently in rent arrears. However, to minimise the impact on some 
households, for example those affected by the new “bedroom tax” or 
benefit cap, the new Allocations Scheme proposes to continue to allow 
some exceptions and for the Allocations Manager to have the discretion 
to allow some high needs households to stay on the housing register and 
be considered for an offer of housing.  The Welfare Reform Project 
Team and the Allocations Team will continue to work together to try and 
assist those households with rent arrears identified as being affected by 
the changes introduce by the Welfare Reform Act. It is proposed that 
following the new Allocations Scheme coming into effect to identify such 
households at either the point of application or if they are existing 
applicants at the point they are asked to re-register or the Council is 
advised that they have fallen into rent arrears. For example when a 
landlord reference stating an applicant has rent arrears is received at the 
point they have shortlisted for a potential offer.  
 

14. Qualification Anti-Social Behaviour 
  
Under the existing Allocations Scheme housing applicants responsible 
for ASB (or with a household member responsible for ASB) are not 
normally considered for an offer of housing.  Unless they have 
demonstrated they are suitable to be a potential tenant by addressing 
their behaviour for a satisfactory period of time. So the proposed 
changes to exclude Housing applicants responsible for ASB will have a 
minimal impact on their chances of being re-housed.  Where an 
applicant’s circumstances change significantly they can reapply for 
housing and a new housing application will be considered.  If they 
disagree with being excluded they can still appeal against this decision.  
 
 
 

115



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 106 
 

15. Priority on the Housing Register to Statutory and Non-Statutory 
Homeless  
 
There are currently 123 households (as of 30/6/13) living in homeless 
temporary accommodation provided by the Council and around half have 
been accepted a “Statutory Homeless” and are owed a duty to be offered 
housing.  Although the proposal to move them from priority Band 2 to 
Band 3 will affect their priority relative to other housing applicants in 
housing need on the housing register, this will not significantly impact the 
time it takes to for them to receive an offer of housing.  The Allocations 
Scheme proposes the Council should continue to be able to advertise 
some properties with preference to a specific housing list, such as the 
homeless list, to ensure sufficient homeless households are re-housed 
and the numbers in temporary accommodation are kept to a minimum.  
Where there homelessness cannot be prevented.  
 

16. There are currently 142 “non-statutory” homeless applicants on the 
Housing Register, the vast majority living in supported “move-on” 
accommodation across the City.  Although under the proposals these 
households will move from Band 3 down to Band 4, this will have a low 
impact on their actual chances of being re-housed.  As housing 
applicants living in “move-on” accommodation, are not normally 
considered for an offer of housing unless they have been assessed as 
ready to move to independent accommodation. The Council will continue 
to operate a “move-on” Scheme and normally allocate up to 50 places a 
year to house applicants considered as ready to move-on.  These 
applicants will be placed into Band 2 once they are accepted as ready to 
move-on (the same high priority as in the current Allocations Scheme) 
and will not be impacted on by the changes.   
 

17. The breakdown of BME statutory and non-statutory homeless 
households (including those with a disability) is representative of the 
whole housing register so the proposed change does not inadvertently 
impact more on these groups although some individual households will 
be affected.  The new Allocations Scheme continues to give priority to 
housing applicants requiring a ground floor and/or adapted property over 
others that do not in similar housing need so housing applicants with a 
disability and requiring a ground floor or adapted property will still have 
similar priority under the new Allocations Scheme. 
 

18. Time in Housing Need 
 
The proposal to use time in Housing Need Priority Band instead of the 
Registration date will have a low impact on housing applicants on the 
housing register because transitional arrangements are proposed to 
ensure that existing housing applicants are not disadvantaged. If a 
housing applicant’s registration date is earlier than the Housing Need 
Priority Band date, when the new Allocations Scheme comes into effect, 
the earlier date will be used so the housing applicant does not lose out. 
 

116



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 107 
 

 

19. The Size of Property an Applicant is Eligible to Apply For 
 
Households with children 
 
The changes introduced by the Government through the Welfare Reform 
Act including the “bedroom tax” and “benefit cap”, effectively require 
Councils and Registered Providers of Social Housing across the UK to 
apply stricter “rules” when determining the number of bedrooms an 
applicant with children require to meet their housing need.  In order to 
ensure tenants are not housed in unaffordable accommodation where 
they could potentially lose their homes due to non-payment of their rent. 
The Allocations Scheme proposes to continue to allow some households 
to apply for larger properties, for example, where households are 
assessed as requiring an extra bedroom due to a household member’s 
disability or if a tenant is downsizing to a smaller property and they are 
still able to afford the rent.  
 

20. The impact of the proposed changes will effectively mean that some 
households with younger children will no longer be considered          
over-crowded (or as over-crowded) until their children are older and they 
will only be able to apply for smaller properties until their children are 
older.  For example, in the future some housing applicants with 2 
children will only be able to apply for properties with two instead of three 
bedrooms properties and some applicants with 4 children will only be 
able to apply for properties with three instead of four bedrooms until their 
children are older.  Households with older children sharing will continue 
to receive priority to move (and a small number will be awarded higher 
priority due to the changes).  
 

21. There are currently 252 housing applicants on the housing register 
lacking 1 bedroom in Housing Need Priority Band 3.  Based on the 
proposed changes up to 70% will be unaffected, 27% will move down 
from Band 3 to Band 5 until their children are older and 3% will be 
assessed as “lacking 2 bedrooms” and move up to Band 2 (due to the 
change in rules).  
 

22. There are currently 53 housing applicants on the housing register lacking 
2 or more bedrooms in Housing Need Priority Band 2.  Based on the 
proposed changes 70% will be unaffected and up to 30% will be affected 
and move down to Band 3 because they will only be considered to be 
“lacking 1 bedroom” (unless one of their children has been assessed as 
requiring a separate bedroom due to health or social and welfare 
reasons). Those applicants affected will “move” up to Band 2 again as 
their children get older if they are not housed in the meantime and their 
circumstances remain the same. 
 

23. Expectant Mothers 
 
The proposal to exclude unborn babies from “counting” as a household 

117



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 108 
 

member for determining the size of property an applicant is normally 
eligible for to ensure affordability under the new bedroom tax rules will 
affect a low number of housing applicants.  The majority of housing 
applicants are unlikely to receive sufficient priority for an offer housing 
until after the birth of their child (except if they have children already) as 
their housing need and band will only be adjusted at this point. Although 
some housing applicants with children who are pregnant are offered 
properties from time to time this happens fairly infrequently. Those most 
affected by the change are likely to be homeless applicants living in 
temporary accommodation the Council has accepted a duty to house 
who are pregnant and have been placed in priority Band 2. These 
applicants it is proposed will no longer be considered eligible for 2 
bedroom properties until after the birth of their babies (and they are 
considered ready for an offer of housing).  
 

24. Adult Household Members (other than the applicant) 
 
There is no information currently available on the number of households 
that are likely to be affected by the proposal to exclude adult household 
members who are considered to have sufficient capital, savings or 
income to resolve their own housing situation and there is no over-riding 
need on health grounds for them to remain part of the household.  This 
information is not recorded, however, since many family properties are 
allocated to households with children under 18 and many adults who 
remain living at home do not do so out of choice, it is expected only a 
very small number of households will be affected.  
 

25. There is no information currently available on the number of households 
that are likely to be affected by the proposal to exclude adult household 
members who are studying and living away from home and living 
elsewhere in student, private rented or other accommodation.  Based on 
feedback from the consultation it is no longer proposed to exclude these 
applicants, however it is proposed if two families in the same priority 
band bid for the same property that if one family has adult household 
members studying and living away from home for part of the time that 
the property is normally offered to the family where their children are 
permanent residents and have nowhere else to live. This is expected to 
only impact on a low number of households in high housing need who 
are competing with other similar households with children permanently 
living at home.  
 

26. Large Families 
 
The proposal to allow larger families with a 4 bedroom housing need 
lacking 2 bedrooms to apply for suitable 3 bedroom properties will affect 
up to 20 households and allow them to opt to bid for a smaller property in 
order to improve their housing situation should the wish to do so.  
 
 
 

118



Appendices 1 to 4 (Allocations Review Report CEB 2013) V.1 109 
 

27. Sub-Regional Allocations Scheme 
 
The proposal that all four districts, including Oxford, leave the Sub-
Regional Partnership will have a very low impact due to the limited 
amount of properties that became available through this scheme due to 
the shortage of social housing in the region.   However, the Allocations 
Scheme proposes that the Council can make reciprocal arrangements 
with other Districts to facilitate the move of high needs cases that need 
to move out of the district in exceptional cases.  
 

28. Penalties for Unreasonable Refusals: General Register & Transfer 
Lists 
 
The proposal to impose penalties for unreasonable refusals is only likely 
to affect a low number of housing applicants.  Housing applicants will be 
notified when they are made an offer of the potential implications of 
refusing without good reason and only refusals that are considered 
unreasonable will be taken into account and may incur a penalty. Only 
those who refuse two reasonable offers of accommodation within 12 
months will be affected and could be suspended for up to 12 months.   
Where a housing applicant has good reasons for refusing a property for 
example because they are disabled and the property does not meet their 
housing requirements they will not be penalised.  If a housing applicant 
disagrees with a decision that they have refused an offer without good 
reason they will have the right to appeal against the decision. 
 

29. Penalties for Unreasonable Refusals: Homeless List 
 
The proposal to treat homeless applicants differently and to normally 
allow only one reasonable offer of accommodation to housing applicants 
accepted as homeless and placed in temporary accommodation by the 
Council (due to the cost and shortage of temporary accommodation) will 
impact on a low number of households.  Although there are currently 74 
homeless households who could be potentially affected most bid 
regularly for properties and accept the first offer they are made and only 
those that refuse a property without good reason could be affected by 
the changes.  If a homeless applicant disagrees with a decision that they 
have not been bidding and have been made a direct offer and/or they 
have refused an offer without good reason they will have the right to 
appeal against the decision.  
 

30. Summary 
 
The changes proposed to the Allocations Scheme will not have a        
dis-proportionate impact on the chances of households within a BME 
group, the disabled and other groups such as the homeless or older 
applicants receiving an offer of housing.  However, as with all changes 
some individual households will be affected by some of the proposed 
changes and this has been taken into account in the drafting of the 
Allocations Scheme.  

119



A
p

p
e
n

d
ic

e
s
 1

 t
o

 4
 (

A
llo

c
a

ti
o
n

s
 R

e
v
ie

w
 R

e
p

o
rt

 C
E

B
 2

0
1

3
) 

V
.1

 
1

1
0
 

 A
p

p
e
n

d
ix

 5
 

  
 

R
is

k
 I

D
 

R
is

k
 

 
G

ro
s

s
 

R
is

k
 

R
e
s

id
u

a
l 
 

R
is

k
 

C
u

rr
e

n
t 

R
is

k
 

C
o

n
tr

o
l 

D
e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 

C
a
te

g
o

ry
-

0
0

0
-S

e
rv

ic
e

 
A

re
a

 C
o

d
e

 
R

is
k

 T
it

le
 

O
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y
/

T
h

re
a

t 
R

is
k

 
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

 
R

is
k

 C
a

u
s
e
 

C
o

n
s

e
q

u
e
n

c
e
 

D
a
te

 
ra

is
e

d
 O

w
n

e
r 

I 
P

 
I 

P
 

I 
P

 
  

C
E

B
-0

0
1

-H
P

 
R

is
k
 o

f 
le

g
a

l 
c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 

T
 

L
e

g
a

lit
y
 o

f 
th

e
 

A
llo

c
a

ti
o
n

s
 

S
c
h

e
m

e
 i
s
 

c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
d
 

M
a

jo
r 

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
 i
n

 
le

g
is

la
ti
o

n
 o

r 
c
a

s
e

 
la

w
 a

re
 i
n

tr
o
d

u
c
e

d
 

s
h

o
rt

ly
 a

ft
e

r 
th

e
 n

e
w

 
A

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

s
 S

c
h

e
m

e
 

is
 i
n

tr
o

d
u

c
e
d
 

T
h

e
 A

llo
c
a

ti
o
n

s
 

S
c
h

e
m

e
 b

e
c
o
m

e
s
 

m
o

re
 s

u
s
c
e
p

ti
b
le

 t
o

 
s
u

c
c
e
s
s
fu

l 
le

g
a
l 

c
h

a
lle

n
g

e
 

 

1
/8

/1
3
 T

o
m

 
P

o
rt

e
r 

1
 

1
 

1
 

1
 

1
 

1
 T

h
e

 A
llo

c
a

ti
o
n

s
 

M
a

n
a

g
e

r 
w

ill
 k

e
e

p
 

u
p

d
a

te
 w

it
h

 c
h
a

n
g

e
s
 i
n

 
le

g
is

la
ti
o

n
 o

r 
c
a

s
e

 l
a

w
 &

 
w

h
e

re
 a

p
p

ro
p

ri
a

te
 

re
q

u
e
s
t 

fo
r 

th
e
 s

c
h

e
m

e
 

to
 b

e
 r

e
v
is

e
d

.  
B

y
  

  
  

 
o

n
-g

o
in

g
 m

o
n
it
o

ri
n

g
 

_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_
_

_
_

_
_

_
_
_

_
_

_
 

C
E

B
-0

0
2

-H
P

 
R

is
k
 o

f 
d
e

la
y
 i
n
 

IC
T

 
Im

p
le

m
e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 

T
 

D
e
la

y
 i
n

 t
h

e
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
t-

io
n

 o
f 

th
e
 I

C
T

 
s
y
s
te

m
s
 

re
q

u
ir
e

d
 f

o
r 

th
e

 n
e

w
 

A
llo

c
a

ti
o
n

s
 

S
c
h

e
m

e
 

IC
T

 s
u

p
p

lie
rs

 a
re

 
u

n
a

b
le

 t
o
 c

o
m

p
le

te
 

w
o

rk
 r

e
q

u
ir

e
d

 w
it
h

in
 

s
p

e
c
if
ie

d
 t
im

e
lin

e
s
 &

 
b

u
d

g
e
t  

T
h

e
re

 i
s
 a

 d
e
la

y
 i
n

 
th

e
 n

e
w

 A
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
s
 

S
c
h

e
m

e
 b

e
in

g
 

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 S
p

e
c
if
ic

a
ti
o
n

s
 f
o

r 
s
u

p
p
ly

 
w

o
rk

 p
re

p
a

re
d

 a
n
d

 
m

e
e

ti
n

g
s
 w

it
h

 s
u
p

p
lie

rs
 

a
lr

e
a

d
y
 u

n
d

e
rt

a
k
e

n
. 

W
in

d
o

w
 f

o
r 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
 o

f 
u
p

 t
o

 
3

 m
o
n

th
s
 a

llo
w

e
d

 w
it
h

in
 

th
is

 r
e

p
o

rt
. 

  
 

 
 

 
 

  

  
 

 
 

 
 

  

120



Allocation Communications 

 
Communications relating to the allocations service use a variety of methods and are 
dependent on the message and the recipient of those messages. 
 
Applications for Housing 
 
Face to Face 
 

Used for initial contact in most instances to include applications for housing, 
prevention and advice sessions including with Shelter. 
 

Completion of the application to join the Housing Register is also done face to face in 
council offices however it can be completed by Tenancy Management Officers, 
Support workers or the applicant in the applicant’s home. 
Development of an online application is on-going. 
 
By Phone 
 
The Housing Needs Support Team provides a dedicated service to give general 
advice to customers on all areas of the housing including applying for housing, the 
Allocations Process and Choice-Based Lettings (CBL).  
 
Written Communication 

 
Notification is given in writing by letter or email of inclusion on the register and a CBL 
bidding pack is posted to applicants included on the Housing Register. The bidding 
pack includes instructions on how to apply for housing through the CBL and gives 
detail of the different methods available, including properties using online bidding via 
the CBL website. 
 
Choice-Based Lettings 
 
Housing applicants can bid online via the CBL website; by telephone (24hours); or 
text.Vulnerable applicants have a printed list of available properties sent to them 
each bidding cycle.  Staff members are also available to provide assistance to 
applicants requiring help with CBL.  Non bidders, including housing applicants in 
high housing need in bands 1 and 2 and those requiring an adapted and/or a 
sheltered property, are contacted by officers when potentially suitable properties 
become available. To encourage housing applicants to bid for bid suitable properties 
in order for them to be offered a property(or removed from the list as appropriate). 
 
General Communications 
 
Historically we have posted a printed quarterly newsletter to everyone  on the 
register, however, this has now been discontinued as it is a very costly method of 
passing on information. The move away from the sub regional allocation agreement 
gives the Council the option of placing some messages onto the CBL site in the 
future. 
 

Agenda Item 4

121



Internal publications such as Your Oxford as well as local press are used to convey 
information to the wider public; most recently press releases about Universal Credit 
and the ‘Bedroom Tax’. There is a move towards increasing use of social media: FB; 
Twitter as well as the Council’s main web page in liaison with the Corporate Comms 
team. 
 
 
Draft Allocations scheme review consultation 
 
The current allocations scheme for Oxford City council was published in July 2009 
and is due to be refreshed, in addition to this the Localism Act introduced a number 
of changes which give Local Authorities additional flexibility in the way which ‘waiting 
lists’ are managed and housing is allocated. The changes which are proposed have 
been incorporated into the Draft Allocations Scheme. 
 
Section 166a(13) HA 1996requires housing authorities, before adopting an 
allocation scheme, or altering an existing scheme to reflect a major change of policy, 
to: 
 

• send a copy of the draft scheme, or proposed alteration, to every Private 
Registered Provider with which they have a nomination agreement, and 

 

• ensure that these PRPs have a reasonable opportunity to comment on these 
proposals. 
 

The Secretary of State considers that housing authorities should include all of those 
affected by, or who have an interested in, the way social housing is allocated. 
 
In order to meet the requirements of Housing Act 1996,consultation was carried out 
among the following groups: 
 
ORAH members (Registered Providers (RP) of social housing  with nomination 
agreements in the City) 
Other RPs with stock held in Oxford 
Applicants listed on the Housing Register 
Other key stakeholders – including advice & voluntary agencies 
 
 
Communicating with ORAH members 
 

• A copy of the draft Allocations Scheme and associated documents were sent 
via email with an invitation discuss and the proposed changes discussed  atan  
ORAH meeting on 16/5/13.   

• RPs were given the opportunity  to complete an on-line questionnaire or to 
receive a paper copy.  However, ORAH members opted to respond at the 
meeting on 16/5/13 instead. 

 
 
 
 

122



Stakeholders 
 

• Applicants on Housing Register 

• Postal invite to complete on line or manually 

• Dedicated phone line 

• Freepost address for return of survey forms 

• Dedicated consultation in box for emails. 
 
There needs to be a balance between the adoption of modern communications 
namely the web and social media and traditional methods such as the phone and 
written communication. Recent consultation carried out with Oxford City Council 
tenants indicated that 40% did not have access to the internet at home it is a strong 
possibility that people on the Housing Register are similarly disadvantaged. In the 
case of the Allocations consultation 54people requested paper copies of the survey 
and completed it manually this equates to19.85% of responses overall.  We have not 
undertaken research into the reasons for lack of access however these might be a 
combination of reasons including; affordability, education and training or personal 
preference. 

123



124

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
To:  City Executive Board 
 Council   
 
Date: 11th September 2013 
 30th September 2013   

 
Report of:  Head of Housing and Property Services 
 
Title of Report:  Homeless Accommodation Supply  
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report:  To make recommendations to improve the supply of 
suitable temporary accommodation in order to meet the Council’s duties to 
homeless households. 
  
Key decision?Yes 
 
Executive lead member:Councillor Scott Seamons, Housing 
    Councillor Ed Turner, Finance 
 
Policy Framework: 
Corporate Plan (Meeting Housing Needs& Efficient, Effective Council) 
Housing Strategy2012-15 &Homelessness Strategy 2013-18 (Prevent and 
Respond to Homelessness) 
 
Recommendation(s): The City Executive Board are recommended: 
 
(1) To note the report and endorse the approach being taken to procure 
additional properties for temporary accommodation as part of our 
discharge of homelessness duties. 
 
(2) To recommend to Council that the 2013/14 General Fund Capital 
Budget be updated with the inclusion of a new scheme, namely 
“Homeless Property Acquisitions”, estimated at £5 million, funded from 
borrowing and to include a further £5m budget in 2014/15 
 
(3) To recommend to Council an increase in General Fund external 
borrowing of up to £10million to finance the capital expenditure; 
 
(4)  To give project approval to the Homeless Accommodation Supply 
project identified in this report, and to grant delegated authority to the 
Executive Director for Regeneration and Housing in consultation with 
the Chief Executive, to decide on the final management model,to tender 
contracts to set up and operate a scheme, and to award appropriate 
contracts, and as necessary, agree property acquisitions,that are the 

 

Agenda Item 5

125



most financially advantageous for the Council with respect to the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan, following approval from the 
Council’s Head of Finance; and 
 
(5)  To request that Officers report progress to CEB after the first £5m 
spendto evaluate the impact of the scheme. 
 

 
Appendices to report:  
 

Appendix A - Risk Register 
Appendix B - Equality Impact Assessment  
 
Context 
 
1 Local housing authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that 

households believed to be homeless, eligible for assistance, and in 
priority need (primarily if the household is vulnerable or has 
dependents) are provided with interim accommodation.  Following 
homeless investigations, the Council may accept that it has a 
statutory duty to find suitable settled (permanent) accommodation for 
that household.  Temporary accommodation is the accommodation 
provided by the Council on either an interim basis or, where it has 
accepted a statutory homeless duty, for the period until it discharges 
that duty. The Council may exercise its discretion and continue to 
accommodate households that are appealing a negative homeless 
decision, or, for a limited time period, those families that may have 
been found intentionally homeless. 
 

2 Best practice, as recognised by the Homeless Code of Guidance, is 
to try to prevent statutory homeless applications and acceptances, by 
taking action at the earliest possible stage to either prevent 
homelessness (by keeping the household in their current 
accommodation) or to alleviate it by finding alternative suitable 
accommodation available to them.  This is recognised in Oxford City 
Council’s Homelessness Strategy (2013-18) approved by CEB on 13th 
Feb 2013.  As part of this report, the Council also agreed to use new 
powers in the Localism Act (commenced from 9th Nov 2012) to 
discharge the Council’s homeless duty into suitable private rented 
accommodation, where this was appropriate.  This report is 
concerned with trying to ensure a ready supply of suitable 
accommodation for this purpose. 
 

3 Nationallystatutory homeless acceptances have been increasing. In 
Oxford, we have presently ‘bucked’ this trend, reducing acceptances 
by 13%, and reducing households in temporary accommodation by 
7% (from 129 to 120) over the same period.  The number of 
households in temporary accommodation in Oxford has steadily 
declined from a peak of around 1,000 households in 2004, to 120 as 
at the end of March 2013.  As at the end of June 2013, 123 

126



households were in temporary accommodation (excluding any 
accommodated pending appeal).The significant reductions in 
temporary accommodation have been through exemplary and 
innovative combined work across Housing Needs.  Specific initiatives 
in homelessness prevention; in temporary accommodation 
management; in the allocation of housing; and in the supply of 
permanent housing, have all contributed to targets being consistently 
exceeded. 
 

4 The Council’s target is to ensure that the number of households in 
temporary accommodation,at any one time, is 120 or less. However, 
concerns exist that the impact of the following factors could lead to an 
increase in homelessness presentations namely. 

• Welfare Reform – LHA changes (to 30th percentile); Benefit 
Cap; Bedroom Tax; Universal Credit (and direct payments) 

• Deficit reduction/ public sector cuts – impacting in various 
ways, including increased pressure on the resources of 
partners; reduced house building; and less mortgage lending 

• Rising living costs and increasing personal debts 
 

 
 
5 

Temporary Accommodation 
 
The Council uses a variety of models of temporary accommodation.  
This comprises of: 
 

First Stage 

First stage accommodation is generally the initial accommodation 
that a household is placed in, should they be deemed to need 
temporary accommodation.  The accommodation is actively and 
intensely managed by the Council’s own Accommodation Team. 
 

Nightly Charge 
(NC) 

Accommodation that is usually provided on a 
night by night basis only (including out of 
hour’s placements).  Accommodation is 
procured as required, and is now 
predominately guest house or hotel rooms (as 
available).  A typical nightly charge is around 
£350-500 per week, (£18,000 to £26,000 per 
annum), per unit, and is the most expensive 
form of accommodation 
 

Council-owned 
Hostel (OCC) 

Accommodation that is owned and managed 
by the Council for this purpose. This consists 
of one property of 8 units. This has been 
supplemented by two decommissioned 
sheltered housing schemes (albeit on a 
shorter term basis) and two further ‘hard to let’ 
properties.  The cost to the Council of this 
accommodation is broadly cost neutral and is 

127



accounted for in the HRA. 
 

Private Sector 
Lease (PSL) 

Property that is leased by the Council (typically 
on 1 to 5 year leases) from the private sector.  
This comprises of the majority of first stage 
accommodation.  The net cost is around 
£2,800 per annum, per unit (exc staff costs). 
 

Second Stage 

Second stage accommodation was generally for households to 
whom the Council had accepted a statutory homeless duty.  It mostly 
comprises of family accommodation. 
 

Oxford Social 
Lettings Agency 
(OSLA) – Now 
operated by Green 
Square only and 
being wound-up 
 

OSLA comprised of Oxford Citizens Housing 
Association and Catalyst Communities 
Housing Association (formerly Ealing Family 
HA) who worked together to operate the 
scheme.  They leased property from the 
private rented sector to be used as temporary 
accommodation, with the Housing Association 
effectively acting as the managing agent – 
This is under a Housing Association Leasing 
Scheme (HALS) model.  This scheme is now 
in a wind-down period with the providers no 
longer willing to continue with this ‘non-core/ 
higher risk’ activity for much smaller numbers 
of households than originally housed.  The net 
cost is now around £1,400 per annum, per 
unit, this being  the Nomination fee.(The 
Council is also liable for voids costs on ready 
property, but this is now negligible). 
 

 

 
 
6 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
As at 30th June 2013, the breakdown of households, by the type of 
temporary accommodation (TA) used, was as follows*: 
 

First Stage Second Stage  

NC 
OCC 
Hostel 

PSL OSLA 
Hard to 
Lets 

Total 

0 40 70 8 5 123 

 
* These figures use the Government definition for the P1e return and 
exclude a small number of households in temporary accommodation, where 
homeless duties have ended; that the decision has not been appealed; and 
where the household is not yet evicted.  (This comprised of only 1 
household at the end of June 2013). 

 

128



7 At the same date, the status of households in TA was as follows: 
 

Status Number 

Pending case 41 

Accepted case 73 

Negative decision/ appealing/ exiting 9 

Total 123 
 

 
 
 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Current Expenditure 
 
The current cost (2013/14) oftemporary accommodation to the 
General Fund is set out below: 
 

Reason   (£) 

Nightly Charge expenditure 40,000 

Nightly Charge rental income(capped at HB subsidy) - 20,000 

Nightly Charge bad debt provision 10,000 

Nightly Charge Net Cost 30,000 

PSL lease expenditure 750,000 

PSL utility costs 75,000 

PSL & OCC Hostel council tax costs 10,000 

PSL damage/ dilapidations costs 35,000 

PSL rental income (capped at HB subsidy cap 
levels, plus service charge) 

- 700,000* 

PSL bad debt provision 30,000 

PSL Net Cost 200,000 

OCC Hostel costs to the General Fund (other costs 
and income in the HRA) 

5,000 

Second Stage (OCHA) costs (£1,400 pa nomination 
fee and void losses) – wind-down 

15,000 

Sub-total (accommodation costs) 250,000 

Staffing costs (managing PSL and OCC units) 250,000 

Vehicle costs 15,000 

Storage/ Removal costs 6,000 

Sub-total (other costs) 271,000 

Total 521,000 

 
* PSL rental income may hit £740,000 this year, due to very low void rates – 
presently at about 0%.  The target is for void rates to be at 10% to ensure 
sufficient units are available and ready when needed – to avoid ‘overspill’ 

129



 
 
 
9 

into expensive nightly charge accommodation, and to ensure officers have a 
range of property type, size & location in order to make suitable placements. 

 
The main pressure point in spend is on Nightly Charge 
accommodation because if additional accommodation is required, that 
is either unexpected, or because it cannot be sourced elsewhere, 
then this costs in the region of £350-£500 per week per household.  
We are very restricted as to the rent that can be charged for such 
accommodation under Housing Benefit subsidy regulations, that 
effectively limits this charge to £160 per week. 
 

10 The Council has operated a very successful Home Choice scheme for 
the past ten years, helping to prevent homelessness by providing 
clients that might otherwise have required temporary accommodation 
(under the Council’s statutory duties) with a deposit or bond in order 
to secure access to private rented sector (PRS) accommodation.  
Approximately 1,000 households are currently supported in this way 
through the scheme.  The number of new tenancies established by 
the scheme has fallen significantly however – from 200 in 2010/11 to 
110 in 2012/13.  The changes to LHA rates and concern over other 
benefit changes, plus a very buoyant local rental market, have 
resulted in landlords increasing rent charges significantly above LHA 
rates, and favouring working tenants over those more reliant on 
benefits and with less favourable tenancy histories.  About 10% of 
existing Home Choice clients arein property which is outside of 
Oxford City, and the teamincreasingly have to look beyond Oxford to 
access additional property, although the disparity between supply and 
demand, and LHA rates and actual rents, are increasingly similar 
across the County.  
 

11 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12 
 
 

Budgeted revenue expenditure on the Home Choice scheme in 
2013/14 is expected to be approximately: 
 

Reason/ Costs  (£) 

Staffing 230,000 

Deposits, Bond Settlements, Finders Fees, Rent in 
Advance, Rent Top-ups 

400,000 

Deposit Returns - 50,000 

Total 580,000 

 
This is a similar cost to past years, but less new starts of 
accommodation are being achieved.  At present however, the team 
are still able to sustain most existing tenants in the scheme, albeit that 
this is requiring some to move to alternative landlords or properties. 
 

 
 
13 

Challenges and Pressures 
 
Since the Council’s Private Rented Discharge Policy went live from 

130



1stApril 2013, the immediate opportunities have been limited because 
of the limited supply of affordable private rented accommodation 
(within the Local Housing Allowance) in the city and surrounding area. 
Officers are now searching the next nearest urban areas out of 
County.  Households at imminent risk of homelessness are usually 
prioritised over households already placed in temporary 
accommodation, in order to prevent their homelessness.  Access to 
more PRS accommodation is needed, both short and medium term, 
to address this need.  
 

14 A number of measures have been put in place to mitigate the impact 
of some pressure on the service, including: 

• Increased funding for DHP payments 

• Welfare reform outreach work 

• Funding for additional debt surgeries to prevent homelessness 

• Developing more affordable homes (e.g. Barton West/ HCA 
programme) 

• Improved homeless prevention and casework 
 

15 
 

There are pressures on current temporary accommodation.  These 
include: 

• Opportunities to release Council owned accommodation for the 
redevelopment of permanent housing (namely Alice Smith 
House and Eastern House) 

• The winding-up of the OSLA (second stage) contract 

• Further minimising Nightly Charge use 

• Maintaining approximately a 10% void rate in TA to ensure 
sufficient suitable property is available when required (currently 
the void rate is close to 0%). 

 
16 In the absence of more accommodation, the Council will need to 

secure increasing volumes of temporary accommodation in order to 
meet its statutory homeless obligations.  If such accommodation 
cannot be secured, increased use of nightly charged bed and 
breakfast style accommodation will be necessitated, having negative 
impacts on both the households placed there, and on the Council’s 
budgets. 
 

New Approaches 
 
 
 
17 

Efficiency Improvements 
 
In order to improve the financial efficiency of homelessness 
accommodation, the Council intends to focus increasingly on assisting 
clients into suitable private rented accommodation, and to keep the 
number of households in temporary accommodationto the minimum 
possible.  It is recognised that to do so in the local private rented 
market, the Council needs to explore a number of other options.  This 
approach is therefore one where we are intending to adopt a more 
sustainable approach, and also to remodel froma revenue to a capital 

131



investment one, for homelessness accommodation. 
 

18 In addition to our use of PRS discharge,It is proposed that an additional 
complementary approach is used to provide flexible options for the 
Council to address homelessness in Oxford. 

  
 
 

 
 

 
 
19 

Local PRS accommodation at LHA Rates 
 
Temporary accommodation within the City or as near as possible will 
continue to be required when homelessness prevention fails and 
discharge in the private rented sector is unachievable or otherwise not 
appropriate. Placement of households in this accommodation will be 
subject to Chief executive and director approval and will only be 
available for those where there isan ongoing  housing liability  and there 
are particular circumstances where PRS discharge and out of area 
would be inappropriate. In these cases, the supply of more local 
accommodation, that can be sustained at LHA rates, is required.  It is 
increasingly becoming apparent that the local private rented market is 
unable to provide this, at the rates required, for both homeless 
prevention accommodation and for temporary accommodation.  To 
address this, it is proposed that the Council procures a limited number 
of properties(approximately 45-50) as part of a revised capital 
programme, and this accommodation is made available, for homeless 
clients to access at LHA rates.This report seeks approval for this. 

  
Options Considered 
  
20 Delegated authority to enter into a new contract to provide temporary 

accommodation, under a ‘Temporary to Permanent’ model, was 
agreed, under the Single Member Decision (Housing Needs) process, 
on 9th November 2011.  However, following that, there were significant 
changes in the banking and finance markets, and the loans required by 
the successful tenderer in order to operate the scheme were no longer 
available.  The Council has continued to explore options, and has 
considered a number of alternative options, including a ‘Long Term 
Affordable’ model, using private pension fund equity.  However, this 
option was dropped as there were unacceptable risks with the funding 
over 35 years and the Council can fund or borrow more cheaply. 
 

 
 
21 

 
 
Do Nothing 
 
This is not an option.  Without sufficient accommodation, increased use 
of temporary accommodation will be required, and this is most likely to 
have to take the form of B&B accommodation, due to the lack of other 
accommodation available.  The cost,currently around £18,000 to 
£26,000 per family, per year, is predicted to  grow year-on-year in line 

132



with homeless presentations, as existing households in temporary 
accommodation have few viable move-on options. 
 

 Alternative Models to supply suitable PRS Accommodation 
   
22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
23 

Various approaches, such as the ‘Long Term Affordable’ model 
(described above) have been considered by officers, but discounted as 
the cost and risks are considered to outweigh the benefits. It may be 
possible to re-tender for a ‘Housing Association Leasing Scheme’ type 
model (as used for the OSLA scheme previously), but this would also 
be dependent on the PRS market for the supply of accommodation, 
and it would require the payment of a nomination fee which would not 
allow for the Council to make savings in temporary accommodation 
costs. The ‘Temporary to Permanent’ model (using an organisation that 
will secure 10-15 year bank lending to procure property) is also no 
longer viable.   
 
Alternatives, such as an Equity Investment model, with the Council 
entering into a long-term partnership with another organisation, such as 
a Registered Provider, to provide accommodation in return for an equity 
investment, are innovative new approaches and  will be explored as a 
medium term option.  Other approaches also being pursued, as 
‘business as usual’, include exploring whether any large scale 
accommodation providers may wish to lease surplus accommodation, 
although, to date, this does not appear likely. 

  
Recommended Option 

  
 
 
24 

Overview 
 
Under this model, the Council would use additional General Fund 
borrowing to purchase properties on the open market.  These 
properties would then be let on license or beleased and thenlet on 
Assured Shorthold Tenancies, at Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates, 
to households that would otherwise be homeless  or to whom the 
Council has accepted a homeless duty. 

  
25 It is proposed that the capital borrowing envelope for this scheme is 

capped at £10m.  That should procure approximately 45-55 properties.  
. 

  
 
Benefits 
 

26 
 
 
 
 
 

This model is beneficial, compared to alternatives, as: 
 

• It could deliver access to new units of accommodation, in or close 
to Oxford, to a good quality standard, that are well managed, and 
rented at LHA rates. 

• The Council can secure better interest rates than the alternative 

133



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
27 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

models discussed to date 

• Operationally, the scheme would be under the Council’s direct 
ownership.  This provides more flexibility, including allowing for 
the disposal of units (at the end of lease terms), should 
unforeseen changes occur in the future 

• The model is flexible enough, to allow for the property to be used 
for other purposes (social or market renting)  if the need for 
homeless accommodation declines at any point in the future 

• The model is more sustainable and will provide a Council saving 
in that no nomination fees; finder’s fees; deposits/ bonds; agent 
admin fees; top-up payments; or DHPs are required.  If homeless 
approaches to the Council stay constant, the model will allow for 
further temporary accommodation reductions and make further 
budget savings as a result.  If homeless approaches increase, 
then this initiative should help to contain that growth within 
existing resource provision. 

• It is assumed within the model that purchasing the properties will 
save in the region of £60k per annum from the existing budgeted 
homeless accommodation costs which is in addition to the £100k 
per annum saving currently allowed for in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 
 

Model Sensitivities 
 
Assumptions around key factors such as numbers of units purchased, 
cost of units, property improvements, running costs, rent and rent 
increases and borrowing rates have been modelled. All assumptions 
could change and the most sensitive is around borrowing rates and 
whether internal as opposed to external borrowing is undertaken.  
PWLB borrowing rates for 30 year money are currently running at 
around 4.75% with shorter 10 years monies running at around 3.7%. 
In addition a Minimum Revenue Provision would be charged to the 
revenue account based on the life of the asset (currently estimated at 
60 years). The Minimum Revenue Provision is to ‘ensure that debt is 
repaid over a period that is commensurate with that over which the 
capital expenditure provides benefit’.  
 
 
Whilst the rate of interest on borrowing will be determined and fixed 
at the time borrowing is taken out at the prevailing rates, based on 
current rates this would be around 4.75% and at the rate it is 
estimated that there would be a small deficit over the 30 year period 
in the order of £476k (average £15k per annum) without  any MRP 
charge. Should this scenario occur then the £60k saving used in the 
model will be reduced to around £45k. 
 

 

 
 
 

 

28 Procurement Options 

134



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A procurement strategy for this project is to be developed.  This will 
need to consider a number of issues including the approach taken to 
each of the key elements:  

• Acquisition 

• Management 

• Maintenance 
 

29 The following framework will inform the development of this approach: 
 
Properties – Good quality property standards - ideally to Decent Homes 
(although this is not be mandatory).  Accessible to local transport and 
amenities.  Any units procured should be capable of being brought up 
to suitable letting standards within 4 weeks of purchase, and should not 
require more than £5,000 of initial refurbishment works (unless the 
purchase price presents a clear business case for an exception).  
Properties may be flats or houses, and may include ex-Council homes 
bought under the Right to Buy, or flats where the Council has the   
leasehold.  
 
Location – Likely to be Oxford or neighbouring urban areas, should 
property be secured at better value in these areas. 
 
Acquisition – Initially, to be phased over a period of 9-12 months to 
ensure that property values are not impacted, although this may be 
subject to review pending the financial impact of the scheme. 
Purchases could be directly from individuals, via agents, or direct from 
developers.  The initial preference is that this should be outsourced to 
ensure that sufficient resources are quickly mobilised to undertake this 
work.  Properties should be secured for under 90% of the marketing 
value.  The Council will need to undertake independent valuations in 
order to comply with the need to meet and seek value for money. 
 
Management – The initial preference is that the operation of the 
scheme will need to be outsourced.  This will ensure the scheme is 
managed arms-length from the Council, identifying this product as a 
very different one from social rented housing.  Legally, a third party is 
also required, in order for Assured Shorthold Tenancies (ASTs) to be 
used if some of the properties were to be used for prevention. Detailed 
contractual arrangements will clearly identify the expectations and 
responsibilities for performance around key areas such as rent 
collection; void relet times; bad debts; and service standards. 
 
It is proposed that a business case for an internal model of 
management is also developed as a comparator to ensure the Council 
achieves value for money and that the final decision on the 
management model to be adopted, be delegated to the Corporate 
Director for Regeneration and Housing following procurement.  This 
final decision whilst delegated to the Director for Regeneration and 

135



Housing will be made in consultation with the Board Members for 
Finance and Housing. 
 
Maintenance – There are possible benefits of tendering this as a parcel 
with the above two elements.  This will provide a more viable scheme 
for a third party to tender for and operate.  It is likely to minimise ‘hand-
over’ issues between acquisition, management and maintenance 
functions.  The opportunity for maintenance work to be carried out by 
Direct Services as additional Council trading should also be explored. 
 
 

 
 
30 

Governance 
 
It is proposed that an officer group, including the Chief Executive, 
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Housing, Heads of Housing, 
Finance, Legal, and Business Improvement have operational oversight 
of this project, including the monitoring of spend and the accuracy of 
the modelling used.  The group will report quarterly to the Housing 
Programme Board.  In addition, Directors will review the on-going 
business case for the additional accommodation throughout the phased 
procurement period (expected to be 9 months following a 3 month 
mobilisation period).  
 

31 After the scheme is fully operational (after the procurement stage) the 
scheme will also be fully reviewed by this group, and this will continue 
annually, with the initial report also being submitted to CEB.  The 
scheme should also be independently reviewed, and valuations 
undertaken every five years. 

  
Environmental impact 
 
32 There will be minimal environmental impact from this initiative.  Any 

impact however is likely to be positive, as the Council is likely to be able 
to make modest improvements to property standards and efficiency 
over the term of the initiative. 
 

Equalities impact 
 
33 Regular monitoring of homeless clients is undertaken – most recently 

reported as part of the evidence base for the Homelessness Strategy.  
Analysis consistently shows that homeless clients are usually younger 
than the usual resident population, and predominantly women.  
Assessments as to vulnerability are made, as necessary, under 
homelessness law.  BME groups are represented to a higher degree 
than the base population, in presentations as homeless, although 
research commissioned by the Council has shown this to link to lower 
income status, rather than to particular racial issues.  The PRS 
Discharge policy identifies households that may, or may not be 
considered for out-of-area moves. (This was approved by CEB in Feb 
2013 as part of the Homelessness Strategy Report.)  An impact 

136



assessment is attached at Appendix B to this report. 
 
Risk and mitigating any possible detrimental impact 
 
34 There are a number of risks associated with the project.  These are 

shown Risk Register is shown at Appendix A.  
 
Non-financial risks are: 
 
 
 
35 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
36 
 
 

Whether the scale of the proposal is too small.   
 
Predictions from initial research as to the impact of the first wave of 
changes to LHA rates (Shelter/ Cambridge CHPR Report on the LHA 
impacts, 2010) suggests that up to 269,000 households in England are 
likely to get into severe difficulties as a result, with 35,000 presenting as 
homeless (and half of these found to be in Priority Need).  This could be 
taken to apply to at least 1,000 Oxford households, with 80 being in 
Priority Need on top of current cases.  This would indicate that this 
initiative would not address all of the extra needs of presenting 
households.  Should this be the case, this would be identified as part of 
the on-going review of the scheme, and options would need to be 
considered, including the up-scaling of this initiative. 
 
Whether the scale of the proposal is too much. 
 
There is also a risk that the expected increase in homelessness does 
not arise, and that all the additional units of accommodation are not 
required.  Again, this would be identified through on-going reviews of 
the housing need; business case; and scheme progress throughout the 
procurement period.  Subsequent to this, the scheme is flexible enough 
to use for a range of options, including changing the households 
referred into the scheme (to broaden it); shifting the model to renting at 
market rent or sub-market/ Affordable Rent; disposing of property; or 
moving the property into the HRA to use as social rented 
accommodation.  This is highly unlikely however.  Demand for suitable, 
affordable, private rented accommodation is at a premium, and the 
Home Choice scheme has maintained an internal list of referred cases 
(households considered at risk of homelessness) of over 50 for over 
two years. 

 
 
 
 
37 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
That suitable arrangements can be found to acquire, manage and 
maintain the properties 
 
This report has already outlined the principles to be followed in 
developing a procurement plan, and this seeks to minimise risk and 
ensure the initiative delivers successfully.  It is proposed to undertake 
some soft-market testing to ensure that there is appetite in the market 
to tender for such a proposal.  Assuming there is, the Council will seek 
to minimise operational risks through placing contractual obligations on 
the provider to meet minimum performance standards, including those 

137



 
 
38 

relating to income collection.   
 
Officers will develop an alternative in-house model as a substitute to 
out-sourcing, if required.  This is expected to be possible, although the 
mobilisation prior to procurement is likely to be delayed, to ensure 
sufficient resourcing; operational risks (including rent collection) will fall 
to the Council; the management approach of using ASTs will also have 
to change, with one consideration being that an Affordable Rent model 
is used; costs may also need to be reviewed. 
 

Financial risks of the initiative are: 
 
39 In summary, the key financial risks and mitigations are: 
 

Ref Description Mitigation /Notes 

I Comparative variations in RPI, 
CPI, LHA rates, and borrowing 
costs 

The model has made conservative 
assumptions on these, particularly for 
borrowing. The GF revenue 
Implications of adverse budgetary 
issues materialising needs to be 
identified and form part of the MTFP.  
 

Ii Procurement costs exceed 
expectations 

The purchase price of the properties 
significantly influences the modelling.  
Where lower prices can be achieved, 
additional units can be procured 
(yielding greater income) or borrowing 
levels can be reduced.  If purchases 
cannot be secured to budget forecasts, 
then less units or more borrowing may 
be required, subject to its affordability 
within the GF MTFP.  It is proposed 
that scheme monitoring will identify this 
however, and procurement will be 
suspended or delayed (in order to find 
properties within budget) if this occurs. 
 
The model also allows a 1% 
contingency for some cost overruns, if 
needed. 
 

Iii The accuracy of assumptions 
relating to income collection/ bed 
debts; management costs; 
maintenance costs; and voids  

The assumptions in the model have 
been sense-tested against other 
models (Council, RP and private) and 
appear reasonable – ranging from 23% 
of gross rental income (in year 1) to 
25% of gross rental income (in year 
15). 
 

138



Iv There is no plan in place for the 
£60k saving and should it not 
materialise there will be a cost on 
the General Fund 

Track and monitor the spend on 
homelessness. Defer purchase of 
properties if there are no indications of 
pressures. 

 
  
Financial implications 
  
40 If homeless approaches to the Council stay constant, the model will 

allow for further temporary accommodation reductions and make further 
budget savings as a result.  If homeless approaches increase, then this 
initiative should help to contain the financial impact than might otherwise 
have been the case.   
 
Should additional savings be possible, then these might be in the region 
of £60,000 – This being the reduction of B&B budgets by 75% 
(£30,000); the elimination of the remaining second stage temporary 
accommodation budgets (£15,000); and the reduction of PSL budgets 
(expenditure net of rental income) by 10% (£15,000).  This reflects the 
equivalent of losing about 50 units of accommodation.  Temporary 
Accommodation budgets have been reduced by £100,000 in 2013/14 in 
anticipation of this approach being initiated in this financial year. It 
should be noted that the savings of £60k per annum are included in the 
attached financial analysis (Appendix A), summarised in the table at 
paragraph 29. The current assumption used is that annual surpluses 
would be used to repay borrowing and therefore would not accrue to the 
revenue account.  Equally the borrowing could be rolled after maturity or 
decisions could be taken about dwelling disposal to repay borrowing 
depending on need.  
 
For establishing an initial revenue budget a capital financing rate of 
around 4.6% will be used at which point revenue costs will be covered  
over the 30 year period.The position will be monitored monthly and a 
review undertaken in the next Budget cycle 
 

 2013/14 Full Year effect 

 £000’s £000’s 

Income 278 557 

   

Management 23 46 

Maintenance 38 76 

Less savings in current budget (23) (45) 

Loan Interest 240 480 

Total Expenditure 278 557 

   

Net Surplus/deficit 0 0 
 

 

139



The property acquisition up to the approved level of £10m will be 
classed as General Fund borrowing. 

 

  
  
  
  
  
Legal implications 
  
41 A legally compliant procurement process will need to be followed, as 

outlined previously in this report.   A legally binding contract (for 
acquisition services) and lease (for the on-going management and 
maintenance of the properties, let under Assured Shorthold Tenancies) 
will be entered into with the successful tenderer(s), or an alternative 
contractual arrangement established to achieve the same outcomes, 
which could include purchasing through a SPV (Special Purpose 
Vehicle) or similar. 
 

42 The Council’s authority to enter into these arrangements are contained 
in the Local Government Act 2000 (Section 2), as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011; all relevant enabling provisions in the Housing Acts; 
and all other relevant enabling legislation. 

  
 

Name and contact details of author: 
 
Dave Scholes 
Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Housing and Property 
Tel: 01865 252636   Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 
 

List of background papers: 
None 
 
Version number:   
0.4 

140



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\7\6\AI00004678\$qdvomboh.docx 

Appendix A - Homeless Accommodation Supply - CEB Report Risk Register - 11th Sept 2013 

 
Risk Score Impact Score: 1 =Insignificant; 2 = Minor; 3 = Moderate; 4 = Major; 5 = Catastrophic      Probability Score: 1 = Rare; 2 = Unlikely; 3 = Possible; 4 = Likely; 5 = Almost Certain 

No. Risk Description  

Link to Corporate Obj 

Gross 

Risk 

Cause of Risk  

 

Mitigation Net 

Risk 

Further Management of Risk:  

Transfer/Accept/Reduce/Avoid 

Monitoring 

Effectiveness 

Current 

Risk 

  I P  Mitigating Control: 

Level of Effectiveness: 

(HML) 

 

I P Action: Action 

Owner: 

Mitigating Control: 

Control Owner: 

Outcome required: 

Milestone Date: 

Q 

1 

�

�

☺ 

Q 

2

�

�

☺ 

Q 

3

�

�

☺ 

Q

4

�

�

☺ 

I P 

1 Scale of the project is 

too small to address the 

potential growth in 

homeless presentations 

3 3 That the pressures 

on homeless 

identified in the 

report are such that 

the model cannot 

contain the growth 

in households 

requiring access to 

accommodation 

 

The approach will be kept under 

regular review by officers; reported 

quarterly to Housing Programme 

Board; and annually to CEB.  If the 

need arises and the business case is 

sound, then this approach could, 

with the necessary approvals, be 

up-scaled 

 

2 3 Review of approach 

by Head of Housing 

and Property 

Review of scheme and the 

request of approvals to 

procure more units 

      

2 Scale of the project is 

too large and not all the 

property procured is 

required for homeless 

prevention use 

 

3 2 That insufficient 

homeless 

households require 

accommodation. 

This is considered highly unlikely.  

The reason for this includes: 

• The Council has 120 

households not yet in 

temporary accommodation 

that are facing homelessness 

identified.   

• This approach can also be 

used for households to whom 

the Council has accepted a 

homeless duty.  

• PRS accom in Oxon is 

becoming less available, with 

a widening gap between actual 

rents and LHA rates 

1 2 Review of approach 

by Head of Housing 

and Property 

Review of scheme on a 

monthly basis during 

procurement stages. 

 

Flexibility in any 

contractual arrangements 

to exit the scheme and/or 

sell property at suitable 

intervals. 

 

Flexibility within the 

model and contracts to 

shift some units into sub-

market/ market rent for 

alternative client groups 

      

141



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\7\6\AI00004678\$qdvomboh.docx 

3 The procurement 

exercise does not 

identify any suitable 

providers willing to 

operate the scheme to 

the Council’s 

satisfaction 

 

3 2 That the type or 

scale of the 

proposal does not 

attract providers 

that can meet the 

specifications 

This is considered unlikely, but an 

in-house option is to be considered 

alongside offers from external 

providers. 

2 2 Review by officers 

throughout 

procurement process 

Soft market testing prior 

to procurement 

 

Flexibility within the 

tender specification for 

various provider models 

to be put forward to 

deliver the same outcomes 

 

      

4 That numbers of 

homeless being 

presented does not meet 

expectations 

3 2 Numbers of 

homeless are 

overly cautious 

Slow down purchase of additional 

properties.  

Let properties out at market rents 

Dispose of surplus properties 

 

  Head of Housing Review through Housing 

Board 
    3 1 

5 Sensitivities in the 

financial model exceed 

forecasts and 

tolerances. 

 

Especially: 

 

• Cost of Financing 

• Rent Increases & 

LHA rates 

• Procurement costs 

• Management, 

Maintenance, bad 

debts, and void 

costs 

 

 

4 3 That the financial 

modelling 

estimates prove 

inadequate or that 

model sensitivities 

are exceeded  

Conservative assumptions have 

been made throughout the model, 

and there is sufficient flexibility in 

the model (see 2 above) to cover 

unexpected variations. 

 

Sensitivity analysis shows the main 

sensitivities to be the procurement 

costs; the  LHA increases and the 

most significant being the cost of 

financing.  Other variables have 

significantly less impact on the 

model. 

 

Cost of Financing 

Various rates have been modelled 

within the sensitivity analysis, 

showing that there is scope in the 

model to provide for these 

variations.  Long term borrowing 

will also help to fix rates in 

advance to improve forecasting of 

spend. In the event that there are 

insufficient surpluses to repay debt 

then consideration will need to be 

given to renewing the debt or 

disposing of properties to repay. 

2 2 Review of approach 

by Head of Housing 

and Property and 

Head of Finance, 

reported quarterly to 

Housing Programme 

Board. Undertake 

property purchases in 

tranches and review 

after each tranche 

Regular review of actual 

activity against the model  
    4 3 

142



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\8\7\6\AI00004678\$qdvomboh.docx 

 

Rent Increases & LHA rates 

The model assumes that LHAs will 

increase year on year at CPI, 

capped at 1% (as per current HB 

guidance) and that rent levels are 

set to match this.  Should this 

regime change, then rent levels 

may not be able to be increased 

whilst keeping the accommodation 

affordable.  Options at 2 above 

could be considered if needed, 

including the sale of some units. 

 

Procurement costs 

These are within the control of the 

Council and if expected purchase 

prices cannot be secured, then 

procurement will be suspended 

pending a drop in prices of a 

review of the model.  A 1% 

contingency is also applied to this 

area in the model - mainly relating 

to initial refurbishment costs 

 

Management, Maintenance, bad 

debts, and void costs 

Conservative assumptions have 

been used based on industry-

standard models (25% of gross 

rent) and contracts will be used to 

off-set risks to the Council of 

under-performance in terms of rent 

collection, etc 

 
 

143



144

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B:  Equality Impact Assessment – CEB - Sept 2013   
 

1. Which group (s) of people has been identified as being disadvantaged 
by your proposals? What are the equality impacts?  

 

No groups have been identified as being disadvantaged by procuring property 
to secure access to additional PRS accommodation for homeless households, 
indeed the report is targeted at meeting the housing needs of those most 
vulnerable in Oxford. 

 
2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or 

proposed new or changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or 
service to minimise or eliminate the adverse equality impacts?  

 
      Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for  
      making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the  
      changes on the resultant action plan  
 

As no negative impacts are predicated no changes are being proposed. 

 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

 
           Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in   
           decisions that impact on them 
   

As no changes are proposed because no negative impacts are predicted, no 
additional consultation relevant to such changes is required. 

 
4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be 

justified without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, 
strategy, procedure, project or service?  
 

      Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

Not applicable as no adverse impacts are predicated. 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes 

after implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for 
unexpected equality impacts.  

 
      Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your  
      proposals and when the review will take place  

 
Not applicable 
 
Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: Dave Scholes 
Role: Housing Strategy & Needs Manager 
Date: August 2013   

145



146

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
DRAFT 
 
To:  City Executive Board     
 
Date:  11th September 2013        Item No:    

 
Report of: Head of Housing and Property 
 
Title of Report:    Housing Strategy Action Plan – Periodic Review 
 

 
Summary and Recommendations 

 
Purpose of report: To provide the City Executive Board with an update of the 
Council’s progress against the Housing Strategy Action Plan priorities and to 
revise future Housing Strategy Action Plan targets 
          
Key decision?  No 
 
Executive lead member: Councillor Scott Seamons 
 
Policy Framework: Housing Strategy 2012-15 
 
Recommendation(s): The City Executive Board is asked: 
 
 (1) To note the progress made against the tasks in the Housing  
       Strategy Action Plan; 
 
         (2) To revise Housing Strategy Action Plan targets as detailed in  
        Appendix B; and  
 
 (3)  To report progress annually to City Executive Board 
 

 
 
Appendices 
 
A - Progress against Housing Strategy Action Plan Targets  
B - Housing Strategy Action Plan – Revised Programme 
C - Risk Assessment 
D - Equality Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

147



 
Introduction 
 
1 When the Council adopted the Housing Strategy for 2012-2015 it 

requested six month reviews on progress. This report sets out 
performance against the Housing Strategy Action Plan priority tasks to 
date. 
 

2 The targets are distributed between the five Housing Strategy priorities  
which are: 
 

� Provide more affordable housing 
� Prevent Homelessness 
� Address Housing Needs of Vulnerable People and Communities 
� Improve Housing Conditions 
� Improve quality and effectiveness of housing services 

 
Progress to date 
 
3 All Housing Strategy targets were assessed against the councils RAG 

(Red, Amber, Green) definitions as at end June 2013 looking at 
progress, these are shown in Appendix A.  The overwhelming majority 
are either completed or are rated ‘Green’ (on target).  Those that are 
rated ‘Amber’ (significant issues) or ‘Red’ (unlikely to deliver on time, to 
budget, or to requirements) are annotated with an explanation as to why 
the targets have not yet been achieved. 
 

 
 
4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5 

 
 
 
 
 
6 
 
 
 

A brief overview of progress against each priority is outlined below: 
 
Provide More Affordable Housing 

• The Affordable Housing Programme target for 2012/13 was 
achieved together with planning policy work to support the 
provision of new affordable housing.   

• A new Empty Homes Strategy was adopted in February 2013 and 
the empty homes targets were met.   

• Delivery of the current affordable housing programme is on target 
 
Prevent Homelessness 

• A new Homelessness Strategy, a policy for Discharge of Duty into 
Private Rented Sector and a revised housing Allocations Scheme 
for consultation were approved by CEB in February 2013 

• A report to CEB (Sept 11) has been prepared to make 
recommendations with regard to the supply of accommodation for 
homelessness prevention 

 
Address Housing Needs of Vulnerable People 

• There have been significant changes to the organisation of the 
Supporting People programme within the County Council.  
Officers continue to work in partnership, to re-commission 
services, and to maintain adequate service provision for 

148



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

vulnerable persons in Oxford and across Oxfordshire.  A review of 
Homeless Hostel provision is currently underway for re-
commissioned services to start from April 2015. 

• A review of the No Second Night Out (NSNO) initiative was 
undertaken six months after the launch of the new approach, 
involving all relevant commissioning stakeholders, and changes 
made to the operation of the scheme.   

 
Improve Housing Conditions 

• There has been good progress in developing the council’s role  as 
a landlord in terms of maintaining decent homes standard within 
its own stock, and updating stock information to inform future 
priorities 

• There has been good progress on addressing poor standards in 
the private rented sector.  This includes meeting challenging 
targets with respect to HMO licensing.  Research has been 
undertaken in relation to the private rented sector in 2012/13 and 
updated private sector stock condition information is being 
obtained.  

 
Improve quality, cost effectiveness and efficiency 

• A fundamental review of arrangements for tenant engagement 
was undertaken with a revised Resident Involvement Strategy 
approved by CEB (Nov 12).  New structures and approaches to 
resident engagement are being implemented in 2013/14. 

• A fundamental service review for repairs and planned 
maintenance is nearing completion and a review of the tenancy 
management function completed. 

• Following adoption of the 30 year HRA Business Plan in 2011/12 
and the subsequent refresh of the budget in February 2013, good 
progress has been made against the assumptions, to ensure that 
it will support the Council’s ambitions with regard to building new 
affordable homes, investment in the existing stock and the 
delivery of first class landlord services. 

 
Review of future Housing Strategy Targets 
 
9 The Housing Strategy approved in April 2012 stated that the Housing 

Strategy Action Plan will be reviewed with partners and actions refreshed 
in September 2013 – the mid point of the Strategy.   
 

10 Officers have reviewed priorities and actions and conclude that the 
Housing Strategy Action Plan targets remain highly relevant.  However, 
there is a need to re-schedule or make minor amendments to targets in 
some cases.  Details of the proposed revisions are contained in 
Appendix B. 
 

11 Following consideration by City Executive Board, consultation will be 
undertaken with partners on the proposed amendments, and to solicit 
comments to help refresh the Strategy Action Plan for the remainder of 

149



the period.  It is proposed that a report is prepared for CEB in December 
2013 with regard to this refresh and to approve the new plan. 
 

Level of Risk 
 
12 A risk register is attached as Appendix C.  It should be noted that risks 

associated with specific projects and work programmes identified in the 
action plan are identified and addressed in the relevant project 
documentation for those projects /programmes. 
 

Environmental Impact 
 
13 The Housing Strategy 2012 to 2015 does not have any explicit 

environmental impacts in itself.  Specific projects identified in the 
Housing Strategy Action Plan will have environmental impacts, 
specifically the provision of additional housing to meet housing needs.  
These environmental impacts associated with specific projects and work 
programmes identified in the action plan are identified and addressed in 
the relevant project documentation for those projects / programmes. 
 

Equality Impact Assessment 
 
14 The original EIA is attached as Appendix D and is still current. The 

Housing Strategy and Action Plan are very specifically targeted at 
meeting the housing needs of the most vulnerable people in Oxford and 
as such no adverse impacts on any equalities group are expected as a 
result of this strategy. 
 

Financial Implications 
 
15 Any financial implications for specific projects and work programmes 

identified in the action plan are identified and addressed in the relevant 
project documentation for those projects /programmes. 
 

16 In February 2013 the Council approved its General Fund Medium Term 
Financial Plan and Housing Business Plan for the medium term. Included 
within both plans were the financial implications of meeting all actions 
within the Housing Strategy.  Provision has specifically made within the 
HRA Business Plan for : 
 

• Delivery of new housing at Barton 

• The delivery of 112 new dwellings over the coming two years, part 
funded by HCA grant 

• On-going repairs, maintenance and refurbishment to its stock of 
council dwellings, including the tower blocks 

• Management related costs in providing all landlord services to our 
tenants 

 
17 In the General Fund Budget there is provision for the costs of 

homelessness and providing other private sector housing advice.  No 

150



new financial implications are brought forward by this report. 
 

18 There are financial pressures both on the HRA and the General Fund but 
so far these have been containable, through prudent estimating and the 
use of contingencies. However there are risks around homelessness 
building, due to reducing supply of available accommodation and 
increasing demand arising from welfare reforms, which have the 
potential of causing some concern. Officers are currently examining a 
number of options to address these issues and will come forward to CEB 
(Sept 13) with recommendations. 
 

19 Officers will continue to robustly monitor the Councils budgetary position 
and an update of this position will be presented to Members during the 
financial year.  
 

Legal Implications 
 
20 The Local Government Act 2003 requires local housing authorities to 

have in place a Housing Strategy for the district. 
 

21 Meeting the Council’s statutory housing obligations is reflected in the 
objectives of the Housing Strategy, including statutory homelessness 
duties; provision of housing advice; and landlord responsibilities. 
 

 
 
 

Name and contact details of author: 
 
Sheila Farley 
Housing Strategy, Performance and Enabling Manager 
Housing and Property 
 
Dave Scholes 
Housing Strategy and Needs Manager 
Housing and Property 
Tel: 01865 252636   Email: dscholes@oxford.gov.uk 
 
 

List of background papers: 
None 
 
Version number:   
0.3 
 

151



152

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A - Housing Strategy Action Plan - Update to end June 2013 (Sept 2013 CEB)

Key Action Outcomes Milestone Due Date RAG Comments

Working with developers and landowners, 

identify and bring forward potential sites as 

funding and economic circumstances allow

Mar 2015 G Planning in discussion with landowners on 

major DPD sites

Bring forward new affordable housing 

opportunities in any new transformational 

projects in the City e.g. West End sites, 

Grenoble Road and new allocated sites

Sep 2014 G Ongoing discussion with RPs on  redveloping 

outdated housing  stock

Development of a post 2015 affordable 

housing programme

Sep 2014 G In development - As above

Deliver 3 year affordable housing programme: 

A) provided by Oxford City Council.

112 new Council homes. 20 homes at Barton by March 2015

46 homes at  Bradlands

46 homes on miscellaneous City sites

Mar 2015 G Bradlands scheme approved by Planning 

Committtee. Planning applications submitted 

on all other programme sites. CEB approval 

to let build contract

Deliver 3 year affordable housing programme: 

B) through partnership with Housing 

Associations.

184 affordable homes by March 2015. New homes at Shotover View (55), Lake St 

(8) , Lamarsh Road (4), Manor Ground (27), 

Lanham Way (8), Balfour Rd (9), Luther 

Court (42), Butler House (14), Lawn Upton 

House (8), Leiden Rd (9)

Mar 2015 G 94 units completed 2012/13

4 units on site - expected to complete August 

2013

Deliver 3 year affordable housing programme: 

C) through physical regeneration projects at 

Cowley Northway, to deliver new housing and 

jobs.

76  affordable homes by March 2015. Barns Rd (18), Westland Drive (28), Dora 

Carr Close (30)

Mar 2015 A Programme slippage due to planning issues.  

Consent now given for 75 affordable units - 

20 at Barns Road; 21 at Westlands Drive; & 

34 at Dora Carr Close.  All due to complete 

by end of 2015.

Consultation Draft Tenancy Strategy 

approved  – July 12

Dec 2012 Completed Completed

Consultation on Draft Tenancy Strategy 

completed- Summer 12

Dec 2012 Completed Completed

Tenancy Strategy adopted by end 2012 Dec 2012 Completed Completed

BBL: Consultation and involvement with 

Neighbourhood Management Groups and 

Area Forums to shape Regeneration 

Strategy by Autumn 2012

Dec 2012 Completed Consultation workshops completed Dec 2012 

and reports issued February 2013

BBL: Develop Leys Area Project Plan by 

December 2012

Dec 2012 Completed Completed.

This plan shows all projects/ tasks that should have been started by this date, including completed projects.

Develop physical regeneration projects at 

Blackbird Leys to deliver new housing and 

jobs.

New physical regeneration projects 

developed at Blackbird Leys.

Bring forward new housing schemes and 

develop a post 2015 programme.

New developments and a post 2015 

programme are brought forward.

Develop a Tenancy Strategy to set out the 

Council’s Policy incorporating tenure and rent 

policy for affordable housing in the City.

Tenancy Strategy adopted.

Strategic Objective One: Provide More Affordable Housing in the City to Meet Housing Needs

153



BBL: Bring forward new sites for 

development by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed Minchery Farm site identified - Now part of 

the Affordable Housing Programme delivering 

42 of the 112 units

BBL: Review results of maisonettes options 

appraisals by December 2012

Dec 2012 R Appraisal will now be undertaken  citywide as 

part of the Asset Mant Strategy.  BBL 

maisonettes to be considered within BBL 

Regeneration project

BBL: Undertake feasibility analysis and 

develop schemes by April 2013

Apr 2013 A Preparation of a neighbourhood wide 

regeneration programme by Dec 2013. 

Programme plan is now underway due to be 

completed in draft by end December. 

Submission following consultation by May 

2012 for examination Sept/Oct 2012  Adopt 

and implement the Sites and Housing 

Development Plan Document building on 

SHLAA by Feb 2013

Feb 2013 Completed Completed

Refresh Local Investment Plan for adoption 

in June 2012

Jun 2012 Completed Completed

New Affordable Housing SPD: Review 

consultation by Dec 12, adopt April 2013

Apr 2013 A Consultation completed and final version due 

to be considerd by CEB in Sept 2013

Adopt policies requiring a financial 

contribution to support affordable housing 

 (4-9 dwellings, student accommodation) by 

Dec 12, adopt April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed Completed

Analyse and provide data from Oxford 

Housing Register to inform needs data 

including demand and availability of 

specialist accommodation and to ensure 

new housing meets the aspirations of home 

seekers by Sept 2012

Sep 2012 Completed Analysis of housing register completed, and 

data on mobility needs provided to Planning. 

An updated analysis will be done for 2013. 

Data on housing register and lettings 

provided in June 2013 for Strategic Housing 

Market Assessment.
Review current housing market data by 

Sept 2012

Sep 2012 Completed Housing market data included in the 

Homelessness Strategy evidence base. 

Housing market data for Strategy evidence 

bases will be updated in 2013.
Review census data as it becomes 

available

Sep 2013 Completed Initial census data reviewed and included in 

draft Strategy evidence bases. Additional 

census data will be included in Strategy 

evidence bases in 2013.
Explore opportunities for commissioning 

research, including joint commissioning to 

improve housing needs and market 

information: and update by April 2013

Apr 2013 A GL Hearn appointed to carry out SHMA for 

Oxfordshire SPIP (Lead authority West Oxon 

DC). Interim report due Aug 2013

Barton Area Action Plan adopted Dec 2012 Dec 2012 Completed Completed

Ensure robust planning policy exists to drive 

new social housing including via s106 

agreements and deliver sustainable homes.

New Sites Plan document. New 

affordable Housing SPD adopted. 

Policies adopted requiring financial 

contribution to affordable housing.

Ensure understanding of current and future 

housing needs is kept up to date and is fit for 

purpose.

Up to date housing needs and market 

information.

Preparation for delivery of the new housing 

development at Barton.

Delivery programme and agreements 

in place to develop  c.800 new homes, 

154



Barton: Outline planning permission by 

early  2013

Mar 2013 G Planning application submitted in May 2013. 

On target for detemination in Sept 2013.  

Phase 1 marketing on target to start Autumn 

2013
################################### Sep 2013 Completed Report on homeless accommodation 

prepared for Sept 13 CEB.  14/15 budget 

preparation will include consideration of 

funding for enabling role, including recycling 

RTB receipts
Review the role of Oxford City Council in 

developing new homes by reviewing funding 

opportunities and flexibilities allowed under 

new HRA funding regime by September 

2012

Sep 2012 G Funding in place for 112 new council 

properties. CEB July 2013 agreed purchase 

of social rented units at Barton and other 

properties in open market.

Develop a Council building programme and 

 development process by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed Completed

Evaluate potential for schemes to bring 

empty property back into use as affordable 

housing

Mar 2013 Completed ####################################

Develop services to tackle rough sleeping No Second Night Out for rough 

sleepers

Implement new working arrangements for 

street services for more presence out hours 

– linked to supported provision.

Jul 2012 Completed Oxford City Outreach on 3 year contract until 

March 2015 with longer and more flexible 

hours.  Any new arrangements will be 

influenced by Supporting People's 

remodelling of the pathway.
Undertake a landlord/lettings agencies 

survey consultation to understand 

expectations of private landlords by Sept 

2012

Sep 2012 Completed All consultation is now complete. The survey 

was delayed by data protection difficulties 

which were later resolved.

Develop information and incentives to 

encourage private landlords to offer 

accommodation to homeless households or 

those threatened with homelessness by 

April 2013

Apr 2013 G On-going work - but full range of incentives 

provided.  Recently signed up to a new 

insurance related scheme for landlords. 

 Landlord survey completed.  Next LL Forum 

being prepared with Env Devt.  New 

marketing campaign (countywide) planned for 

Sept 2013

Review new delivery models to bring forward 

new affordable housing to meet needs.

New models evaluated and introduced 

where feasible. New Council building 

house programme evaluated and 

produced. Bring empty property back 

into use as affordable housing.

including 320 new affordable.

Develop the role of private rented sector 

housing in meeting  housing needs including 

 homeless households or those threatened 

with homelessness

Annual meeting of landlord forum

Undertake landlord/lettings agencies 

consultations

Undertake consultations with current 

and prospective private tenants

Homelessness Policy reviewed

Strategic Objective Two: Prevent Homelessness

155



Undertake consultation with prospective 

and current private sector tenants to 

undertake their expectations and barriers to 

investment and attaining a settled home in 

the private rented sector by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 Completed Consultation complete. Evaluation and 

analysis now underway.

Consider introducing a private tenants 

forum by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed This has been considered and there is 

currently no appetite or budget for developing 

a private tenants forum.
Develop information and education current 

and prospective tenants and Investigate the 

use of Tenant Ready Schemes by 

November 2013

Nov 2013 G Tenant Ready schemes in other areas being 

reseached.  Initial discussions with Crisis re 

providing some training to support such a 

programme.
Review homeless policy in relation to re-

housing in private sector and discharge of 

duty following legislative change  and new 

guidance by September 2012

Sep 2012 Completed New policy approved by CEB on 13th Feb 

2013.  To go live from 1st April 2013

Review need and provision of debt and 

welfare advice/training by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed Completed

Develop action plan for debt and welfare 

advice/training to address any gaps, unmet 

needs and maximise take up by Sept 2012

Sep 2012 Completed Complete

Reduce the number of households in 

temporary accommodation

Households in temporary 

accommodation reduced to 120 by 

2012/13,

100 by 2013/14, 

87 by 2014/15

Prepare planning and implementation of 

new forms of temporary accommodation by 

June 2012

Jun 2012 R ####################################

Review progress since last Homelessness 

Strategy – May 2012

May 2012 Completed Completed

Produce Homelessness Strategy evidence 

base and issues by July 2012

Jul 2012 Completed Completed

Undertake consultation on Homelessness 

Strategy – July - Sept 2012.

Sep 2012 Completed Completed

Adopt Homelessness Strategy Dec 2012 Dec 2012 Completed Completed

Publish homelessness Strategy – by end of 

March 2013

Mar 2013 Completed Completed

Allocations policy review to commence April 

2012

Apr 2012 Completed Allocations Reviw underway

Consultations on draft Allocations policy 

planned to be completed by Sept 2012 

(subject to Government Guidance issued)

Sep 2012 Completed Delayed (Govt Guidance also delayed), but 

consultation period on draft Allocations 

Scheme (approved by CEB on 13th Feb 

2013) open from 8th April to 19th May 2013

Ensure effective debt and welfare advice 

services are available to the public

Effective debt, welfare advice, services 

are provided and taken up

Review of allocations policy New Allocations Policy approved and 

implemented

Research, consult and adopt a new 

 Homelessness Strategy and Action Plan

New Homelessness Strategy, targets 

and Action Plan

156



New Allocations Policy completed  by 

December 2012

Dec 2012 R ####################################

Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups – Young people

Sep 2013 Completed An evidence base has been produced to feed 

into cross Council plans and the development 

of the new Housing Strategy.

Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups - BME

Sep 2013 G A draft evidence base is in progress to inform 

the development of the new Housing 

Strategy.

Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups – Older people

Sep 2013 G This is being re-scheduled to ensure co-

ordination and synergy within wider specific 

strategies being developed across 

Oxfordshire and City Councils. A draft 

evidence base is in progress.

Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups – Families in difficulty

Sep 2013 Completed Milestone reconsidered and specific work 

undertaken instead to assist with targeting 

suitable families for the Thriving Families 

initiative

Review and implement Supporting People 

Financial Strategy by March 2013

Mar 2013 Completed Oxford City Council have worked in 

partnership with Oxfordshire County Council 

to meet financial targets.
Engage in County Council review for SP 

services – Single homelessness

Sep 2013 G on-going work - progressing well

Engage in re-commissioning of SP funded 

services – DV

Dec 2013 G Successful re-commissioned services.

Ensure hospital discharge is facilitated to 

reduce ‘bed blocking’.

Effective hospital discharge 

mechanisms in place.

Review existing hospital discharge 

protocols, systems and promote awareness 

– including early warning

Mar 2015 G Operational meetings being developed (inc 

Broadway and Oxford City Housing Options 

staff) to consider changes to policies (Mental 

Health and Physical Health discharges). 

 Strategic meeting to be convened by County 

Council (Adult Social Care) in Aug 13

Ensure housing options are available for 

people moving through and from supported 

housing.

Supported housing is available for 

people who need it and clients are 

enabled to attain independent living.

Review Move on Plan Protocol, identify 

barriers and actions to deal annually

Mar 2015 Completed New MOPPS process and forms agreed at 

meeting with providers and all stakeholders 

on 14th May 2013.  Base data and Q1 and 

Q2 data now received.  New approach to now 

continue with admin support from Oxford City 

Council on a quarterly basis.

Ensure supply of wheelchair adapted housing 

to meet needs.

Wheelchair accessible housing is 

available for households that need it.

Improved knowledge, analysis of need for 

and provision of fully wheelchair adapted 

social housing by Sept 2013

Sep 2013 G A report presented to Housing Strategy 

Delivery Board in June 13.  Further 

assessment of current stock information 

underway and will be reported on later in 

2013

Ensure commissioning of services for 

vulnerable people is co-ordinated across 

agencies and partnerships to ensure the 

preservation and most effective use of 

resources and meets identified need.

Retain or remodel hostel 

accommodation that provides sufficient 

bedspaces to meet needs and 

meaningful activity for clients. 

Successful re-commissioned services.

Develop housing strategies for specific 

vulnerable groups.

New Housing Strategy incorporates 

needs of young people, older people, 

BME households and families in 

difficulty.

Strategic Objective Three: Address the Housing Needs of Vulnerable People and Communities

157



Review existing Older persons guide with 

service users and partners by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 R Item progressing following reorganisation of 

project.  New guide expected in Autumn 2013

Review existing Young persons guide with 

service users and partners by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 Completed Project reviewed and decision taken that we 

don't need a separate guide as much of the 

information is already available elsewhere 

such as in the Survival Guide.
Re-model hostel  to incorporate assessment 

centre, new referral and move on pathways.

New pathways for rough sleepers 

implemented.

Work with Supporting People Team to 

review existing provision with providers with 

the aim of remodelling services within 

diminished budgets whilst retaining 

sufficient bedspaces to meet needs and 

meaningful activity for clients throughout 

2012-14

Mar 2014 G On track.  Needs analysis completed. 

Pathway framework developed and being 

populated.  Districts at officer and member 

level consulted.  A significant project, so new 

contract start date negotiated (after re-

commissioning/ re-modelling) of March 2015

Review existing private housing stock data 

and gaps by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 Completed BRE stock modelling procured.

Review available census data for private 

housing stock by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 Completed Reviewed and included in BRE stock 

modelling methodology.

Recommend methodology to improve 

knowledge of private housing stock and 

condition by April 2013

Apr 2013 G Feasibility study for second stage of BRE 

stock modelling complete. Over 150,000 lines 

of data to be included in improved data set to 

inform strategy changes.

Fuel poverty etc: Develop officer group and 

assess current standards, baselines and 

issues by Sept 2012

Sep 2012 Completed Completed

Fuel poverty strategy: Consult with partners, 

residents, energy companies etc by Dec 

2012

Dec 2012 R ####################################

Develop a Strategy to cover issues of home 

energy, carbon emissions, fuel poverty & 

retrofitting of homes by April 13

Apr 2013 R See above

Publicity and awareness Promote Green 

Deal

Mar 2015 G ####################################

Develop specific retrofitting element and 

programmes for Council stock including 

external cladding for 5 tower blocks (400 

homes)

Dec 2013 A This will form part of the Housing Asset 

Management Strategy to be adopted in April 

2014. Project managers for the tower block 

cladding were commissioned in March 2013.

Set zero carbon target for all new council 

homes

Mar 2013 Completed New council homes will be built to Code for 

Sustainable Homes Level 4.  This is 

considered to be as close to a zero carbon 

target that is economically feasible

Review landlord and lettings agencies 

accreditation schemes by December 2012

Dec 2012 Completed The accreditation scheme was reviewed by 

December 2012. Increased discounts on 

HMO licensing fees were introduced and 

consideration is currently being given to how 

the scheme could be expanded, possibly 

using external providers.

Produce housing guides for older and young 

people.

Older persons and young persons 

housing guides published.

###############################

Improve the quality of individual private 

rented properties including those used via the 

Homechoice scheme.

Improvements are made to the quality 

and management of individual private 

rented properties.

Ensure knowledge of private housing stock 

and conditions is fit for purpose, enabling 

strategies and  investment to be effective.

Fit for Purpose knowledge of housing 

stock and standards.

Improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon 

emissions in homes in Oxford and address 

fuel poverty for households.

Strategic Objective Four: Improve Housing Conditions

158



Implement new landlord and lettings 

agencies accreditation schemes from April 

2013

Apr 2013 A Consultation exercise not carried out yet. 

Planned for Q2.

Private rented housing: Consider targeted 

interventions to tackle specific problems 

e.g. Hit Squad activities by November 2012

Nov 2012 Completed £150k agreed in reserve for unlawful 

dwellings. Proactive targeting of landlords 

underway. Full HHSRS inspections of 

properties being carried out in reactive cases 

instead of just dealing with issue being raised 

by tenant.
2180 licensed HMOs in 2012/13 Mar 2013 Completed The figure of 2180 licensed HMOs was 

achieved by 12/13

2950 Licensed HMOs in 2013/14 Mar 2014 G 2880 licensed so far in 13/14. Target on track 

to be achieved.

Maximise take up and impact of Home 

Improvement Loans.

Home Improvement Loans made 

available to improve standards in 

private housing.

Ongoing publicity and promotion of Home 

Improvement Loans including partner 

organisations e.g. social services, health

Mar 2015 G Publicity agreed for Health Watch Guide.

Evaluate progress made following 

attainment of Decent Homes Standard, 

considering aspirations of tenants & 

availability of funds

Mar 2013 Completed Significant investment in Council stock, with 

additional new kitchens and bathrooms 

included in the captial programme.  A stock 

condition survey has been commissioned to 

measure progress.  This starts in Sept 13.

Consider setting a Local Oxford Standard 

for Council homes

Mar 2013 R To form part of Housing Asset Management 

Strategy to be adopted in April 2014. 

Empty homes: Review progress to date and 

barriers/opportunities to increase success 

by Sept 2012

Sep 2012 Completed ####################################

Empty homes: Investigate procedures and if 

necessary implement the use of 

Compulsory Purchase Orders by Nov 2012

Nov 2012 G Working with Planning, Corporate Assets, 

Legal and Environmental Health to assess 

potential to CPO a property with a view to 

partnering an RSL throughout the process.

Empty homes: Undertake consultation and 

surveys by December 2012

Dec 2012 Completed ####################################

Empty homes: Development of new Empty 

Homes Strategy by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed CEB endorsment and approval March 2013.

Direct payments: Scoping of project with 

DWP and partners by May 2012

May 2012 Completed Complete

Direct payments: Tenants contacted and 

supported with information and assistance 

Spring 2012 and beyond

Mar 2015 G We continue to derive learning from the 

project.   In particular  the arrears process 

and support  provided to tenants is being 

further developed.  Project extended to 

remaining tenants on HB subject to suitability 

assessment.
Direct payments: ICT issues resolved and 

system live by June 2012

Jun 2012 Completed Complete

Sustain improvements in the condition of 

council homes.

Condition of council housing is 

continually improved.

Increase the number of individual HMOs 

subject to agreed licence provisions Baseline 

= 1100 (2011/12).

Deliver the Demonstration Project for direct 

payment of benefits to council tenants.

Direct payment of housing benefit to 

council tenants project successfully 

completed and lessons learnt.

Strategic Objective Five: Improve Quality, Cost Effectiveness and Efficiency of Housing Services.

Work with owners and communities to bring 

long term empty homes back into use.

New Empty Homes Strategy adopted. 

10 long term empty homes returned to 

use annually.

Every HMO in the City is inspected 

and accredited.

159



Develop Tenant and Leaseholder 

Involvement Strategy by September 2012

Sep 2012 Completed Completed

Draft Local Offer prepared with tenants 

representatives including Local Offer 

Planning Day to define services and set 

standards by May 2012

May 2012 Completed Completed

Consultations on Local Offer with all tenants 

during Spring 2012

May 2012 Completed Completed

Local Offer adopted by September 2012, 

implemented and reviewed annually in 

September

Sep 2012 Completed Completed

Tenants trained in co-regulation by Summer 

2012

Aug 2012 Completed Completed

Detailed implementation of co-regulation 

including role of member and tenant 

scrutiny by September 2012

Sep 2012 R ####################################

Develop detailed Landlord Operational Plan 

to support HRA Business Plan.

A detailed Operational Action Plan 

exists for Council housing.

A Landlord Operational Action Plan is 

prepared by Sept 2012 and adopted by Dec 

2012

Dec 2012 Completed This has been incorporated into Housing 

Board structure and Housing Service Plan.

Review rent and income collection by 

November 2012

Nov 2012 Completed Completed

Undertake fundamental review of repairs 

service by Dec 2012

Dec 2012 A The review is under way - 4 out of 5 

workstreams are complete. Final workstream 

to be delivered in 2013.
Improve the percentage of council tenants 

satisfied with our landlord services.

82% tenants satisfied 2012/13.

84% tenants satisfied 2013/14.

86% tenants satisfied 2014/15.

Undertake annual tenant satisfaction survey Mar 2015 G The 2013 STAR survey has been carried out. 

The final report is due to be released 22 July 

2013.  Satisfaction at 88% (up 1% from last 

year)

Review under-occupation policies and 

incentive schemes by December 2012

Dec 2012 Completed ####################################

Review over-crowding and allocations/ 

transfer policies by October 2012

Oct 2012 Completed Transfer policies and overcrowding 

considered as part of the overall Allocations 

Scheme review.  Proposed new scheme 

being reported to CEB in Sept 13.

Review use of pods/extensions to provide 

enlarged homes for larger households for 

tenants and prospective tenants by June 

2013

Jun 2013 A ####################################

Manage council housing  to ensure it best 

meets the needs of individual households and 

tenants and the community as a whole.

Reduce underoccupation freeing up 

homes for larger households. 

Overcrowding is reduced in council 

homes. Actions to tackle and minimise 

Tenancy Fraud are up to date and 

effective.

Develop and improve opportunities for 

tenants and leaseholders to get involved in 

managing the delivery of the council’s 

housing services.

Tenant and Leaseholder Involvement 

Strategy adopted. Local Offer agreed 

and implemented. Co-regulation with 

tenants implemented.

Improve performance in tenancy services. Improve rent and income collection 

performance. Reduce rent arrears. 

Achieve greater VFM for repairs (cost 

and quality).

160



Review the implications of new Government 

guidance or legislation on the policies and 

work of Tenancy Fraud Team within 4 

months of release Publicise

Mar 2015 G ####################################

Housing strategy refresh: Review 

performance at end of financial year by July 

2013

Jul 2013 Completed See main body of report

Housing strategy refresh: Consider policy, 

performance, trends and wider changes by 

July 2013

Jul 2013 Completed See main body of report

Housing strategy refresh: Produce progress 

information, any proposed revisions and 

consult with partners April to September 

2013

Sep 2013 A Consultation to take place after Sept CEB - 

see main body of report.

Housing strategy refresh: Adopt September 

2013

Sep 2013 A To be reported to CEB in Dec 13.

Online housing applications by April 2013 Apr 2013 R Project cannot proceed until after the upgrade 

of the Housing ICT application.  Awaiting 

prioritisation of this upgrade in the City ICT 

Strategy.

Reduced validation processes for applicants 

in low housing need by April 2013

Apr 2013 Completed Largely dependant on on-line apps. 

 Validiation process already minimised as far 

as possible for cases likley to be Band 5 

(within existing system)
A housing communications plan is 

developed by July 2012

Mar 2013 Completed Completed.

Housing publications, publicity and website 

reviewed on rolling programme

Mar 2015 Completed on-going work - 'business as usual'

New tenants and leaseholders newsletter 

trailed and reviewed with tenants by June 

2012

Jun 2012 Completed Newletter issued quarterly in 2012/13. Format 

to continue in 2013/14. Tenants and 

leaseholders to be involved in content, design 

and production as new involvement structure 

is rolled out.

Tenants Handbooks reviewed with tenants 

and new version/s published by April 2013

Apr 2013 R ####################################

Review use and production of Repairs 

Handbook, information on website and on 

line reporting of repairs following 

fundamental review of repairs

Mar 2014 G Review will follow on from the Fundamental 

Review of Repairs.

Review Housing Strategy targets mid term to 

ensure they are being delivered and 

refreshed in light of changing circumstances.

Housing Strategy targets are 

monitored and refreshed.

Review policies and services to reduce 

administration to secure  VFM efficiency 

savings in housing services.

Lower administration costs for low 

priority housing applications.

Review, update and improve  housing 

communications provided by the council.

Housing Communications Plan in 

place. High quality and relevant 

housing information is available. New 

style tenants newsletters produced 

annually. New Tenants Handbook is 

produced. Information and on-line 

reporting of repairs is reviewed.

161



162



Appendix B - Housing Strategy Action Plan - Revised Programme (Sept 2013 CEB)

This plan shows projects/ tasks not yet scheduled to start (so not listed in Appendix A) and projects/ tasks underway (with revised timescales proposed, if required).

Ref Key Action Outcomes Milestone
Revised 

Due Date

Revised 

RAG
Comments

Working with developers and landowners, 

identify and bring forward potential sites as 

funding and economic circumstances allow

Mar 2015 G Planning in discussion with landowners on 

major DPD sites

Bring forward new affordable housing 

opportunities in any new transformational 

projects in the City 

Sep 2014 G Ongoing discussion with RPs on 

redeveloping outdated housing stock

Development of a post 2015 affordable 

housing programme

Sep 2014 G To identify new sites to deliver from 

2015/16 budget on

2 Deliver 3 year affordable housing 

programme: 

A) provided by Oxford City Council.

112 new Council homes. 20 homes at Barton by March 2015

46 homes at  Bradlands

46 homes on miscellaneous City sites

Mar 2015 G Bradlands scheme approved by Planning 

Committtee. Planning applications 

submitted on all other programme sites. 

CEB approval to let build contract

3 Deliver 3 year affordable housing 

programme: B) through partnership with 

Housing Associations.

184 affordable homes by March 2015. New homes at Shotover View (55), Lake St 

(8) , Lamarsh Road (4), Manor Ground (27), 

Lanham Way (8), Balfour Rd (9), Luther 

Court (42), Butler House (14), Lawn Upton 

House (8), Leiden Rd (9)

Mar 2015 G 94 units completed 2012/13

4 units on site - expected to complete 

August 2013

4 Deliver 3 year affordable housing 

programme: C) through physical 

regeneration projects at Cowley Northway, to 

deliver new housing and jobs.

75 affordable homes by March 2015. 20 affordable units at Barns Road; 21 at 

Westlands Drive; & 34 at Dora Carr Close

Dec 2015 G Planning consent secured.  Some 

completions in 14/15. All due to complete 

by end of 2015.

7 Ensure understanding of current and future 

housing needs is kept up to date and is fit for 

purpose.

Up to date housing needs and market 

information.

Explore opportunities for commissioning 

research, including joint commissioning to 

improve housing needs and market 

information

Sep 2013 G GL Hearn appointed to carry out SHMA for 

Oxfordshire SPIP (Lead authority West 

Oxon DC). Interim report due Aug 2013

Barton: Commence on-site in early 2014 May 2014 G

Strategic Objective One: Provide More Affordable Housing in the City to Meet Housing Needs

BBL: Undertake feasibility analysis and 

develop schemes 

Dec 2013 G Preparation of a neighbourhood wide 

regeneration programme by Dec 2013. 

Programme plan is now underway due to 

be completed in draft by end Dec 13. 

Develop physical regeneration projects at 

Blackbird Leys to deliver new housing and 

jobs.

New physical regeneration projects 

developed at Blackbird Leys.

Ensure robust planning policy exists to drive 

new social housing including via s106 

agreements and deliver sustainable homes.

New Sites Plan document. New 

affordable Housing SPD adopted. 

Policies adopted requiring financial 

contribution to affordable housing.

8

6

Delivery programme and agreements 

in place to develop  c.800 new homes, 

including 320 new affordable.

Barton: Outline planning permission Oct 2013 G Planning application submitted in May 

2013. On target for detemination in Sept 

2013.  Phase 1 marketing on target to start 

Autumn 2013

Bring forward new housing schemes and 

develop a post 2015 programme.

New developments and a post 2015 

programme are brought forward.

Adopt new Affordable Housing SPD Sep 2013 G Consultation completed and final version 

due to be considerd by CEB in Sept 2013

1

5

Preparation for delivery of the new housing 

development at Barton.

163



9 Review intermediate housing products 

including those for First Time Buyers and 

those on lower and middle incomes.

Housing opportunities for low to mid 

income households, key workers and 

first time buyers are explored and 

brought forward where feasible.

################################### April 2014 G

12 Reduce the number of households in 

temporary accommodation

Households in temporary 

accommodation reduced to 120 or less 

in 13/14, 14/15 & 15/16

Prepare planning and implementation of 

new forms of temporary accommodation 

Feb 14 G ##################################

Strategic Objective Three: Address the Housing Needs of Vulnerable People and Communities

10 Review new delivery models to bring forward 

new affordable housing to meet needs.

New models evaluated and introduced 

where feasible. New Council building 

house programme evaluated and 

produced. Bring empty property back 

into use as affordable housing.

11

Strategic Objective Two: Prevent Homelessness

13 New Allocations Policy completed  Dec 2013 G

Oct 2013 G On-going work - but full range of incentives 

provided.  Recently signed up to a new 

insurance related scheme for landlords. 

 Landlord survey completed.  Next LL 

Forum being prepared with Env Devt.  New 

marketing campaign (countywide) planned 

for Sept 2013

Sep 2013 G

Develop information/ education for current 

and prospective tenants and Investigate the 

use of Tenant Ready Schemes

Nov 2013

Develop housing strategies for specific 

vulnerable groups.

New Housing Strategy incorporates 

needs of young people, older people, 

BME households and families in 

difficulty.

14

Review of allocations policy New Allocations Policy approved and 

implemented

Draft Allocations Scheme approved for 

consultation at CEB in Feb 2013. 

Consultation completed. New proposed 

Allocations Scheme for CEB to recommend 

to full Council in Sept 2013, with the 

scheme due to go live in late Autumn 2013.

Funding in place for 112 new council 

properties. CEB July 2013 agreed 

purchase of social rented units at Barton 

and other properties in open market.

Review the role of Oxford City Council in 

developing new homes by reviewing 

funding opportunities and flexibilities 

allowed under new HRA funding regime

Develop information and incentives to 

encourage private landlords to offer 

accommodation to homeless households or 

those threatened with homelessness

Develop the role of private rented sector 

housing in meeting  housing needs including 

 homeless households or those threatened 

with homelessness

Annual meeting of landlord forum

Undertake landlord/lettings agencies 

consultations

Undertake consultations with current 

and prospective private tenants

Homelessness Policy reviewed

G Tenant Ready schemes in other areas 

being reseached.  Initial discussions with 

Crisis re providing some training to support 

such a programme.

Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups - BME

Sep 2014 G A draft evidence base is in progress to 

inform the development of the new Housing 

Strategy.

164



Develop evidence base and housing 

strategy objectives for specialist needs 

groups – Older people

Sep 2014 G This is being re-scheduled to ensure co-

ordination and synergy within wider specific 

strategies being developed across 

Oxfordshire and City Councils. A draft 

evidence base is in progress.

Engage in re-commissioning of SP funded 

services – DV

Dec 2013 G Re-commissioning of services underway

Engage in re-commissioning of SP funded 

services – Supported independent living

Mar 2015 G Re-commissioning of services due next 

year

16 Ensure hospital discharge is facilitated to 

reduce ‘bed blocking’.

Effective hospital discharge 

mechanisms in place.

Review existing hospital discharge 

protocols, systems and promote awareness 

– including early warning

Mar 2015 G ##################################

Improved knowledge, analysis of need for 

and provision of fully wheelchair adapted 

social housing 

Dec 2013 G A report presented to Housing Strategy 

Delivery Board in June 13.  Further 

assessment of current stock information 

underway and will be reported on later in 

2013
Develop plan to meet any shortfall or gaps 

in provision of wheelchair accessible 

housing 

Sep 2014 G Will follow the task above

19 Re-model hostel to incorporate assessment 

centre, new referral and move on pathways.

New pathways for rough sleepers 

implemented.

Work with Supporting People Team to 

review existing provision with providers with 

the aim of remodelling services within 

diminished budgets whilst retaining 

sufficient bedspaces to meet needs and 

meaningful activity for clients

Mar 2015 G On track.  Needs analysis completed. 

Pathway framework developed and being 

populated.  Districts at officer and member 

level consulted.  A significant project, so 

new contract start date negotiated (after re-

commissioning/ re-modelling) of March 

2015

Strategic Objective Four: Improve Housing Conditions

Engage in County Council review for SP 

services – Single homelessness

Mar 2014 G

18

Oxford City Council have worked in 

partnership with Oxfordshire County 

Council to meet financial targets.

Fuel poverty strategy: Consult with partners, 

residents, energy companies etc 

Apr 2014 G ##################################

Recommend methodology to improve 

knowledge of private housing stock and 

condition 

Dec 2013 G

Improve energy efficiency and reduce carbon 

emissions in homes in Oxford and address 

fuel poverty for households.

###############################

Produce housing guide for older people. Older persons housing guides 

published.

Ensure knowledge of private housing stock 

and conditions is fit for purpose, enabling 

strategies and  investment to be effective.

Fit for Purpose knowledge of housing 

stock and standards.

difficulty.

Ensure commissioning of services for 

vulnerable people is co-ordinated across 

agencies and partnerships to ensure the 

preservation and most effective use of 

resources and meets identified need.

15

17

20

Retain or remodel hostel 

accommodation that provides sufficient 

bedspaces to meet needs and 

meaningful activity for clients. 

Successful re-commissioned services.

Ensure supply of wheelchair adapted 

housing to meet needs.

Wheelchair accessible housing is 

available for households that need it.

Review existing Older persons guide with 

service users and partners 

Dec 2013 G Item progressing following reorganisation 

of project.  New guide expected in Autumn 

2013

21

Feasibility study for second stage of BRE 

stock modelling complete. Over 150,000 

lines of data to be included in improved 

data set to inform strategy changes.

165



Develop a Strategy to cover issues of home 

energy, carbon emissions, fuel poverty and 

retrofitting of homes 

Jun 2014 G See above

Publicity and awareness Promote Green 

Deal

Mar 2015 G ##################################

Develop specific retrofitting element and 

programmes for Council stock including 

external cladding for 5 tower blocks (400 

homes)

Apr 2014 G This will form part of the Housing Asset 

Management Strategy to be adopted in 

April 2014. Project managers for the tower 

block cladding were commissioned in 

March 2013.

22 Improve the quality of individual private 

rented properties including those used via 

the Homechoice scheme.

Improvements are made to the quality 

and management of individual private 

rented properties.

Implement new landlord and lettings 

agencies accreditation schemes 

Oct 2013 G Consultation exercise not carried out yet. 

Planned for Q2.

2950 Licensed HMOs in 2013/14 Apr 2014 G 2880 licensed so far in 13/14. Target on 

track to be achieved.

3540 licensed HMOs in 2014/15 Apr 2015 G

24 Maximise take up and impact of Home 

Improvement Loans.

Home Improvement Loans made 

available to improve standards in 

private housing.

Ongoing publicity and promotion of Home 

Improvement Loans including partner 

organisations e.g. social services, health

Mar 2015 G Publicity agreed for Health Watch Guide.

25

Direct payments: Completion of project Mar 2015 G See above - project to be extended

Direct payments: Roll out to all tenants Mar 2015 G See above

Strategic Objective Five: Improve Quality, Cost Effectiveness and Efficiency of Housing Services.

Empty homes: Investigate procedures and if 

necessary implement the use of 

Compulsory Purchase Orders 

Working with Planning, Corporate Assets, 

Legal and Environmental Health to assess 

potential to CPO a property with a view to 

partnering an RSL throughout the process.

Jun 2014 G

27

Detailed implementation of co-regulation 

including role of member and tenant 

scrutiny

Oct 2013 G Tenant Scrutiny Steering group has been 

set up & is meeting regularly.  The final 

recruitment & selection of tenants for the 

panel was completd in Aug 2013 with the 

first meetings to be held end Sept/early Oct 

Direct payments: Tenants contacted and 

supported with information and assistance 

Mar 2015 G We continue to derive learning from the 

project.   In particular  the arrears process 

and support  provided to tenants is being 

further developed.  Project extended to 

remaining tenants on HB subject to 

suitability assessment.

Consider setting a Local Oxford Standard 

for Council homes

Apr 2014 G To form part of Housing Asset 

Management Strategy to be adopted in 

April 2014. 

Increase the number of individual HMOs 

subject to agreed licence provisions Baseline 

= 1100 (2011/12).

Every HMO in the City is inspected and 

accredited.

Develop and improve opportunities for 

tenants and leaseholders to get involved in 

managing the delivery of the council’s 

housing services.

Tenant and Leaseholder Involvement 

Strategy adopted. Local Offer agreed 

and implemented. Co-regulation with 

tenants implemented.

Work with owners and communities to bring 

long term empty homes back into use.

New Empty Homes Strategy adopted. 

10 long term empty homes returned to 

use annually.

Deliver the Demonstration Project for direct 

payment of benefits to council tenants.

Direct payment of housing benefit to 

council tenants project successfully 

completed and lessons learnt.

28

23

26

Sustain improvements in the condition of 

council homes.

Condition of council housing is 

continually improved.

166



30 Improve the percentage of council tenants 

satisfied with our landlord services.

82% tenants satisfied 2012/13.

84% tenants satisfied 2013/14.

86% tenants satisfied 2014/15.

Undertake annual tenant satisfaction survey Apr 2015 G The 2013 STAR survey has been carried 

out. The final report is due to be released 

22 July 2013.  Satisfaction at 88% (up 1% 

from last year)

Review the implications of new Government 

guidance or legislation on the policies and 

work of Tenancy Fraud Team within 4 

months of release Publicise

Mar 2015 G ##################################

Adopt refreshed Housing Strategy Dec 2013 G To be reported to CEB in Dec 13.

Review use and production of Repairs 

Handbook, information on website and on 

line reporting of repairs following 

fundamental review of repairs

Jun 2014 G Review will follow on from the Fundamental 

Review of Repairs.

31

32

33

34

Housing strategy refresh: Produce progress 

information, any proposed revisions and 

consult with partners Sept to Oct 2013

Nov 2013 G

first meetings to be held end Sept/early Oct 

13.

Undertake fundamental review of repairs 

service 

Dec 2013 G The review is under way - 4 out of 5 

workstreams are complete. Final 

workstream to be delivered in 2013.

Tenants Handbooks reviewed with tenants 

and new version/s published 

Apr 2014 ##################################G

Review use of extensions to provide 

enlarged homes for larger households for 

tenants and prospective tenants

Apr 2014 G ##################################

Online housing applications Dec 2014 G Project cannot proceed until after the 

upgrade of the Housing ICT application.  

Awaiting prioritisation of this upgrade in the 

City ICT Strategy.

Consultation to take place after Sept CEB - 

see main body of report.

Review Housing Strategy targets mid term to 

ensure they are being delivered and 

refreshed in light of changing circumstances.

Housing Strategy targets are 

monitored and refreshed.

Review policies and services to reduce 

administration to secure  VFM efficiency 

savings in housing services.

Lower administration costs for low 

priority housing applications.

Review, update and improve  housing 

communications provided by the council.

Housing Communications Plan in 

place. High quality and relevant 

housing information is available. New 

style tenants newsletters produced 

annually. New Tenants Handbook is 

produced. Information and on-line 

reporting of repairs is reviewed.

Improve performance in tenancy services. Improve rent and income collection 

performance. Reduce rent arrears. 

Achieve greater VFM for repairs (cost 

and quality).

Manage council housing  to ensure it best 

meets the needs of individual households 

and tenants and the community as a whole.

Reduce underoccupation freeing up 

homes for larger households. 

Overcrowding is reduced in council 

homes. Actions to tackle and minimise 

Tenancy Fraud are up to date and 

effective.

29

167



168



Appendix C:  Housing Strategy Risk Register - City Executive Board - Sept 2013   
 

 

169



170

T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D:  Equality Impact Assessment – CEB - Sept 2013   
 

1. Which group (s) of people has been identified as being disadvantaged 
by your proposals? What are the equality impacts?  

 

No groups have been identified as being disadvantaged by the Housing 
Strategy 2012 – 2015 and Action Plan.  The strategy and action plan are very 
specifically targeted at meeting the housing needs of those most vulnerable in 
Oxford. 

 
2. In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your current or 

proposed new or changed policy, strategy, procedure, project or 
service to minimise or eliminate the adverse equality impacts?  

 
      Please provide further details of the proposed actions, timetable for  
      making the changes and the person(s) responsible for making the  
      changes on the resultant action plan  
 

As no negative impacts are predicated no changes are being proposed. 

 
3. Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.  

 
           Please note that you are required to involve disabled people in   
           decisions that impact on them 
   

As no changes are proposed because no negative impacts are predicted, no 
additional consultation relevant to such changes is required. 

 
4. Can the adverse impacts you identified during the initial screening be 

justified without making any adjustments to the existing or new policy, 
strategy, procedure, project or service?  
 

      Please set out the basis on which you justify making no adjustments 
 

Not applicable as no adverse impacts are predicated. 

 
5. You are legally required to monitor and review the proposed changes 

after implementation to check they work as planned and to screen for 
unexpected equality impacts.  

 
      Please provide details of how you will monitor/evaluate or review your  
      proposals and when the review will take place  

 
Not applicable 
 
Lead officer responsible for signing off the EqIA: Dave Scholes 
Role: Housing Strategy & Needs Manager 
Date: August 2013   

171



172

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Panel Scope and Work Programme
	2 Performance Measures
	3 Allocation Scheme Review
	Allocations Review Report CEB Sept 2013 Appendices 1 to 5

	4 Allocations Policies - How the Council Communicates
	5 Long Term Affordable Housing for Homelessness Prevention
	Appendix A_ Risk register
	Appendix B- EQIA

	6 Review of the Housing Strategy Action Plan - 2012-2016
	Appendix A_Housing Strategy Action Plan - Update to end June 2013
	Appendix B_Housing Strategy Action Plan - Revised Programme
	Appendix C_ Risk Register
	Appendix D_EQIA


